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Ϟࠢʮה׸ʹಥᑌΥ࠰ �̡�ᑌʹה��GEM
ʘतЍ

GEMʘ֛Зdɗ޴މˢৎՉ˼ίᑌʹהɪ̹
ʘʮ̡੭Ϟ༰৷ҳ༟ࠬᎈʘʕʃۨʮ̡౤Զ
一ࡈɪ̹ʘ̹ఙfϞจҳ༟ʘɛɻᏐə༆ҳ
༟׵༈ഃʮ̡ʘᆑίࠬᎈdԨᏐ຾ཀᄲฐմ
༉ʘϽᅇܝ˙Ъ̈ҳ༟Ӕ֛f͟׵GEMɪ̹
ʮ̡౷ཁމʕʃۨʮ̡dίGEM൯ርʘᗇՎ
̙ঐึ༰׵ᑌʹה˴ؐ൯ርʘᗇՎוա༰ɽ
ʘ̹ఙتਗࠬᎈdΝࣛೌڭجᗇίGEM൯ር
ʘᗇՎึϞ৷ݴஷඎʘ̹ఙf

࿁͉జהʹϞࠢʮ̡ʿᑌהʿഐၑ׸ʹಥ࠰

ѓʘʫ࢙฿ʔࠋபd࿁Չ๟ᆽא׌ҁ዆׌͵

ʔ೯ڌ΂Оᑊ׼dԨ׼ᆽͪڌd฿ʔ࿁Ϊ͉జ

ѓΌ௅א΂О௅΅ʫ࢙Ͼପ͛אΪ࠿፠༈ഃ

ʫ࢙Ͼˏߧʘ΂Оฦ̰וዄ΂Оப΂f

͉జѓٙ༟ࣘɗ፭๫ᑌʹה�GEMᗇՎɪ̹
஝ۆ�Ͼ̊༱dϙί౤ԶϞᗫʕ਷อཥڦණ

ྠϞࠢʮ �̡�͉ʮ̡��ٙ ༟ࣘi͉ʮ̡ٙ໨

ԫ��໨ԫ��ᗴఱ͉జѓٙ༟ࣘ΍Νʿࡈйή

༔ݟዄΌ௅ப΂f΢໨ԫ຾Ъ̈ɓʲΥଣו

jڦהʿٝהഃ־dᆽႩఱܝ

1. ͉జѓה༱༟ࣘί΢ࠠɽ˙ࠦѩ᙮๟ᆽ

ʿҁ዆d˲ೌႬኬאಜൟϓʱiʿ

2. Ԩೌ፲ဍ΂ОԫྼߧԴ͉జѓה༱΂О

ʫ࢙ପ͛Ⴌኬf

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE 
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to 
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 
a higher investment risk may be attached than other 
companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors 
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in 
such companies and should make the decision to invest 
only after due and careful consideration. Given that the 
companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on 
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than 
securities traded on the Main Board of the Exchange and 
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in 
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange 
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no 
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly 
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising 
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of 
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Neo 
Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance 
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of 
the Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard 
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable 
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief:

1. the information contained in this report is accurate and 
complete in all material respects and not misleading or 
deceptive; and

2. there are no other matters the omission of which would 
make any statement in this report misleading.
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͉ɛᔫϤ˾ڌʕ਷อཥڦණྠϞࠢʮ �̡�͉
ʮ̡��໨ԫ��໨ԫ��ึ ��໨ԫึ��Σ͉ʮ
ٰ̡؇౤я͉ʮ̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕၈�͉ණ
ྠ��࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
ٙϋุܓᐶf

Ϋᚥʿʱؓ

dܓ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ׵

͉ණྠุٙਕ˴ܼ̍ࠅቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ

˸ʿ຾ᐄʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕf

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

ᇲऎ୅ਗ集團

dᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ʿܓΫᚥϋ׵

Չڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕၈މ�ᇲऎ୅ਗණྠ��ʊϓ
̌ҳ੻З׵ʕശɛ͏΍ձ਷��ʕ਷��ᚲʆ̹
ɓ෯ɺήʘɺήԴ͜ᛆd˸ܔண�ᇲऎ౽ԋ�d

Չ˸೯࢝ಥዦ̨ɽᅰኽБุٙɽᅰኽΆุྷ

ʷ̨̻މतЍfϤ̮d׵೦߄ᄿψᇳڀʆᅰኽ

ʕ �ː�ʝᑌၣᅰኽʕː��ٙ ׵ணʊംʈԨܔ

ʦϋୋɧ֙ܓක֐༊༶ᐄf׵Ϋᚥϋܓdᄿψ

̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ্̡ᘠٙᐄ

ุᕘ208.1ߒމϵຬಥʩdϾᇲऎ୅ਗණྠٙ
ཥৃପۜ൱׸e౤ԶʝᑌၣᅰኽʕːeWIFIe
ӻ୕ණϓʿᄣ࠽ʝᑌၣ؂ਕʿழ΁ක೯Υࠇ

্ᘠᐄุᕘ399.3ߒϵຬಥʩf

ຬϓ集團

ຬϓϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕၈�ຬϓණ
ྠ��˴ ᗫண௪൱޴੽ԫ˓ዚe̻ؐཥ໘ʿࠅ

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ׵f׸

ܓΫᚥϋ׵ዧडdຬϓණྠنdኋ၍̹ఙᘩܓ

ϓ̌፽੻ᐄุᕘ698.6ߒϵຬಥʩf

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the 
“Directors”) of Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”), I 
hereby present to the shareholders of the Company the annual 
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s 
operations mainly comprises sales of telecommunication 
products and services and operation of Internet finance platform 
business.

SALE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS PRODUCTS 
AND SERVICES

Bluesea Mobile Group

During the year under review, ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ 
(Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company Limited*) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Bluesea Mobile 
Group”) had made a successful bid for the land use rights of a 
parcel of land located at Heshan City, the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”), for the construction of the “Bluesea Intelligence 
Valley” which will feature a big data enterprise incubation 
platform for the development of big data industry in Hong 
Kong, Macau and Taiwan. Moreover, the construction of the 
Internet data center (“IDC”) in Panyu, namely Guangzhou Lotus 
Mountain Data Center, was completed and its trial run was 
started in the third quarter of the year. Together with a turnover 
of approximately HK$208.1 million contributed by ᄿψ̹༟
 ҦϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangzhou Nowtop Technology Company߅ן
Limited*) and its subsidiaries, Bluesea Mobile Group recorded 
an aggregate turnover of approximately HK$399.3 million for 
the year under review, representing revenue from trading of 
telecommunication products, provision of IDC, WIFI, system 
integration and value-added Internet services and software 
development.

Million Ace Group

Million Ace Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 
“Million Ace Group”) are mainly engaged in trading of mobile 
phones, tablets and the relevant devices. Despite keen market 
competition during the year ended 31 December 2017, Million 
Ace Group managed to record a turnover of approximately 
HK$698.6 million in the year under review.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
జѓࣣࢩ˴
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ʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕ

ଉέ̹႓׵Չ࢝ןd͉ණྠᘱᚃܓΫᚥϋ׵

໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ʘʝᑌၣږ

ፄ̨̻ٙ܄˒ਿᓾf຾ᐄ༈ഃ̨̻ה੻ٙ؂

ਕאЩږϗɝ͉މණྠ্ᘠϗू108.3ߒϵຬ
ಥʩf

ุਕۃ౻

࢝ૐ͊Ըd͉ණྠਗ਼ᘱᚃ࢝ןՉʝᑌၣᅰኽ

ʕːุਕf׵ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ʬ˚d͉ණྠʊ

ϓ̌ҳ੻З׵ᚲʆ̹ٙɓ෯ɺήf༈ή෯ਗ਼

ண�ᇲऎ౽ԋ�dлִ݁͜ˏኬe̹ఙܔ׵͜

༶Ъʿ݁ഄҧܵ͂ிϓɽᅰኽΆุྷʷ̨̻f

ذɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɤɘ˚d͉ණྠၾʕऎ׵

ҦϞࠢʮ߅ࢹڦ �̡�ʕऎذ��ʊͭࠈΥᐄΆ
ุΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄ��ΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄ��f࣬ኽΥ
Ъ࣪ݖ՘ᙄd͉ණྠၾʕऎذʊϓͭɓගΥ

ᐄΆุʮ̡˸೯࢝౉ψٙʝᑌၣᅰኽʕːd

༈ᅰኽʕːཫಂਗ਼׵ɚཧɓɞϋҳɝ؂ਕf

͉ණྠਗ਼ᘱᚃ೯ઢʝᑌၣᅰኽʕːeيᑌၣe

ථࠇၑʿ޴ᗫุਕٙᆑίҳ༟ዚึfኯᔟʕ

਷ִ݁࿁༈ഃ৷ᄣڗБุٙлλ݁ഄʿҧܵd

၍ଣᄴᆀᝈήႩމd͉ණྠਗ਼Ύ࢝ඪྼێɢd

੭ԸһଣซٙΫజf؇ٰމԈਗ਼Ը̙׵

INTERNET FINANCE PLATFORM BUSINESS

During the year under review, the Group continued to expand its 
customer base of its Internet finance platforms in ଉέ̹႓໶ږ
؂ʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ (Shenzhen Bees Financial Internet 
Financial Services Co. Ltd.*). The revenue contributed to the 
Group amounted to approximately HK$108.3 million represented 
service or commission income through the operations of these 
platforms.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to expand its IDC 
business. On 6 January 2017, the Group made a successful 
bid on a land parcel in Heshan City. The land parcel will be 
used for the construction of the “Bluesea Intelligence Valley” 
which will feature a big data enterprise incubation platform 
through government guidance, market operation and policy 
support. On 19 June 2017, the Group had entered into a joint 
venture cooperation framework agreement (the “Cooperation 
Framework Agreement”) with ʕऎ߅ࢹڦذҦϞࠢʮ̡ 
(China National Offshore Oil Information Technology Limited*) 
(“CNOOIT”). Pursuant to the Cooperat ion Framework 
Agreement, the Group and CNOOIT had established a joint 
venture company for the development of an IDC in Huizhou, 
which is expected to be put into service in 2018. The Group will 
continue to explore potential investment opportunities in IDC, 
Internet-of-Things, cloud computing and related businesses. 
With favorable policies and support from the PRC government 
towards these fast growing sectors, the management is 
optimistic that the Group will regain its strength and be able to 
reward shareholders with better results in the foreseeable future.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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ৌਕ࿜ࠅ

d͉ܓΫᚥϋ׵ ණྠ፽੻ᐄุᕘ1,214.8ߒϵຬ
ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj2,513.8ϵຬಥʩ�d༰࿚至
ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓಯˇ1,299ߒ
ϵຬಥʩ51.7%אf࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜
ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓdᐄุᕘಯˇɗ˴׵͟ࠅཥৃ

ุᘩنዧडd̍ Չ݊˓ዚჯਹf࿚至ɚཧɓɖ

ϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd͉ ණྠ፽੻͉ʮ̡

ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐л40.9ߒϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj
192ϵຬಥʩ�f͉ ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐лಯˇɗ

Ԩೌν࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵͟ࠅ˴

˚˟ϋ̈ܓਯHCH Investments Limited፽੻ʘ
ϗू143,069,000ߒಥʩ˸ʿΪɪࡡࠑΪϾኬߧ
ཥৃପۜʘቖਯಯˇߧהf

ৌਕًر

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠኹϞ׵

඲׵ɓϋʫᎵᒔٙࢹࠇვБ࠾ಛ119.8ߒϵຬ
ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj55.9ϵຬಥʩ�dϞᗫ࠾
ಛ˸ɛ͏࿆ΐ࠽dԨܲओਗлଟࢹࠇf

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Turnover (HK$’000) ᐄุᕘ�ɷಥʩ� 1,214,772 2,513,845

Net Profit (HK$’000) ๐лଋᕘ�ɷಥʩ� 53,060 202,187

Profit attributable to owners of  
the Company (HK$’000)

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐л 
�ɷಥʩ� 40,905 192,009

Basic earnings per share (HK Cents) ਿ͉ӊٰޮл�ಥ̀� 0.43 2.02

For the year under review, the Group recorded a turnover of 
approximately HK$1,214.8 million (2016: HK$2,513.8 million), 
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1,299 million or 
51.7% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2016. The 
decrease in turnover was mainly due to the keen competition of 
telecommunication industry, particularly the mobile phone sector,  
during the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group recorded 
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 
HK$40.9 million (2016: HK$192 million) for the year ended 
31 December 2017. The decrease of profit attributable to 
owners of the Company was mainly due to the lack of gain 
on disposal of the HCH Investments Limited of approximately 
HK$143,069,000 recorded in the year ended 31 December 
2016 and the decrease in sale of telecommunication products 
as mentioned above.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had interest-bearing bank 
borrowings of approximately HK$119.8 million (2016: HK$55.9 
million) which are denominated in Renminbi, at floating rates and 
repayable within one year.
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ݴɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠʘ׵

ਗ༟ପ1,315މߒϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj
925.9ϵຬಥʩ�dܼ̍ତږʿତږഃᄆߒي
164.4ϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj188.9ϵຬಥ
ʩ�d൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛeཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼

ᏐϗಛධʿՉ˼ږፄ༟ପ1,142.4ߒϵຬಥʩ
�ɚཧɓʬϋj711ϵຬಥʩ�i˸ʿݴਗࠋව
792.9ϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj207ϵຬಥߒ
ʩ�f͉ණྠʘݴਗˢଟʊ͟ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ

˜ɧɤɓ˚ʘ࠴4.5ߒɨࠥ至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ
˜ɧɤɓ˚ʘ࠴1.7ߒf

͉ණྠʘ༟ପᐼ2,505.5މߒ࠽ϵຬಥʩ�ɚ
ཧɓʬϋj1,852.8ϵຬಥʩ�dʿࠋවᐼᕘߒ
858.7ϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj305.3ϵຬಥމ
ʩ�dу׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʘ༟

ପࠋවˢଟ�уࠋවᐼᕘৰ˸༟ପᐼމߒ�࠽

34.3%�ɚཧɓʬϋj16.5%�f

͉ණྠ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ

1,214.8ϵຬಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬމߒʘᐄุᕘܓ
ϋj2,513.8ϵຬಥʩ�f

ዄו

͉ණྠוዄʘ༉ઋ༱׵ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

40f

වࠋ್א

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠԨೌ׵

΂Оࠠɽࠋ್אවf

༟ପץת

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠԨೌ׵

΂Оࠠɽ༟ପץתf

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had current assets of 
approximately HK$1,315 million (2016: HK$925.9 million), 
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$164.4 
million (2016: HK$188.9 million), trade receivables, prepayments, 
deposits and other receivables and other financial assets of 
approximately HK$1,142.4 million (2016: HK$711 million); and 
current liabilities of approximately HK$792.9 million (2016: 
HK$207 million). The Group’s current ratio had been decreased 
from approximately 4.5 times as at 31 December 2016 to 
approximately 1.7 times as at 31 December 2017.

The Group had total assets of approximately HK$2,505.5 million 
(2016: HK$1,852.8 million) and total liabilities of approximately 
HK$858.7 million (2016: HK$305.3 million), representing a 
gearing ratio (expressed as total liabilities to total assets) of 
approximately 34.3% as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 16.5%).

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 
2017 amounted to approximately HK$1,214.8 million (2016: 
HK$2,513.8 million).

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group were set out in note 40 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any material 
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, there were no material charges on 
the Group’s assets.
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ࠠɽҳ༟

ፄॡ༣ږɚཧɓɖϋɖ˜ɚɤɓ˚dᇲऎ׵

Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ᇲऎږፄ���͉ʮ̡ʘΌ༟ڝ᙮
ʮ̡�ၾ߱௷છٰϞࠢʮ �̡Ъމር˙�ʿ ᄿ

ψ̹འዏ෤ุي೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡˸ʿɪऎ෥ږ

ፄ༟ॡ༣Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ɪऎ෥ږ��ఱϗᒅɪऎ
෥ږΌ௅ٰᛆʘ50%ͭࠈ՘ᙄ��༈՘ᙄ��d
˾ᄆމɛ͏࿆1ʩdᇲऎږፄਗ਼ცႩᖮɛ͏࿆
100,000,000ʩʘᕘ̮ږᕘ˸Ъމ࿁ɪऎ෥ږ
ʘ̈༟f

༈˾ᄆʿ̈༟ཫಂਗ਼͉͟ණྠʫ௅༟๕ᅡ˹f

ҁϓɪ׸ʹࠑਗ਼̙Դ͉ණྠҪ౥ʕ਷ፄ༟ॡ

༣޴ᗫุਕʘҳ༟ዚึf

Ϟᗫɪ׸ʹࠑʘ༉ઋdሗਞቡ͉ʮ̡˚ಂމ

ɚཧɓɖϋɖ˜ɚɤɓ˚eɚཧɓɖϋɘ˜

ɚɤɞ˚eɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɚɤɚ˚eɚ

ཧɓɞϋɓ˜ɚɤɘ˚ʿɚཧɓɞϋɚ˜

ɚɤɞ˚ʘʮѓf

࿚至͉జѓ˚ಂd༈՘ᙄʿՉධɨᏝආБʘ

ҁϓf͊֠׸ʹ

MATERIAL INVESTMENT

On 21 July 2017, Blueasea Financial Leasing Company Limited 
(“Bluesea Financial”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
Gold Triumph Holdings Limited, as the vendor and ᄿψ̹འ
ዏ෤ุي೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Guangzhou Yonghuayuan Property 
Development Co., Ltd.*) and ɪऎ෥ږፄ༟ॡ༣Ϟࠢʮ̡ 
(Shanghai Yuanjin Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.*) (“Shanghai 
Yuanjin”) for acquisition of 50% of the entire equity interest of 
Shanghai Yuanjin for a consideration of RMB1 and Bluesea 
Financial shall be required to contribute an additional amount of 
RMB100,000,000 as capital contribution to Shanghai Yuanjin.

The consideration and the capital contribution are expected 
to be funded by the internal resources of the Group. The 
completion of the above transaction will enable the Group to 
capture investment opportunities in financial leasing related 
business in the PRC.

For details of the above transaction, please refer to the 
Company’s announcements dated 21 July 2017, 28 September 
2017, 22 December 2017, 29 January 2018 and 28 February 
2018.

As at the date of this report, the Agreement and transactions 
contemplated thereunder have not been completed.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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ൡதܛج

ধ౤͉ࠑʮ̡˚ಂމɚཧɓʞϋʬ˜ɤɘ˚

ʿɚཧɓʞϋɤɓ˜ɧɤ˚ʘʮѓdʫ࢙Ϟ

ᗫ͉ʮ̡ʘΌ༟ڝ᙮ʮ̡ʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐછ

ٰϞࠢʮ �̡�ʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐ��e௓ඪΈ΋
�͛�ୋ一ር˙��e௓༃১΋͛ʿ௓༃ᛆ΋͛

�୕၈މ�ር˙��˸ ʿಥམྼุϞࠢʮ �̡�ͦ
ᅺٰٙͭࠈ��ᛆᔷᜫ௪ҙ፽ʿ໾̂௪ҙ፽�୕
၈މ�௪ҙ፽��f࣬ኽ௪ҙ፽dʕ਷อཥڦ౽
ঐၾር˙Νจ�Չʕܼ̍�j

1) ୋɓር˙඲ఱʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐІር˙ϗ

ᒅͦ׵ᅺʿԳཥ਷ყཥɿΆุϞࠢʮ̡

80%ʘٰᛆආБ՘ਠi

2) ʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐ඲˕˹ር˙20,000,000
ಥʩʘ̙ৗᒔږࠈ��ږࠈ��i

˜ɚཧɓʬϋɧא˟ਗ਼ί௪ҙ፽୞ږࠈ (3

ɧɤɓ �̊˸༰Ϙ೯͛މ٫๟�ৗᒔʚ

ʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐi

4) ͦᅺ�уᄿψಥམཥɿྼุϞࠢʮ̡

��ಥམ�dɓග࣬ኽʕ਷ܛجൗ̅ϓͭ
Ԩπᚃʘʮ̡�Ό௅ٰᛆʘΥجʿྼू

ኹϞɛ�dΣʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐʔ̙࿞ቖ

ʿೌૢ΁וፕdՉਗ਼ڮԴಥམʔ̙࿞ቖ

ʿೌૢ΁Νจʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐאՉ˾Τ

ɛೌᎵԴ �͜ˡ඲˹ಛאሦᎵ�З׵ᄿ

ψ೦߄ਜͩᅽᕄᘥϪ༩144໮Aಊʘᅽ
ρ��Aಊᅽρ�dɺήהϞᛆᗇ�ຽגή
൛οୋ3005825໮��dٜ至ږࠈᐏ઄ᅰ
ৗᒔʚʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐމ˟iʿ

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company 
dated 19 June 2015 and 30 November 2015 in relation to 
an equity transfer memorandum of understanding and a 
supplemental MOU (collectively referred to as the “MOUs”) 
entered into between NEO Intelligence Holdings Limited (“NEO 
Intelligence”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
Messrs CHAN Hung Kwong (the “1st Vendor”), CHAN Yu Chiu 
and CHAN Yue Kuen (collectively referred to as the “Vendors”) 
and Giant Crown Industries Limited (the “Target”). By the MOUs, 
it was agreed between NEO Intelligence and the Vendors, inter 
alia, that:

1) The 1st Vendors shall negotiate for the acquisition by NEO 
Intelligence of 80% shareholding of and in the Target and 
ACE International Electronics Limited from the Vendors;

2) NEO Intelligence shall pay the Vendors a refundable 
deposit in the sum of HK$20,000,000 (the “Deposit”);

3) The Deposit shall be refunded to NEO Intelligence upon 
termination of the MOUs or 31 March 2016, whichever is 
earlier;

4) The Target, being the legal and beneficial owner of the 
entire equity interest in ᄿψಥམཥɿྼุϞࠢʮ̡ 
(Guangzhou Gangju Electronics Industries Company 
Limited*) (“Gangju”), a company incorporated and existing 
under the laws of PRC, irrevocably and unconditionally 
undertakes to NEO Intelligence that, until the Deposit has 
been refunded in full to NEO Intelligence, it share procure 
Gangju to irrevocably and unconditionally agree the free 
use of a block of building situated at ᄿψ೦߄ਜͩᅽᕄᘥ
Ϫ༩144໮Aಊ under the certificate of land ownership “ຽ
 ή൛οୋ3005825໮” (“Block A”) by NEO Intelligenceג
or its nominee without any payment or compensation; and

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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Ցಂ˚ʫࠑהݬ�ር˙͊ঐίɪ˖ୋ3ࡊ (5
઄ᅰৗᒔږࠈʚʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐdͦᅺ

ʔ̙࿞ቖʿೌૢ΁וፕdՉਗ਼ڮԴಥམ

ʔ̙࿞ቖʿೌૢ΁Νจʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐ

Չ˾Τɛ͑ɮೌᎵԴא �͜ˡ඲˹ಛא

ሦᎵ�Aಊᅽρiʿ

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɧ˜ɧɤɓ׵˙ߒࠈࡊ (6

˚͊ঐఱϗᒅᖦ໇͍ό՘ᙄdۆ௪ҙ፽

ਗ਼Іਗ୞˟f

˜ɚཧɓʞϋʬ׵ঐ౽ڦʊ͟ʕ਷อཥږࠈ

ɚɤɚ˚˕˹ʚር˙f࿚至ɪࠑՑಂ˚ɚཧ

ɓʬϋɧ˜ɧɤɓ˚dʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐʿር

˙͊ঐ༺ϓϞᗫϗᒅʘ΂О՘ᙄd݂௪ҙ፽

Іਗ୞˟f್Ͼd׵ږࠈ௪ҙ፽୞˟ࣛאɚཧ

ɓʬϋɧ˜ɧɤɓ˚Ԩ͊ৗᒔʚʕ਷อཥڦ

౽ঐf

ΪϤdʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐܸݼᇲऎ୅ਗίಥམ

Νจɨ՟੻AಊᅽρʘྼሯኹϞᛆfᇲऎ୅
ਗᎇܝ࿁Aಊᅽρක࢝ᔕอʈ೻dਗ਼Չҷி
ڀቇΥ͜௄ٙʝᑌၣᅰኽʕːdуᄿψᇳމ

ʆᅰኽʕːf

༐ν͉ණྠܛجᚥਪܔהᙄdʕ਷อཥڦ౽

ঐʿᇲऎ୅ਗʊࠅӋͦᅺʿር˙ڮԴಥམᖦ

໇הϞ̀ࠅ˖΁˸͍όબʚᇲऎ୅ਗ͑ɮೌ

ᎵԴ͜Aಊᅽρʘᛆлd˸ԣ˟ͦᅺeር˙e
ಥམאՉ˼ɛɻ౤̈ʍཫאሯဲdฦ࢔ʝᑌ

ၣᅰኽʕːʘุਕf್Ͼdኋ၍ʕ਷อཥڦ౽

ঐʿᇲऎ୅ਗεϣࠅӋdͦᅺʿር˙ɓٜ͊

Ъ̈Бਗf

5) If the Vendors fail to refund the Deposit in full to NEO 
Intelligence by the due date mentioned in paragraph 
3) above, the Target irrevocably and unconditionally 
undertakes that is shall procure Gangju to irrevocably and 
unconditionally agree to the permanent free use of Block A 
by NEO Intelligence or its nominee without any payment or 
compensation; and

6) If the parties are unable to sign a formal agreement for the 
acquisition by 31 March 2016, the MOUs shall terminate 
automatically.

The Deposit was duly paid to the Vendors on 22 June 2015 
by NEO Intelligence. By the said due date of 31 March 2016, 
NEO Intelligence and the Vendors were not able to come to any 
agreement regarding the acquisition and the MOUs therefore 
terminated automatically. Nevertheless, the Deposit was not 
refunded to NEO Intelligence upon the termination of the MOUs 
or 31 March 2016.

Consequently, NEO Intelligence nominated Bluesea Mobile to 
enter into physical possession of Block A with the agreement 
of Gangju. Bluesea Mobile then carried out renovation works to 
Block A for the purpose of modifying and fitting it out as an IDC, 
namely Guangzhou Lotus Mountain Data Center.

As advised by the Group’s legal adviser, NEO Intelligence and 
Bluesea Mobile have requested the Target and the Vendors to 
procure Gangju to sign all necessary documents to formally 
vest Bluesea Mobile’s right of permanent free use of Block A to 
prevent any subsequent interference or challenge, whether by 
the Target, the Vendors, Gangju or other persons, to detriment 
of the business of the IDC. However, despite the repeated 
requests by NEO Intelligence and Bluesea Mobile, the Target 
and the Vendors have failed to do so.
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ঐ౽ڦɚཧɓɖϋʞ˜ɤɚ˚dʕ਷อཥ׵

Σͦᅺʿር �̇୕၈މ�஗ѓ��೯̈࠰ಥ৷
ഃج৫ࡡதࢬجൡதɚཧɓɖϋୋ1127໮
��༈ൡத��ʘෂৃ˿ًd˸ఱ˸ɨԫධ�Չ
ʕܼ̍�࿁஗ѓ౤̈͡॰j

1) ᑊ׼ʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐʿՉ˾Τɛᇲऎ୅

ਗϞᛆ͑ɮೌᎵԴ͜AಊᅽρdϾˡ඲
Σ஗ѓ˹ಛאሦᎵi

2) ཯˿ࠅӋ஗ѓڮԴಥམᖦ໇הϞ̙ঐ̀

ʘ˖΁d˸બʚᇲऎ୅ਗ͑ɮೌᎵԴࠅ

͜AಊᅽρϾˡ඲˹ಛאሦᎵʘᛆлi
ʿ

eږࠈ׵ሦᎵdܼ̍Шʔࠢ࢔൙֛ฦא (3

ҷிAಊᅽρ至ቇΥЪމʝᑌၣᅰኽʕ
ːהପ͛ڝא੭ʘהϞϓ͉ʿක˕d˸

ʿᇲऎ୅ਗІʝᑌၣᅰኽʕːᐄ༶ʘ๐

лฦ̰f

௪ҙ፽׵ɚཧɓɖϋɖ˜ɤɖ˚d஗ѓਿ׵

ʘ΀൒ૢಛ೯̈ෂৃ͡ሗᅲᇠ༈ൡத��༈͡
ሗ��f৷ഃج৫׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɓ˜ɤ̬˚
ఱ༈͡ሗආБ୩ৃdԨ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɓ˜

ɚɤɖ˚кӔ܁бࡘ஢ᅲᇠ༈ൡதd˸࠰ܙ

ಥ਷ყ΀൒ʕ �ː࠰�ಥ਷ყ΀൒ʕː��࣬ ኽ

ᑌΥ਷਷ყ൱ج׸։ึࡰ΀൒஝ۆආБ΀൒f

ঐ࣬౽ڦɚཧɓɞϋɓ˜̬˚dʕ਷อཥ׵

ኽ΀൒ୋHKIAC/PA18006໮��༈΀൒��೯̈
ʿяʹ΀൒ஷٝf͉ණྠܛجᚥਪ͍ͦۃఱ

༈΀൒ၾ࠰ಥ਷ყ΀൒ʕːʿ஗ѓЪ̀ࠅτ

રf

On 12 May 2017, NEO Intelligence issued a writ of summons 
against the Target and the Vendors (collectively referred to as 
the “Defendants”) under Court of First Instance of the High 
Court of Hong Kong Action No. 1127 of 2017 (the “Action”) to 
claim against the Defendants, inter alia, for:

1) A declaration that NEO Intelligence and its nominee, 
Bluesea Mobile, are entitled to the use of Block A freely 
and permanently without any payment or compensation to 
the Defendants;

2) An Order that the Defendants shall procure Gangju to 
execute all such documents as may be necessary to vest 
in Bluesea Mobile the right to the use of Block A freely and 
permanently without any payment or compensation; and

3) Alternatively, damages, including but not limited to the 
Deposit, all costs and expenses arising from and incidental 
to the modification and fitting out of Block A into the IDC, 
and loss of Bluesea Mobile’s profits from the operation of 
the IDC, to be assessed.

On 17 July 2017, the Defendants issued a summons applying 
for a stay of the Action in view of an arbitration clause in the 
MOUs (the “Application”). A hearing of the Application was held 
at the High Court on 14 November 2017 and the judgement 
thereof was handed down on 27 November 2017 which granted 
a stay of the Action pending arbitration at the Hong Kong 
International Arbitration Centre (“HKIAC”) in accordance with the 
UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules.

On 4 January 2018, NEO Intelligence issued and served a 
notice of arbitration under Arbitration No. HKIAC/PA18006 (the 
“Arbitration”). The Group’s legal adviser is currently making 
necessary arrangement with HKIAC and the Defendants for the 
Arbitration.
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Ϥ̮dᇲऎ୅ਗණྠʿ஗ѓʊ׵ᄿψ̹೦߄

ਜɛ͏ج৫��೦ج߄৫��ఱɪنࠑᙄ౤̈͡
॰��ʕ਷ൡத��dՉ୩ৃ˚ಂ֠͊ᆽ֛f೦
Ό˿fΪϤdڭ৫ʊఱAಊᅽρબ̈ৌପج߄
ᇲऎණྠ̙ᘱᚃԴ͜AಊᅽρϾʔաʍཫd
ٜ至ʕ਷ൡதʘкӔᐏ܁бf

͉ණྠܛجᚥਪႩމdʕ਷อཥڦ౽ঐʿᇲ

ऎ୅ਗ׵༈΀൒ʿʕ਷ൡதѩϞ༰৷௷ၑf

ΪϤd໨ԫႩܛجމൡத࿁ᄿψᇳڀʆᅰኽ

ʕːʿ͉ණྠʘุਕԨೌ΂Оࠠɽᅂᚤf

̮ිࠬᎈʿৌਕ݁ഄ 

͉ණྠɽ௅΅ତږഐቱʿʹ׸ɗ˸ɛ͏࿆e

ᗫණྠྼ᜗ʘ̌ঐ஬࿆�ΐ޴ʩʿಥʩ�уߕ

f͉ණྠԨೌ΂О̮࿆࿁ә݁ഄf್Ͼd၍࠽

ଣᄴึ္છ̮ිࠬᎈd˲ࣛࠅ̀׵ਗ਼Ͻᅇ࿁

әࠠɽ̮࿆ࠬᎈf׵ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬ

ϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠԨೌ΂О͊ҁഐ

ʘ࿁әʈՈf

In addition, both Bluesea Mobile Group and the Defendants 
have filed a claim in relation to the abovementioned dispute with 
The People’s Court of Panyu District, Guangzhou (the “Panyu 
Court”) (the “PRC Action”) and the date of the hearing thereof 
has not been fixed. The Panyu Court has granted an order of 
property preservation for Block A. Bluesea Mobile can therefore 
continue to use Block A without interference until the judgement 
of the PRC Action has been handed down.

The Group’s legal advisers are of the opinion that NEO 
Intelligence and Bluesea Mobile enjoy a high chance of success 
in the Arbitration and the PRC Action respectively.

As such, the Directors consider that the legal proceedings do 
not have any material impact on the operations of Guangzhou 
Lotus Mountain Data Center and the Group. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE AND 

TREASURY POLICIES

Most of the Group’s cash balances and transactions are 
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong 
Kong dollars, i.e. functional currencies of relevant group entities. 
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. 
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure 
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the 
Group did not have any outstanding hedging instruments.
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Ϟߒɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ׵
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ɚཧɓɚϋɤɚ׵ഃ၅лf͉ʮ̡ږʮጐ׌

˜ɤɘ˚મॶᒅٰᛆࠇྌdኽϤd͉ʮ̡ʿՉ

໨ԫ�̙ܼ̍�ࡰ᙮ʮ̡ʘΌᔖ྇ڝ ᐏબᒅٰ

ᛆd˸Ⴉᒅ͉ʮ̡౷ஷٰf

ᑽߧ

͉ɛᔫᔟϤዚึ˾ڌ໨ԫึఱ͉ණྠΌ᜗ٰ

؇ʿ׵˒܄ϋʫɓνֻ݅ٙΌɢ˕ܵʿ၍ଣ

ᄴձࡰʈ׵ϋʫٙාኧʈЪձ࿁͉ණྠЪ̈

্ٙᘠdଉڌᑽจf

ࢩ˴

ΐऎᛆ

˚ಥdɚཧɓɞϋɧ˜ɚɤɖ࠰

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION 

POLICIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately 390 
staff (2016: 460). The total remuneration, including that of the 
Directors, for the year under review is approximately HK$39.6 
million (2016: HK$40.8 million). The Group remunerates its 
employees based on their performances, experience and the 
prevailing industry practice. Employee remuneration, excluding 
Directors’ emoluments, is reviewed annually. In addition to the 
basic salaries, employees are also entitled to benefits including 
bonus and mandatory provident fund. On 19 December 2012, 
the Company had adopted a share option scheme under which 
full time employees, including Directors, of the Company and 
its subsidiaries, might be granted options to subscribe for the 
Company’s ordinary shares.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity 
to express my appreciation to the Group’s shareholders and 
customers for their utmost support, and to the management and 
staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group during 
the year.

LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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ੂБ໨ԫ
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ʿʕࡰபɛࠋᗇՎʿಂ஬ૢԷධɨٙܵ೐މ

਷ΆุᑌΥึ၍ଣፔ༔։הึࡰ᙮၍ଣፔ༔

ᚥਪf־ኹϞགྷ20ϋٙვБʿҳБʈЪ຾ዝd
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Ϟᔮబٙ޼Ӻၾྼስf׵־ɓɘɘཧϋաʕ
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 56, was 
appointed as an executive Director on 21 June 2013 and 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer on 
20 March 2014. He was re-designated as Deputy Chairman 
of the Board on 31 May 2017. He is also a member of the 
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of 
the Company. Mr. Cheung graduated from the Department of 
Thermal Engineering of Tsinghua University and the Sun Yat-sen 
Business School with a bachelor degree in engineering and a 
master degree in business administration respectively.

Mr. Cheung was engaged in trade between Mainland and Hong 
Kong in his early years. He had served as deputy manager in 
Strategic Development Department of Guangdong Investment 
Limited, a company listed on the Exchange, while he was also a 
director of Guangdong Tannery Limited, a company listed on the 
Exchange.

Mr. Cheung previously served as the managing director of CL 
China Group Limited and the general manager of Coastland 
Development (Int’l) Co., Limited, both are engaged in investment 
in securities and real estate.

Mr. ZHANG Xinyu, aged 55, was appointed as an executive 
Director on 15 June 2012 and Vice President on 1 May 2014. 
Mr. Zhang Xinyu holds a Master of Business Administration 
degree and is familiar with the securities market regulations 
in Hong Kong. He was a licensed responsible officer under 
the SFO and an advisor of the Management Consulting 
Committee of China Enterprise Confederation. He has over 20 
years working experience in banking and investment banking 
industries and accumulated extensive network resources and 
experience in capital management. He has been engaged 
in research and practice in listing, merger and acquisition, 
reorganisation, spin-off and asset securitisation. In 1990, he was 
appointed by the head office of Bank of China to hold senior 
position in Bank of China (Hong Kong) in Hong Kong and mainly 
to provide financial support to relevant Chinese entities under 
the State Council based in Hong Kong.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
໨ԫᄵዝ
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. XU Gang (“Mr. Xu”), aged 46, was appointed as an 
executive Director on 17 June 2015. He graduated from 
School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua University 
with an executive master degree of business administration in 
2006. He obtained his double bachelor’s degree from Beijing 
University of Technology in 1995. Mr. Xu is the general manager 
of ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile 
Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Bluesea Mobile”). He has extensive 
experience in the strategy planning, operation, marketing and 
capital management of international high-tech enterprises and 
the strategy management, risk management and concentrative 
management of large financial institutions. Prior to joining 
Bluesea Mobile, Mr. Xu served as the general manager of 
business intelligence division of ͠৶ �̟ʕ਷�ழ΁ӻ୕Ϟࠢʮ

̡ (Oracle (China) Software System Company Limited*).

Mr. TAO Wei (“Mr. Tao”), aged 39, was appointed as an 
executive Director on 22 June 2017. He graduated from the 
Department of Automation Engineering of Nanchang University 
with a bachelor’s degree in industrial automation in 1999. 
He was certified as a registered system engineer by National 
Automation System Engineer Accreditation Office of Chinese 
Automation Association in 2007. He was recognised as a senior 
project manager by the Office of Computer Information System 
Integration Qualification Certification of Ministry of Industry and 
Information Technology in 2008.

Mr. Tao is a supervisor of ଉέ̹ձ௴ശᙜ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ 
(Shenzhen Hechuang Huateng Technology Company Limited*). 
He served as a deputy general manager of ईᆓණྠᄿ؇ʮ
̡ (Inspur Group Guangdong Company*) from April 2015 to 
September 2016, where he was in charge of business of cloud 
computing, big data and software and system integration.

Mr. ZHANG Bo, aged 43, was appointed as an executive 
Director on 22 June 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s degree of 
market management from Beijing Opening University in 2006 
and a master’s degree of business administration from Jinan 
University in 2014. He is currently a director of Qianhai Wealth 
Management Limited, the chief executive officer and executive 
director of each of ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺༟ପ၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong 
Avatar Asset Management Company Limited*) and ᄿψᇲऎ
मঘࣧԓ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong Bluesea Guangzhou-Air 
School Bus Services Ltd.*) and the chief executive officer of ᄿ
 ɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong Avatar Wealthڛ؇
Investment Management Limited*), all are subsidiaries of the 
Company. Before joining the Group, he was the principal of 
Foshan branch of Taiping Life Insurance Company Limited from 
2010 to 2013.

ੂБ໨ԫ�ᚃ�
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. LIE Haiquan (“Dr. Lie”), aged 54, was appointed as a 
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 
31 May 2017. He obtained a Master’s degree of Business 
Administration from The University of Western Sydney in 2001. 
He also received Honorary Doctorate degree of Management 
from Lincoln University in 2016. Dr. Lie is currently an associate 
dean of ᄿ؇ग़Ћঘ˂౽ঐႡிҦஔ޼Ӻ৫ (Guangdong 
Shenzhou Aerospace Manufacturing Technology Institute*), an 
executive vice president of ̏ԯᄿ؇Άุਠึ (Guangdong 
Corporation Chamber of Commerce in Beijing*) and the 
honorary president of Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of 
Foreign Investors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zihua (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 43, was appointed 
as an independent non-executive Director on 20 September 
2016. He is also the chairman of each of the audit committee, 
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of 
the Company. He holds a Graduate Diploma of Chartered 
Accounting from The Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in Australia and New Zealand and a Degree of Bachelor of 
Economics in Accounting from Guangdong University of 
Technology. He is a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a member of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia and New Zealand.

Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Addsum Accountants Pty Ltd 
(“Addsum”). Before joining Addsum, he has worked in public 
practice at KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers in Australia, 
China and Europe for over 17 years. He participated in a wide 
range of auditing, initial public offering and due diligence projects 
to a wide portfolio of private and multinational companies 
operating in Australia, Europe, mainland China, and Hong Kong.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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˾໮j000533�ʘ໨ԫᐼ຾ଣࡒ໨ԫึ।ࣣd
ɚཧɓɧϋɞ˜至ɚཧɓʬϋɖ˜ಂග׵־

fڗՉਓ໨ԫމ

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. XI Lina, aged 35, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 16 May 2014. She is also a member 
of each of the audit committee, nomination committee and 
remuneration committee of the Company. She graduated with 
a degree in economics and international trade from Zhejiang 
University of Finance and Economics and holds a master of 
science in banking and international finance from the City 
University, London. She has extensive experience in economics 
and futures market.

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong, aged 55, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director on 13 May 2015. He is also 
a member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds 
a doctoral degree in business management. He is the senior 
advisor of ᄿ؇ശ߅یҦ༟͉޼Ӻ৫ (Institute of Guangdong 
South China Science and Technology Capital*) and was 
appointed as the extramural tutor of the master programme 
of professional accounting of the South China University of 
Technology in November 2015. He was also appointed as 
a member of the Advisory Board of the Faculty of Business 
of City University of Macau in January 2017. Mr. Huang 
obtained the Independent Director Qualification awarded by 
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in January 2015 and obtained 
the Board Secretary Qualification awarded by the Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange in April 2015. Mr. Huang was certified with 
(1) the Securities Certificate Level II in 2005, (2) the Securities 
Institutions Senior Management Personnel Qualification in 
2003, (3) the Securities Investment Fund Qualification and 
Securities and Futures Qualification in 2002, (4) the Securities 
Investment Analysis Qualification in 2001, (5) the Securities 
Trading Brokerage Qualification and Securities Issuance and 
Underwriting Qualification in 2000, and (6) the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange Initial National Debt and Futures Qualification in 
1994. He obtained the Intermediate Economist Title awarded by 
National Ministry of Personnel in 1994. Mr. Huang is currently 
the Managing Director and the board secretary of Guangdong 
Macro Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 000533)), in which he was the vice 
chairman from August 2013 to July 2016.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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໨ԫ౤я͉ණྠ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓʘ໨ԫึజѓʿ຾ᄲࣨၝΥ

ৌਕజڌf

ਕุࠅ˴

͉ʮ̡ʘ˴ุࠅਕމҳ༟છٰdϾՉ˴ڝࠅ

᙮ʮ̡ʘ˴ุࠅਕ༉ઋ༱׵ၝΥৌਕజڝڌ

ൗ42f

ุᐶʿʱݼ

͉ණྠ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟

ϋܓʘ๐лʿ͉ණྠ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚ʘৌਕًر༱׵ୋ76ࠫ至ୋ238ࠫ
ʘၝΥৌਕజڌf

໨ԫܔᙄ͉׵ʮ̡ਗ਼׵ɚཧɓɞϋʞ˜

ɚɤɘ ಂɚ�ᑘБٙᏐٰ֣؇඄ϋɽ݋̊�

�ึ�ٰ؇඄年ɽึ��ɪΣ͉ʮٰ̡؇પᑥ
ɚཧɓɞϋɖ˜ɚɤʬ׵ ɚ׵ಂ̬�Σ݋̊�

ཧɓɞϋʬ˜ɤɘ ಂɚ�Τΐ͉ʮ̡݋̊�

ٰ؇Τ̅ʘٰ؇ݼ˹࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓʘ͋ಂٰࢹӊٰ0.38ಥ̀f

ฉഛ࣏ಛ

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd͉

ණྠЪ̈ฉഛ࣏ಛ24,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬ
ϋj27,000ಥʩ�f

ᅲ৾፬ଣٰ؇೮া˓ᚃ

ɪҳୃึ׵඄ϋɽึԨ؇ٰࢩ̈؇ᔾٰ֛މ

ٙ༟ࣸd͉ʮ̡ਗ਼׵ɚཧɓɞϋʞ˜ɚɤɧ

ಂɧ�至ɚཧɓɞϋʞ˜ɚɤɘ݋̊� ݋̊�

ಂɚ��ܼ̍҈࠯Շ˚�ᅲ৾፬ଣٰ؇೮া˓

ᚃdಂʫਗ਼ʔึ፬ଣ΂Оٰ΅ཀ˒೮া˓ᚃf

ɪҳୃٙ༟ึ׵඄ϋɽึԨ؇ٰࢩୌΫމ

ࣸdהϞٰ΅ཀ˒˖΁ஹΝϞᗫٰୃ඲ʔ፰

ɚཧɓɞϋʞ˜ɚɤɓ׵ ̬ʹಂɓ�ɨ݋̊�

ࣛɧɤʱ৔ʹ͉ʮ̡ٙ࠰ಥٰ΅ཀ˒೮াʱ

ஈՙԳ೮ઠࣛϞࠢʮ̡dήѧ࠰މಥᝄ˺ެ

Χɽ༸؇183໮Υձʕː22ᅽd፬ଣٰ؇೮া
˓ᚃf

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated 
f inancial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and 
the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 
the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2017 are set 
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 238. 

The Directors recommended to the shareholders of the 
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company to be held on Tuesday, 29 May 2018 (“AGM”) a 
final dividend of HK cent 0.38 per share for the year ended 
31 December 2017 to be paid on Thursday, 26 July 2018 to the 
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members 
of the Company on Tuesday, 19 June 2018.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made 
approximately HK$24,000 charitable donations (2016: 
HK$27,000).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the identity of the shareholders to attend and 
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from Wednesday, 23 May 2018 to Tuesday, 29 May 
2018, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of 
shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and 
vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the 
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s 
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor 
Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 
p.m. on Monday, 21 May 2018.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
໨ԫึజѓ

 
 



Report of the Directors 
໨ԫึజѓ
  �

20 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

ᅲ৾፬ଣٰ؇೮া˓ᚃ�ᚃ�

ʘ༟ࣸd͉ʮࢹᙄ͋ಂٰܔᔾٰ֛؇ԮϞމ

̡ਗ਼׵ɚཧɓɞϋʬ˜ɤɘ ಂɚ�至ɚ݋̊�

ཧɓɞϋʬ˜ɚɤ Շ҈࠯ಂɧ��ܼ̍݋̊�

˚�ᅲ৾፬ଣٰ؇೮া˓ᚃdಂʫਗ਼ʔึ፬ଣ

΂Оٰ΅ཀ˒೮া˓ᚃfމୌΥԮϞܔᙄ͋

ಂٰٙࢹ༟ࣸdהϞٰ΅ཀ˒˖΁ஹΝϞᗫ

ٰୃ඲ʔ፰׵ɚཧɓɞϋʬ˜ɤʞ ಂ݋̊�

ʞ�ɨʹ̬ࣛɧɤʱ৔ʹ͉ʮ̡ٙ࠰ಥٰ΅

ཀ˒೮াʱஈՙԳ೮ઠࣛϞࠢʮ̡d፬ଣٰ

؇೮া˓ᚃf

ৌਕ฿ࠅ

͉ණྠ׵ཀ̘ʞࡈৌ݁ϋܓʘุᐶe༟ପʿ

Ԩʔࠅ฿ୋ239ࠫ至240ࠫfϤ׵༱ࠅ฿වࠋ
࿴ϓ຾ᄲࣨၝΥৌਕజڌʘɓ௅΅f

ุᐶΫᚥ

͉ණྠ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ

ʘุਕΫᚥeԴ͜ᗫᒟৌਕܸᅺʘʱؓʿܓ

͉ʮุ̡ਕʘ͊Ը೯࢝༱ΐ͉׵ϋజୋ5ࠫ
至14ࠫʘ�˴ࢩజѓࣣ�ɓືʕf

ᐑྤ݁ഄʿڌତe፭ς޴ᗫܛجʿج஝˸ʿ

ၾ྇ࡰʘᗫ׵͵ڷୋ54ࠫ至66ࠫʘ�ᐑྤeٟ
ึʿ၍طజѓ�ɓືʕীሞf

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS 

(Continued)

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to the 
proposed final dividend, the register of members of the 
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 19 June 2018 to 
Wednesday, 20 June 2018, both days inclusive, during which 
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to 
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in 
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited for registration not later than 
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 June 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of 
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 
239 to 240. This summary does not form part of the audited 
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, analysis using financial key performance 
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in 
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 14 of 
this annual report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees 
are also discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report” on pages 54 to 66.



Report of the Directors 
໨ԫึజѓ

  �

21Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

ุᐶΫᚥ�ᚃ�

ᎈʿʔᆽ֛Ϊ९ࠬࠅ˴

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risk Areas Risks Description Risk Response
ࠬᎈჯਹ ࠬᎈ౜ࠑ ࠬᎈᏐ࿁

Strategic Risks
ഄଫࠬᎈ

Risk of concentration of a 
single business segment
ఊ一ุਕ分ᗳණʕࠬᎈ

The revenue of the Group 
was mainly generated 
from the segment sale of 
telecommunication products 
and services. This is high 
concentration of a single 
business segment. In case of 
any dispute and/or breakup 
with relevant customers, 
sales of the Group could be 
significantly affected.
͉ණྠϗू˴ࠅ๕І׵ቖਯ
ཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕʱᗳd᙮৷ܓ
ණʕఊɓุਕʱᗳfࡊၾ޴ᗫ
ॎڷᗫא೯͛٧ॸʿŊ˒܄
൓d͉ණྠٙቖਯᕘਗ਼աՑࠠ
ɽᅂᚤf

According to the management, although sale of 
telecommunication products and services is the single 
largest business segment within the Group, it consists 
of different lines of products and services, including 
mobile phones, large-scaled telecommunication 
equipment, IDC services and wifi services, while 
different types of customers are served.
І၍ଣᄴᐏ઄dኋ၍ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ͉މණྠ
௰ɽఊɓุਕʱᗳdᔧႊʔΝჯਹٙପۜʿ؂ਕd̍
ܼ˓ዚeɽۨཥৃண௪eʝᑌၣᅰኽʕː؂ਕʿwifi
؂ਕdઓʊΣʔΝᗳۨٙ܄˒౤Զ؂ਕf
In addition, the Group is seeking opportunity in other 
business field by acquiring and/or cooperating with 
other companies.
Ϥ̮d͉ණྠ͍ஷཀϗᒅʿŊאၾՉ˼ʮ̡ΥЪ೯
ઢՉ˼ุਕჯਹٙਠዚf
Therefore, the management considered the risk 
of concentration of a single business segment is 
minimal.
ΪϤd၍ଣᄴႩމఊɓุਕʱᗳٙණʕࠬᎈʔɽf
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Risk Areas Risks Description Risk Response
ࠬᎈჯਹ ࠬᎈ౜ࠑ ࠬᎈᏐ࿁

Operational Risks
ᐄ༶ࠬᎈ

System Failure due to 
disaster
Ө࢔ኬߧӻ୕݂ღ

The construction of the 
Group’s Internet Data 
Center (“IDC”) in Panyu was 
completed and its trial run 
was started in the third quarter 
of the year. The server room 
is a very important asset to 
the Group. It may suffer from 
natural disaster such as power 
outage, fire, etc.
͉ණྠ೦߄ʝᑌၣᅰኽʕː

��IDC��ٙ ׵ணʊംʈԨܔ

ʦϋୋɧ֙ܓක֐༊༶ᐄfУ

؂ኜ͉މ܃ණྠٙ至ᗫࠠࠅ

ٙ༟ପdึאቊաν৾ཥe˦

ӨഃІ್Ө࢔ᅂᚤf

Critical computer systems and 
equipment may be severely 
damaged or destroyed in the 
event of disaster. In addition, 
backup data may not be 
available for processing and 
recovery purpose.
೯͛ࡊཥ໘ӻ୕ʿண௪ࠅࠠ

Ө̙࢔ঐึաՑᘌࠠฦᕸא

์ᕸfϤ̮d௪΅ᅰኽ̙ঐೌ

ూfܨආБஈଣʿج

As a result, the Company’s 
ability to conduct business 
may be significantly impaired 
resulting in revenue deduction.
ΪϤd͉ʮ̡ᐄุঐɢึאɽ

షࢮۂdኬߧϗूɨࠥf

According to the management, the IDC has 
emergency power system which is an independent 
source of electric power to the IDC in case of the 
loss of normal power supply. This standby power 
system is run by fuel. It protects the IDC from the 
consequences of loss of primary electric power 
supply.
І၍ଣᄴᐏ઄dIDC௪ϞᏐܢཥɢӻ୕dމஹટ至
IDCٙዹͭԸ๕ཥɢd˸ԣ͍੬Զཥʕᓙf༈௪͜ཥ
ɢӻ୕ɗ຾ዷذ༶Ъdڭღ IDCеա̰̘˴ཥɢԶᏐ
f؈ܝٙ

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
(Continued)

ุਕΫᚥ�ᚃ�

�ᎈʿʔᆽ֛Ϊ९�ᚃࠬࠅ˴



Report of the Directors 
໨ԫึజѓ

  �

23Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

Risk Areas Risks Description Risk Response
ࠬᎈჯਹ ࠬᎈ౜ࠑ ࠬᎈᏐ࿁

Compliance Risks
Υ஝ࠬᎈ

Risk of non-compliance 
with the changing law and 
regulations
ʔᓙစᜊ的جԷʿج஝ˏߧ
的ʔΥ஝ࠬᎈ

There are a number of 
regulations that are related 
to the Group’s operations, 
including laws and regulations 
in relation to money lending, 
personal data collection 
and employment (such as 
Employee Compensation, 
Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes, documents filing 
to the Inland Revenue 
Department), etc.
ၾ͉ණྠᐄ༶Ϟᗫٙج஝଺

εdܼ̍ၾ׳൲eࡈɛᅰኽϗ

ණʿ྇඿�ν྇ࡰ໾Ꮅe੶Փ

ྌeΣ೼ਕ҅πᏦࠇږʮጐ׌

˖΁�ഃ޴ᗫٙجԷʿج஝f

If the Group is unaware of 
the change in rules and 
regulations, the Group would 
be exposed to the risk of 
legal or regulatory sanctions, 
material financial loss or loss 
of reputation.
Էʿجᐏ઄Ϟᗫجණྠೌ͉ࡊ
ج஝ٙᜊਗd͉ණྠਗ਼ႆաج
၍Փ൒eࠠɽৌਕฦ္̰אܛ
ᑊᚑաฦٙࠬᎈfא

The Group has currently engaged an external legal 
advisor to update the management on changes in 
rules and regulations.
͉ණྠତࣛʊ։໌ɓΤ̮໌ܛجᚥਪఱجԷʿج஝

ٙᜊਗΣ၍ଣᄴһอႭ׼f

Moreover, employees are encouraged to attend 
training courses and seminars that are related to their 
duties. Cost of the training courses and seminars are 
reimbursable.
Ϥ̮dོᎸ྇ࡰਞ̋ၾ־ഃᔖਕ޴ᗫٙ੃৅ሙ೻ʿ

ীึٙ൬͜ਗ਼ഗʚᎵ˹f޼ীึf੃৅ሙ೻ʿ޼

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
(Continued)

ุਕΫᚥ�ᚃ�

�ᎈʿʔᆽ֛Ϊ९�ᚃࠬࠅ˴
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ุਕΫᚥ�ᚃ�

፭ς޴ᗫܛجʿج஝ 

d͉ණྠٝהdఱ໨ԫึʿ၍ଣᄴܓΫᚥϋ׵

฿ೌᘌࠠ༼ˀאʔ፭ς࿁͉ණྠุਕʿᐄ༶

࿴ϓࠠɽᅂᚤʘቇ͜ܛجʿج஝f

ၾ僱ࡰe܄˒ʿԶᏐਠʘ˴ࠅᗫڷ 

͉ණྠଉٝ྇ࡰɗ͉ණྠՉʕɓධࠠɽ༟ପf

͉ණྠϙίܵᚃࡰ྇މᐄிᗫᕿᐑྤԨࠠൖ

Չ྇ࡰʘࡈɛ೯࢝f

͉ණྠၾҢ܄ٙࡁ˒ʿԶᏐਠၪܵԄλᗫڷf

͉ණྠϙίΣ܄˒ܵᚃ౤ԶᎴሯ؂ਕʿऊ൬

᜗᜕ԨၾԶᏐਠͭࠈΥЪഄଫf

Ꮇ௪

ϋʫ͉ණྠᎷ௪ᜊਗʘ༉ઋ༱׵ୋ80ࠫ至81
ࠫʘၝΥᛆूᜊਗڌf

̙ԶʱݼᎷ௪

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ʮ̡Ϟ̙׵

ԶʱݼᎷ௪359,590,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋ
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j430,487,000ಥʩ�d̙Զʱ
ࡌ�຾جʮ̡ࢥʚ͉ʮٰ̡؇f࣬ኽකਟ໊ݼ

ʚٰ؇dઓ͉ݼ�d͉ʮ̡ʘٰ΅๐ᄆ̙ʱࠈ

ʮ̡׵ၡᎇܔᙄʱࢹٰݼ຅˚ܝd඲Ϟঐɢ

˕˹Չ׵˚੬ุਕཀ೻ʕՑಂٙවධfٰ΅

๐ᄆ͵̙˸ᖮԑٰߎ˙όʱݼf

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS 
AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and 
management are aware, there was no material breach of or 
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by 
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and 
operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, 
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant 
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing 
a caring environment to employees and emphasis the personal 
development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with our customers 
and suppliers. The Group aims to continue providing quality 
services and consumption experiences to our customers and 
establishing cooperation strategy with our suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 80 
to 81.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company has distributable 
reserves of approximately HK$359,590,000 available for 
distribution to shareholders of the Company (31 December 
2016: HK$430,487,000). Under the Companies Law (Revised) 
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company 
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately 
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts 
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share 
premium may also be distributed in form of fully paid bonus 
shares.



Report of the Directors 
໨ԫึజѓ

  �

25Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

ʿண௪גeᅀุي

ϋʫ͉ණྠุيeᅀגʿண௪ᜊਗʘ༉ઋ༱

ൗ17fڝڌၝΥৌਕజ׵

ٰ͉ʿᒅٰᛆ

ϋʫ͉ʮٰ̡͉ʿᒅٰᛆᜊਗʘ༉ઋ༱׵ၝ

Υৌਕజڝڌൗ35ʿ36f

Ꮄ΋ᒅ൯ᛆ

͉ʮ̡ʘ௝೻୚ۆ��୚א��ۆකਟ໊͉�ࢥ
ʮ̡ൗ̅ϓͭʘ̡جᛆਜج�Էѩೌ༱ϞᎴ

΋ᒅ൯ᛆʘૢ˖dࠅӋ͉ʮ̡Ϟப΂ܲˢԷ

ΣତϞٰ؇೯ਯอٰ΅f
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͉ʮ̡אՉ΂Оڝ᙮ʮ̡฿ೌᒅ൯eᛙΫא

̈ਯ͉ʮ̡΂Оɪ̹ᗇՎf

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group 
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Movements in the Company’s share capital and share 
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles 
of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the 
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company 
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new 
shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF 

LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, 
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during 
the year ended 31 December 2017.
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ʍܛجൡதࣛ౤Զቇ຅ڭღf

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable 
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as followed:

PURCHASES

– the largest supplier 15% (2016: 25%)

– five largest suppliers combined 43% (2016: 66%)

SALES

– the largest customer 11% (2016: 30%)
– five largest customers combined 39% (2016: 58%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which 
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the 
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers 
or customers noted above.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration 
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover 
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions 
against its Directors and senior management arising out of 
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force 
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of 
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) 
when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the 
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the 
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its 
Directors and officers.
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ԫආБᗇՎʹ׸ʘ஝֛඲ٝึ͉ʮ̡ʿᑌʹ
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ࡑʮ̡ᗇՎʘλ͉׵

 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 

POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of 
the Directors in the securities of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were notified 
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 
8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions 
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions 
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, 
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM 
Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions by directors, to 
be notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF 
THE COMPANY

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 
shares/

underlying 
shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

໨ԫ֑Τ Ԓ΅
Ϟٰ΅Ŋܵה
ᗫٰ΅ᅰͦ޴ ϵ分ˢٰܵߒ฿

Dr. LIE Haiquan Beneficial owner 2,051,824,000 21.53%

ΐऎᛆ௹ɻ ྼूኹϞɛ

Interest in controlled  
corporations (Note 1)

2,091,923,357 21.95%

աછՓʮ̡ʘᛆ �ൗ1ڝू�

Mr. ZHANG Xinyu Beneficial owner 45,600,000 0.48%

ੵอρ΋͛ ྼूኹϞɛ (Note 2)

�ൗ2ڝ�

Mr. XU Gang Beneficial owner 1,422,000 0.01%

੪΋͛ࢱ ྼूኹϞɛ

Interest of spouse (Note 3) 72,000 Negligible

ৣਅᛆ �ൗ3ڝू� ฆʔԑ༸
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1. 2,055,887,357ٰٰ΅ʿ36,036,000ٰٰ΅
ʱй͟Winner Mind Investments Limited
��Winner Mind��ʿ ऎ༟ପ၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ږ
ܵϞiՇ࢕ʮ̡ѩ͟ΐऎᛆ௹ɻΌ༟ኹϞf
ΪϤd࣬ኽᗇՎʿಂ஬ૢԷd־஗ൖ׵މ༈
ഃ2,091,923,357ٰٰ΅ʕኹϞᛆूf

2. ༈ഃ45,600,000ٰ޴ᗫٰ΅ɗପ͛І͉ʮ̡
બ̈ʘᒅٰᛆf

ᆊɾɻܵϞٙ72,000ٰږՉৣਅเ׵΋͛ࢱ .3
͉ʮٰ̡΅ʕኹϞᛆूf

ৰɪ˖מהᚣ٫̮d໨ԫ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ

˜ɧɤɓ˚฿ೌ͉׵ʮ̡ᗇՎʕኹϞ΂Оᛆ
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ᒅٰᛆࠇྌ
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ɖ˜ɚɤɚ˚મॶٙᒅٰᛆࠇྌ��ᔚࠇ劃��
ʊ׵ɚཧɓɚϋɖ˜ɚɤɓ˚֣တfᒅٰᛆ

ྌϙί࿁͉ණྠ຾ᐄϓ̌Ъ্̈ᘠʘΥ༟ࠇ

ࣸਞၾ٫ഗʚᆤᎸʿΫజfᒅٰᛆࠇྌʘΥ

༟ࣸਞၾ٫ܼ͉̍ʮ̡אՉ΂Оڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘ

໨ԫe͉ණྠʘዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫʿ྇ࡰd˸ʿ

͉ණྠ஬ۜ؂אਕʘԶᏐਠf࣬ኽᔚࠇྌٙ

ૢಛdᔚࠇྌ֣တ࣬ܝኽᔚࠇྌબ̈ʘᒅٰ

ᛆʥ್Ϟٜࣖ至̰ࣖމ˟f

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 

POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF 
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

1. 2,055,887,357 shares and 36,036,000 shares are held by Winner 
Mind Investments Limited (“Winner Mind”) and Golden Ocean 
Assets Management Limited respectively; both companies are 
wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan. Thus, he was deemed to be 
interested in these 2,091,923,357 shares pursuant to the SFO.

2. These 45,600,000 underlying shares are derived from the share 
options granted by the Company.

3. Mr. Xu is interested in 72,000 shares of the Company held by his 
spouse, Ms. Yang Jintong.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors did not have any other 
interests or short positions in the securities of the Company as 
at 31 December 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 December 2012, the Company adopted a new share 
option scheme (the “New Scheme”) as the share option 
scheme adopted on 22 July 2002 (the “Old Scheme”) expired 
on 21 July 2012. The purpose of the share option schemes is 
to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who 
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible 
participants of the share option schemes include Directors of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries, independent non-executive 
Directors and employees of the Group, and suppliers of goods 
or services to the Group. Upon the expiration of the Old 
Scheme, share options granted under the Old Scheme remained 
outstanding until they lapse in accordance with the terms of the 
Old Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for issue under the 
New Scheme was refreshed at the annual general meeting of 
the Company held on 25 May 2017, pursuant to which the 
Directors were authorised to grant options carrying rights to 
subscribe for up to a maximum number of 952,884,434 Shares, 
which represented 10% of the total issued share capital of the 
Company as at the date of that meeting. During the year ended 
31 December 2017, no share options were granted under the 
New Scheme.

As at 31 December 2017, the total number of outstanding 
share options granted under the New Scheme and Old Scheme 
is 114,000,000 and 6,840,000 respectively, representing 
approximately 1.2% and 0.07% of the Shares in issue as at 
31 December 2017.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in 
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as those disclosed in the sections headed “Share 
Option Scheme” in this Directors’ Report and also note 36 to 
the consolidated financial statements, no other equity-linked 
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during 
the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE 

SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Interests 
and Short Positions in Securities” and “Share Option Scheme” 
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the 
Company or any other corporate granted to any Directors, their 
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were 
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any 
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the 
Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of 
age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this 
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai
Mr. ZHANG Xinyu
Mr. XU Gang
Mr. TAO Wei
 (appointed on 22 June 2017)
Mr. ZHANG Bo
 (appointed on 22 June 2017)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. LIE Haiquan
 (appointed on 31 May 2017)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS:

Mr. ZHANG Zihua 
Ms. XI Lina
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong

Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Articles, the Directors have the 
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person 
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as 
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director so appointed by 
the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual 
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for 
re-election. Accordingly, Dr. LIE Haiquan, Mr. TAO Wei and 
Mr. ZHANG Bo who were appointed as Directors on 31 May 
2017, 22 June 2017 and 22 June 2017 respectively shall retire 
from their office and eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 87(1) of the Articles, at each annual general 
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire 
from office by rotation provided that the chairman of the Board 
and/or the managing director of the Company shall not, whilst 
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be 
taken into account in determining the number of Directors to 
retire in each year. Accordingly, Ms. XI Lina and Mr. HUANG 
Zhixiong shall retire from office and eligible for re-election at the 
AGM.
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͉ʮ̡໨ԫ฿ೌ͉׵ʮ̡אՉ΂Оڝ᙮ʮ̡
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ʕٜટאගટኹϞࠠɽᛆूf

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out 
on pages 15 to 18 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at 
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not 
determinable within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN 

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 

CONTRACTS

No significant transaction, arrangements and contracts in 
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly 
subsisted at the year-end or at any time during the year.
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࣬ኽᗇՎʿಂ஬ૢԷ඲ʚמᚣ

ʘٰ؇ᛆूʿ૱ࡑ 

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dఱ΂О໨ԫ׵

ᚣʘ໨ԫᛆू̮dٰ؇ί͉מה˖dৰɪٝה

ʮ̡ʘᗇՎʕኹϞ࣬ኽᗇՎʿಂ஬ૢԷୋXV
௅ୋ2ʿୋ3ʱ௅ʘૢ˖඲Σ͉ʮ̡מᚣʘᛆ
ટʿගટኹϞ͉ʮ̡ٜމ஗ൖאdࡑ૱אू

ʊ೯Бٰ͉5%א˸ɪʘᛆूdאኹϞ͉ʮ̡
࣬ኽᗇՎʿಂ஬ૢԷୋ336ૢ඲ʚໄπʘᛆ
ू೮া̅ʫা፽ʘᛆूࡑ૱אνɨj

λࡑ

Б໨ԫΐऎᛆ௹ɻΌ༟ੂڢൗjWinner Mind͟ڝ
ኹϞf

໨ԫ׵ᘩุنਕʘᛆू 

฿ೌ͉ʮ̡໨ԫא΂ОՉ΢Іʘၡ੗ᑌᖩɛ

�່֛ԈGEMɪ̹஝׵�ۆၾ͉ණྠุਕ࿴ϓ
ᘩ̙אنঐ࿴ϓᘩنʘุਕʕኹϞᛆूf

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF 

SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER 

THE SFO

So far is known to any Director, as at 31 December 2017, other 
than the interests of Directors as disclosed above, shareholders 
who had interests or short positions in the securities of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or 
who were deemed to be directly and indirectly interested in 5% 
or more of the issued share capital of the Company, or which 
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept 
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as 
follows:

LONG POSITIONS

Name Nature of interests

Number of 
shares/underlying 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

֑Τ ᛆू׌ሯ
Ϟٰ΅Ŋܵה
ᗫٰ΅ᅰͦ޴

ٰܵߒ฿
ϵ分ˢ

Winner Mind (Note) Beneficial owner 2,055,887,357 21.58%

Winner Mindڝ�ൗ� ྼूኹϞɛ

Note: Winner Mind is wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan, a non-executive 
Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING 

BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates 
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an interest in a 
business which competes or may compete with the business of 
the Group.
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ᗫஹʹ׸

ɚཧɓɖϋ̬˜ɓ˚d͉ʮ̡ၾλޮᔮϞ׵

ࠢʮ̡ఱΣ͉ʮ̡౤Զፔ༔؂ਕͭࠈፔ༔؂

ਕ՘ᙄ��ፔ༔؂ਕ՘ᙄ��dІɚཧɓɖϋ̬
˜ɓ˚ৎڋӉމಂɓϋdӊ˜൬͜71,500މ
ಥʩf͟׵λޮᔮϞࠢʮ̡͟ੂБ໨ԫੵᑊ

इ΋͛ʘৣਅӁˇૠɾɻΌ༟ኹϞdΪϤ࣬

ኽGEMɪ̹஝ۆdλޮᔮϞࠢʮ̡͉މʮ̡
ᗫஹɛɻf

ɗ͍ܲ੬ਠุૢಛආБ˲Չቇ׸ʹࠑɪ׵͟

͜ϵʱˢଟЭ0.1%׵d݂ፔ༔؂ਕ՘ᙄʿՉ
ධɨᏝආБʘʹ׸ᐏᒀе፭ςGEMɪ̹஝ۆ
ୋ20௝ධɨٙ͡జeʮѓeϋܓᄲࣨʿዹٰͭ
؇ҭࡘ஝֛f

ৰ˴ࠅ၍ଣɛࡰᑚཇ̮d׵ၝΥৌਕజڝڌ

ൗ45מᚣʘᗫஹɛɻʹ׸࿴ϓGEMɪ̹஝ۆ
ୋ20௝ɨʘᗫஹʹ׸f

Άุ၍طజѓ

͉ʮ̡ʘΆุ၍طజѓ༱͉׵ϋజୋ35至ୋ
53ࠫf

̂ԑʘʮ଺ٰܵඎ

dܓ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ׵

͉ʮ̡࣬ኽGEMɪ̹஝ۆʘ஝֛ၪܵ̂ԑʘ
ʮ଺ٰܵඎf

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1 April 2017, the Company entered into a consultancy 
service agreement with Honford Limited (the “Consultancy 
Service Agreement”) for the provision of consultancy services 
to the Company for an initial term of one year from 1 April 
2017 at a monthly fee of HK$71,500. As Honford Limited is 
wholly-owned by Ms. TO Siu Mui, the spouse of Mr. CHEUNG 
Sing Tai, an executive Director. As such, Honford Limited is 
a connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing 
Rules.

Since the above transaction is conducted on normal commercial 
terms and the applicable percentage ratios thereof are less than 
0.1%, the Consultancy Service Agreement and the transaction 
contemplated thereunder are exempt from the reporting, 
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing 
Rules.

The related party transactions, except compensation of 
key management personnel, disclosed in note 45 to the 
consolidated financial statements constituted connected 
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on 
pages 35 to 53 of the annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a suff ic ient publ ic f loat as 
required under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 
31 December 2017.
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ࣨᅰࢪ

ৌਕజڌʊ͟਷ሊึࢪࠇԫਕהϞࠢʮ̡

��਷ሊ��ᄲࣨf਷ሊዄ΂͉ʮ̡ࣨᅰٙࢪ։
΂ಂࠢਗ਼ٰ׵؇඄ϋɽึഐҼ֣ࣛတfਗ਼׵

ٰ؇඄ϋɽึ౤яᚃ໌਷ሊ͉މʮ̡ࣨᅰࢪ

ʘӔᙄࣩf

 ໨ԫึڌ˾
ਓ˴ࢩ 
ੵᑊइ

˚ಥdɚཧɓɞϋɧ˜ɚɤɖ࠰

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by HLB Hodgson 
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”). The term of appointment of 
HLB as auditor of the Company shall expire at the conclusion 
of the AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM for the 
reappointment of HLB as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board 
CHEUNG Sing Tai 
Deputy Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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፭ςΆุ၍ط੬஝ςۆ

͉ʮ̡ʘΆุ၍ط੬஝ɗਿ׵GEMɪ̹஝ۆ
༱ה��ۆ��ςۆ੬஝ςط፽ɤʞʘΆุ၍ڝ
ഹࠠۆࡡમॶʘהf͉ʮ̡˖ૢۆʿςۆࡡ

৷ሯ९ʘ໨ԫึʿ࿁ٰ؇ʘீܓ׼ʿਪப׌f

໨ԫึႩމd࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ

˚˟ϋܓd͉ʮ̡ɓٜ፭ςςۆdઓ˸ɨߠᕎ

ৰ̮j

࣬ኽςૢۆ˖ୋA.2.1ૢd˴ࢩʿБ݁ᐼ൒ٙ
ᔖபᏐʚʱකfੵᑊइ΋͛΋ۃΝࣛࡒ΂༈

ՇࡈᔖЗfՉ׵ܝɚཧɓɖϋʞ˜ɧɤɓ˚d

ੵᑊइ΋͛ʊ͟˴ࢩሜ΂ਓ˴ࢩdϾΐऎᛆ

௹ɻʊᐏ։΂ࢩ˴މd༈ՇࡈᔖЗІϤʱකf

࣬ኽςૢۆ˖ୋA.4.1ૢdੂڢБ໨ԫ඲ܲत
֛΂ಂ։΂fੂڢБ໨ԫԨೌत֛։΂ϋಂi

್Ͼd࣬ኽ͉ʮ̡ଡ଼ᔌ௝೻୚ۆ��୚ۆ��ʿ
ςۆd־ഃѩ඲ቃ࠽ৗ΂fΪϤd͉ʮ̡Ⴉމ

ʊમ՟ԑ੄ણ݄dஈଣςۆධɨϞᗫੂڢБ

໨ԫʘ։΂ϋಂʘ஝֛f

࣬ኽςૢۆ˖ୋD.1.4ૢd͉ʮ̡඲މ໨ԫ౤
Զ͍ό։΂ࣣԨΐ׼։΂ʘ˴ૢࠅಛʿૢ΁f

ৰੵᑊइ΋͛ʿੵอρ΋͛ʘ̮d͉ʮ̡͊

Ϟމ໨ԫ౤Զ͍ό։΂ࣣf್Ͼd໨ԫ඲࣬ኽ

୚ۆቃ࠽ѓৗfϤ̮d໨ԫѩცਞϽ͟ʮ̡ൗ

̅ஈ೯̈ʘ�໨ԫப΂ܸˏ�ʿ ಥ໨ԫኪ࠰͟

ึ೯̈ʘ�໨ԫܸی�ʿ �ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫܸ

໨ԫމʘܸˏᄵБՉЪ׼ቇ͜�ʕΐࡊ��ی

ʘᔖபʿப΂fϤ̮d໨ԫ඲፭ςج஝ʿ౷ஷ

ʿՉ˼္၍ܛجeۆʘ஝֛eGEMɪ̹஝ج
஝֛ʿ͉ʮุ̡ਕʿ၍݁طഄf

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on 
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code 
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in 
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principles adopted 
by the Company emphasis a quality board, transparency and 
accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, 
the Company has complied with the Code for the year ended 
31 December 2017, with the exception for the following 
deviations:

Under code provision A.2.1, the responsibilities between 
chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. The two 
positions were previously taken up by Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai. 
Upon the re-designation of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai from Chairman 
to Deputy Chairman and the appointment of Dr. LIE Haiquan as 
Chairman on 31 May 2017, the two positions were since then 
separated.

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should 
be appointed for specific term. There is no specific term of 
appointment of the non-executive Directors; however, they are 
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles 
of association of the Company (“Articles”) and the Code. 
Accordingly, the Company considers that sufficient measures 
have been taken to deal with the requirement in respect of the 
appointment terms of non-executive Directors as required under 
the Code.

Under code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal 
letters of appointment for Directors setting out the key terms 
and conditions of their appointment. Except for Mr. CHEUNG 
Sing Tai and Mr. ZHANG Xinyu, the Company did not have 
formal letters of appointment for Directors. However, the 
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance 
with the Articles. In addition, the Directors are required to refer 
to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued 
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and 
“Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) 
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing 
their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the 
Directors are required to comply with the requirements under 
statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and 
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and 
governance policies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Άุ၍طజѓ
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Ϟᗫ໨ԫආБᗇՎʹ׸ʘБމ

ςۆ

͉ʮ̡ʊમॶϞᗫ໨ԫආБᗇՎʹ׸ʘБމ

ςۆdՉૢಛၾGEMɪ̹஝ۆୋ5.48ૢ至ୋ
ςᅺ๟Νᅵᘌࣸf͉ʮ̀׸ʹ༱ʘה5.67ૢ
̡͵ʊΣΌ᜗໨ԫЪ̈त֛ݟ༔dϾኽ͉ʮ

˟˚d࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓٝה̡

ϋܓԨೌ̈ତ͊ঐୌΥʹ̀׸ςᅺ๟ʿՉϞ

ᗫ໨ԫආБᗇՎʹ׸ʘБމςۆʘઋرf

໨ԫึ

໨ԫଉ׼ՉᔖபɗᇜႡॆྼࡒʮ̻ˀ݈͉ණ

ତʿତڌʿ͉ණྠৌਕر༈ϋৌਕً׵ྠ

ᇜႡਿ๟ʘ༉ઋ༱ڌඎʘሪͦfৌਕజݴږ

பՓ֛ࠋ͵ൗ3f໨ԫึڝڌၝΥৌਕజ׵
͉ණྠʘڗჃഄଫeӔ֛ʿҭ͉ࡘණྠʘࠠ

ɽʹ׸ʿ္છ၍ଣᄴd˸ᆽ־ڭഃѼഛપБ

͉ණྠʘ݁ഄʿϞࣖᄵБՉᔖਕfՉ˼Ӕഄ

˜ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ׵બᛆʚ၍ଣᄴஈଣfۆ

ɧɤɓ˚d໨ԫึ͟ɘΤ໨ԫଡ଼ϓdܼ̍ʞΤ

ੂБ໨ԫeɓΤੂڢБ໨ԫʿɧΤዹͭੂڢ

Б໨ԫfੂБ໨ԫੵމᑊइ΋͛eੵอρ΋

͛eࢱ੪΋͛eௗ⑸΋͛ʿੵت΋͛fੂڢБ

໨ԫމΐऎᛆ௹ɻfዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫੵމɿ

ശ * (ZHANG Zihua)΋͛eࢃᘆࢆɾɻʿරқ
ඪ΋͛fତ΂໨ԫʘᄵዝ༱׵ୋ15至ୋ18ࠫf

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING 

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 

DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting 
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company also had made 
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware 
of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings 
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by 
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the 
preparation of accounts, which shall give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Group and of the financial 
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. 
Details of the basis of preparation of financial statements are 
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. 
The Board is also responsible for formulating the Group’s 
long term strategy, determining and approving the Group’s 
significant transactions and supervising the management to 
ensure thorough implementation of the Group’s policies and 
effective performance of their duties. Other decisions are to be 
delegated to management. As at 31 December 2017, the Board 
comprised nine Directors, including five executive Directors, one 
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive 
Directors. The executive Directors are Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, 
Mr. ZHANG Xinyu, Mr. XU Gang, Mr. TAO Wei and Mr. ZHANG 
Bo. The non-executive Director is Dr. LIE Haiquan. The 
independent non-executive Directors are Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. 
XI Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong. Biographies of the existing 
Directors are set out on pages 15 to 18.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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໨ԫ �ึᚃ�

ʫܓ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ׵

̜කə11ϣ໨ԫึึᙄf໨ԫ̈ࢩ༉ઋνɨj

࣬ኽςૢۆ˖ୋA.4.1ૢdੂڢБ໨ԫᏐܲत
֛΂ಂ։΂f͉ʮ̡ʘੂڢБ໨ԫԨೌत֛

։΂ϋಂi್Ͼd־ഃѩ඲࣬ኽ୚ۆቃ࠽ৗ

΂fኽϤd͉ʮ̡Ⴉމʊમ՟̂ԑણ݄dஈଣ

ςૢۆ˖ϞᗫੂڢБ໨ԫʘ։΂ϋಂʘ஝֛f

ӊΤዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫʊ࣬ኽGEMɪ̹஝ۆୋ
5.09ૢఱՉዹͭ׌Ъ̈ϋܓᆽႩf͉ʮ̡Ⴉ
Б໨ԫѩୌΥGEMɪ̹஝ੂڢdΌ᜗ዹͭމ
ˏdԨୌΥܸˏܸ׌༱ʘዹͭהୋ5.09ૢۆ
ૢಛה஝֛ʘዹͭ׌f໨ԫึ׵ӊ֙ܓᑘБ

ɓϣ໨ԫึึᙄ˸ীሞʿҭ͉ࡘණྠʘุᐶf

຅ࣛʘ໨ԫึϓࡰʊ̈ึࢩᙄf

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2017, 11 Board 
meetings were held. Details of the attendance of the Directors 
are as follows:

Name of the Directors
Directors’ 

Attendance

໨ԫ֑Τ ໨ԫ̈ࢩଟ

Executive Directors ੂБ໨ԫ
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ 11/11

Mr. ZHANG Xinyu ੵอρ΋͛ 11/11

Mr. XU Gang ੪΋͛ࢱ 8/11

Mr. TAO Wei ௗ⑸΋͛ 4/4

Mr. ZHANG Bo ΋͛تੵ 3/4

Non-executive Director Б໨ԫੂڢ
Dr. LIE Haiquan ΐऎᛆ௹ɻ 4/5

Independent Non-executive Directors ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫ
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua)΋͛ 10/11

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 8/11

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong රқඪ΋͛ 11/11

Under code provis ion A.4.1, non-execut ive Directors 
should be appointed for specific term. There is no specific 
term of appointment of the non-executive Directors of the 
Company; however, they are subject to retirement by rotation 
in accordance with the Articles. Accordingly the Company 
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to deal 
with the requirement in respect of the appointment terms of 
non-executive Directors as required under the code provision.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made 
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all 
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence 
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are 
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The 
Board held a board meeting for each quarter to discuss and 
approve the Group’s results. The then board members attended 
the meetings.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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 ʿБ݁ᐼ൒ࢩ˴

࣬ኽςૢۆ˖ୋA.2.1ૢd˴ࢩʿБ݁ᐼ൒ٙ
ᔖபᏐʚʱකfੵᑊइ΋͛΋ۃΝࣛࡒ΂༈

ՇࡈᔖЗfՉ׵ܝɚཧɓɖϋʞ˜ɧɤɓ˚d

ੵᑊइ΋͛ʊ͟˴ࢩሜ΂ਓ˴ࢩdϾΐऎᛆ

௹ɻʊᐏ։΂ࢩ˴މd༈ՇࡈᔖЗІϤʱකf

໨ԫʘ੃৅

࣬ኽςۆʘςૢۆ˖ୋA.6.5ૢdΌ᜗໨ԫѩ
඲ਞ̋ܵᚃਖ਼ุ೯࢝d೯࢝ʿһอՉٝᗆʿ

Ҧঐd˸ᆽڭՉίՈ௪Όࠦ༟ৃʿʲΥהც

ٙઋرɨ࿁໨ԫึЪ্̈ᘠf

Ϟ໨ԫѩϞਞ̋ܵᚃਖ਼ุ೯࢝dԨΣ͉ʮה

̡౤Զ־ഃ׵࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ

˚˟ৌ݁ϋהܓટա੃৅ʘা፽f͉ʮ̡͵

ʔᓙΣ໨ԫ౤ԶGEMɪ̹஝ۆʿՉ˼ቇ္͜
၍஝֛௰อ೯࢝ʘ༟ࣘdᆽ־ڭഃ፭ςʿһ

૶ูə༆ԄλΆุ၍ط੬஝f

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1, the responsibilities between 
chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. The two 
positions were previously taken up by Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai. 
Upon the re-designation of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai from Chairman 
to Deputy Chairman and the appointment of Dr. LIE Haiquan as 
Chairman on 31 May 2017, the two positions were since then 
separated.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors 
should participate in continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that 
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional 
development and provided a record of training they received for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2017 to the Company. 
The Company has also continuously updated Directors on 
the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and 
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance 
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance 
practices.
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໨ԫʘ੃৅�ᚃ�

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd΢

໨ԫٙࡈɛ੃৅া፽฿ࠑνɨj

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING (Continued)

The individual training record of each Director received for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 is summarized below:

Name of Directors ໨ԫ֑Τ

Attending or 
participating 
in seminars/

workshops 
reading materials 
relevant to roles, 

functions, and 
duties of a listed 

company director
ਞ̋אࢩ̈

୦ึ޼ীึŊ޼
ቡᛘϞᗫɪ̹ʮ̡
໨ԫԉЍeᔖঐʿ

ᔖப的ҿࣘ

Executive Directors ੂБ໨ԫ
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ ✓

Mr. ZHANG Xinyu ੵอρ΋͛ ✓

Mr. XU Gang ੪΋͛ࢱ ✓

Mr. TAO Wei ௗ⑸΋͛ ✓

Mr. ZHANG Bo ΋͛تੵ ✓

Non-executive Director Б໨ԫੂڢ
Dr. LIE Haiquan ΐऎᛆ௹ɻ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫ
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua)΋͛ ✓

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ ✓

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong රқඪ΋͛ ✓

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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ٰ؇ɽึ

dܓ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ׵

͉ʮ̡ಀᑘБ1ϣٰ؇ɽึdу׵ɚཧɓɖϋ
ʞ˜ɚɤʞ˚ᑘБʘɚཧɓɖϋٰ؇඄ϋɽ

�ึ�二零一七年ٰ؇඄年ɽึ��f

໨ԫึࠋபၾٰ؇ܵܵڭᚃ࿁༑dतй݊л

ٰ͜؇඄ϋɽึאՉ˼ٰ؇ɽึၾٰ؇๖ஷ

ʿོᎸٰ؇ਞၾfੂБ໨ԫʿᄲࣨ։ึࡰe

ᑚཇ։ึࡰʿ౤Τ։ࢩ˴ึࡰѩϞ̈ࢩɚཧ

ɓɖϋٰ؇඄ϋɽึd˸༆ഈٰ؇౤ਪʿϗ

ණٰ؇จԈf

GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 1 general meeting, 
being the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company (“2017 
AGM”) was held on 25 May 2017.

Name of the Directors
Directors’ 

Attendance

໨ԫ֑Τ ໨ԫ̈ࢩଟ

Executive Directors ੂБ໨ԫ
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ 1/1

Mr. ZHANG Xinyu ੵอρ΋͛ 1/1

Mr. XU Gang ੪΋͛ࢱ 1/1

Mr. TAO Wei 
(appointed on 22 June 2017)

ௗ⑸΋͛ 
�ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɚɤɚ˚ᐏ։΂׵�

N/A
ʔቇ͜

Mr. ZHANG Bo 
(appointed on 22 June 2017)

 ΋͛تੵ
�ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɚɤɚ˚ᐏ։΂׵�

N/A
ʔቇ͜

Non-executive Director Б໨ԫੂڢ
Dr. LIE Haiquan 

(appointed on 31 May 2017)
ΐऎᛆ௹ɻ 
�ɚཧɓɖϋʞ˜ɧɤɓ˚ᐏ։΂׵�

N/A
ʔቇ͜

Independent Non-executive Directors ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫ
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua)΋͛ 1/1

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 0/1

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong රқඪ΋͛ 0/1

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue 
with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general 
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them 
and encourage their participation. The executive Directors 
and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee attended the 2017 
AGM to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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໨ԫ։ึࡰ

໨ԫࡈ՘п໨ԫึᄵБᔖਕd໨ԫึᐏɧމ

։ึࡰ˕౪fӊࡈ։ึࡰ΢Ϟʊ֛ޢʘᔖப

ᇍఖʿᔖᛆᇍఖd˲΢։ึࡰϓࡰϞᛆఱӊ

ᔖᛆᇍఖ˸ʫʘԫ֝Ъ̈Ӕഄfึࡰ։ࡈ

1. ᄲࣨ։ึࡰ

͉ʮ̡ʊϓͭᄲࣨ։ึࡰdՉࣣࠦᔖᛆ

ᇍఖୌΥGEMɪ̹஝ۆୋ5.28至ୋ5.33
ૢfᄲࣨ։ึࡰʘ˴ࠅᔖபɗ (a)ᄲቡ͉
ණྠʘϋܓeʕಂʿ֙ܓజѓi(b)ၾ͉
ʮ̡ࣨᅰࢪਠীʿᏨীࣨᅰʘᇍᖚʿഐ

iʿ؈ (c)္ຖ͉ණྠʘৌਕ͡జ೻ҏe
ࠬᎈ၍ଣʿʫ௅္છӻ୕f

ᄲࣨ։ึࡰତ͟ɧΤዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫੵ

ɿശ *(ZHANG Zihua)΋͛eࢃᘆࢆɾɻ
ʿරқඪ΋͛ଡ଼ϓfᄲࣨ։ึࡰʘ˴ࢩ

ɿശੵމ *(ZHANG Zihua)΋͛dՉኹϞ
ᔮబٙৌਕʿึࠇ຾᜕f

ϋʫdᄲࣨ։ึࡰ΍ᑘБ5ϣึᙄ˸ᄲ
ቡ͉ණྠ࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ

˚˟ϋܓʘ຾ᄲࣨϋุܓᐶʿ࿚至ɚཧ

ɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓʘ͊຾ᄲ

ϞމႩึࡰʿʕಂุᐶfᄲࣨ։ܓ֙ࣨ

ᗫุᐶʊ࣬ኽቇ͜ึࠇ๟ۆʿ஝֛Ͼᇜ

ႡdԨʊЪ̈̂ʱמᚣfᄲࣨ։ึࡰ͵

ʊᄲቡ͉ʮ̡ʘʫ௅္છӻ୕ԨϽᅇఱ

GEMɪ̹஝ۆධɨʘࠬᎈ၍ଣʿʫ௅
္છ˸ʿᐑྤeٟึʿ၍طజѓ஝֛։

໌ਖ਼ุɛɻf

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging of its duties, the Board is 
supported by three board committees. Each committee has 
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the 
committee members are empowered to make decisions on 
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with 
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of 
the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual 
reports, interim reports and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss 
and review with the auditor of the Company on the scope 
and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise the financial 
reporting process, risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent 
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. XI 
Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong. The chairman of the Audit 
Committee is Mr. ZHANG Zihua, who possesses extensive 
experience in finance and accounting.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings during the year 
to review the Group’s audited annual results for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 and the unaudited quarterly 
and interim results for the year ended 31 December 
2017, which is of the opinion that the preparation of 
such results complied with the applicable accounting 
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure 
have been made. The Audit Committee also reviewed the 
internal control systems of the Company and considered 
the engagement of professionals in relation to the risk 
management and internal control and environmental, 
social and governance reporting requirements under the 
GEM Listing Rules.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй



Corporate Governance Report 
Άุ၍طజѓ
  �

42 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

໨ԫ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

1. ᄲࣨ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

ᄲࣨ։ึึࡰᙄٙϓࢩ̈ࡰ༉ઋνɨj

2. ᑚཇ։ึࡰ

͉ʮ̡ʊܲ๫GEMɪ̹஝ۆʘϞᗫ஝
֛ϓͭᑚཇ։ึࡰdԨʊᔾ֛Չࣣࠦᔖ

ᛆᇍఖfՉ˴ࠅᔖபɗ (a)ఱ͉ʮ̡Ό᜗
໨ԫʿ৷ॴ၍ଣɛࡰʘᑚཇ݁ഄʿݖ࿴

Σ໨ԫึ౤Զܔᙄi(b)ΪᏐ໨ԫึࠈה
Άุ˙০ʿͦᅺϾᏨীʿҭࡘ၍ଣᄴٙ

ᑚཇܔᙄiʿ (c)ᔾ֛ࡈйੂБ໨ԫʿ৷
ॴ၍ଣɛٙࡰᑚཇܙ༾f

ᑚཇ։͟ึࡰɓΤੂБ໨ԫʿՇΤ

ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫଡ଼ϓdу˴ੵࢩɿശ * 
(ZHANG Zihua)΋͛eϓੵࡰᑊइ΋͛
ʿࢃᘆࢆɾɻf

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit 
Committee meetings are as follows:

Name of the Members
Members’ 

Attendance

ϓ֑ࡰΤ ϓࢩ̈ࡰଟ

Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua) ΋͛ 5/5

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 3/5

Mr. Huang Zhixiong රқඪ΋͛ 5/5

2. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has establ ished the Remuneration 
Committee according to the relevant provisions of the 
GEM Listing Rules with written terms of reference. Its 
primary duties are (a) to make recommendation to the 
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all 
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b) 
to review and approve the management’s remuneration 
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals 
and objectives; and (c) to determine the remuneration 
packages on individual executive Directors and senior 
management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive 
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as chairman), Mr. CHEUNG 
Sing Tai and Ms. XI Lina as members.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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໨ԫ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

2. ᑚཇ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

ʊᑘБ5ϣึࡰʫdᑚཇ։ܓΫᚥϋ׵
ึᙄ˸ (1)Ꮸী໨ԫʿ৷ॴ၍ଣᄴᑚཇ
Б໨ੂڢ༾d(2)ᔾ֛อੂБ໨ԫʿอܙ
ԫᑚཇdʿ (3)൙ПՇΤዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫ
ʿՇΤੂБ໨ԫʘڌତd͵ਠীʿఱՉ

ᑚཇ౤Զܔᙄf

ᑚཇ։ึึࡰᙄٙϓࢩ̈ࡰ༉ઋνɨj

ੂБ໨ԫ஗Ⴉ͉݊މʮ̡ٙ৷ॴ၍ଣ

ᄴfᏐ˹־ഃʘཇ͟ږᑚཇ։ึࡰਿ׵

ᔾ֛fܝرഃʘ༟ሯe຾᜕ʿତБ̹־

໨ԫཇٙږ༉ઋ༱׵ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

14f

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remunerat ion 
Committee held 5 meetings to (1) review the remuneration 
packages of the Directors and senior management, 
(2) determine the remuneration of the new executive 
Directors and new non-executive Director, and (3) assess 
the performance of two independent non-executive 
Directors and two executive Directors and discussed and 
recommended their remuneration.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration 
Committee meetings are as follows:

Name of the Members
Members’ 

Attendance

ϓ֑ࡰΤ ϓࢩ̈ࡰଟ

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ 5/5

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 4/5

Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua) ΋͛ 5/5

The executive Directors are considered to be senior 
management of the Company. The emoluments payable 
to them are determined by the Remuneration Committee 
based on their qualifications, experience and the prevailing 
market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the 
Directors are set out in note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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໨ԫ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

3. ౤Τ։ึࡰ

͉ʮ̡׵ɚཧɓɧϋɧ˜ɚɤɞ˚࣬ኽ

ᑌʹהʘ஝֛ϓͭ౤Τ։ึࡰdԨ֛ࠈ

ࣣࠦᔖᛆᇍఖf౤Τ։ึࡰ඲͟௰ˇɧ

Τϓࡰଡ଼ϓdϾ຅ʕɽεᅰމዹͭੂڢ

Б໨ԫdԨ͟໨ԫึ˴אࢩɓΤዹͭڢ

ੂБ໨ԫ΂౤Τ։ࢩ˴ึࡰf౤Τ։ࡰ

ɓΤੂБ໨ԫੵᑊइ΋ܼ͛̍ۃͦึ

ʿՇΤዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫੵɿശ *(ZHANG 
Zihua)΋ �͛ዄ΂˴ࢩ�ʿ ɾɻfࢆᘆࢃ

౤Τ։ึࡰʘᔖᛆᇍఖତʊ̊༱׵ᑌʹ

ʿ͉ʮ̡ၣࠫfה

౤Τ։ึࡰમॶʘᔖᛆᇍఖୌΥςהۆ

༱ςૢۆ˖ʘ஝֛f

౤Τ։ึࡰʘᔖঐމᏨীʿ္ຖ໨ԫึ

ʘݖ࿴e஝ᅼʿଡ଼ϓeΣ໨ԫึ౤̈΂

Оһҷܔᙄ˸ৣΥ͉ණྠഄଫeيЍΥ

༟ࣸɛ፯̈΂໨ԫึϓࡰe൙Пዹͭڢ

ੂБ໨ԫʘዹͭ׌˸ʿఱ։΂ࠠאอ։

΂໨ԫʿ໨ԫ�तй݊˴ࢩʿБ݁ᐼ൒�

ٙᘱ΂ࠇྌΣ໨ԫึ౤Զܔᙄf

໨ԫึ׵ɚཧɓɧϋɞ˜ɧɤ˚મॶ໨

ԫึεʩʷ݁ഄ��໨ԫึεʩʷ݁ഄ��
Ԩਗ਼݁ഄධɨٙ߰ʍᔖப։ৄഗ౤Τ

։ึࡰf౤Τ։ึࡰʿ໨ԫึ͵׵ɚཧ

ɓʞϋɧ˜ɚɤʬ˚Ꮸী໨ԫึʘݖ

࿴dԨႩމ໨ԫึ͟ʔΝ׌йeϋᙧe˖

ʷʿ઺ԃߠ౻e၇ૄeਖ਼ุ຾᜕eҦঐʿ

ٝᗆʘϓࡰଡ଼ϓdʊୌΥ໨ԫึεʩʷ

݁ഄૢ˖ʘ஝֛f

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3. NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee 
on 28 March 2013 with written terms of reference in 
accordance with requirements of the Stock Exchange. 
The Nomination Committee shall comprise at least three 
members with a majority of independent non-executive 
Directors, and the Chairman of the Board or an 
independent non-executive Director should take up the 
role of chairman of the Nomination Committee. The 
Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive 
Director, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, and two independent 
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as 
chairman) and Ms. XI Lina. The terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee is currently made available on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Terms of reference adopted by the Nomination Committee 
are aligned with the code provisions set out in the Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review 
and monitor the structure, size and composition of the 
Board and make recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement of the Group’s 
strategy; to identify qualified individuals to become 
members of the Board; to assess the independence 
of independent non-executive Directors; and to make 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning 
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive.

The Board adopted on 30 August 2013 a board diversity 
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and delegated certain 
duties under the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The 
Nomination Committee and the Board had also reviewed 
on 26 March 2015 the structure of the Board and is of 
the opinion the Board consisted of members with different 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge, 
which met the requirements under the terms of the Board 
Diversity Policy.
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໨ԫ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

3. ౤Τ։ࡰ �ึᚃ�

ʊᑘБ3ϣึࡰʫd౤Τ։ܓΫᚥϋ׵
ึᙄ˸ (1)Ꮸী໨ԫึʘଡ଼ϓd(2)Ꮸীዹ
d(3)Ͻᅇৗ΂໨׌Б໨ԫʘዹͭੂڢͭ
ԫʘࠠ፯ஹ΂ʿ (4)ᄲቡᐏ౤Τอ໨ԫ
ٙᄵዝ༟ࣘdԨఱϞᗫ΂նٙΥቇ׌౤

ԶપᑥจԈf

౤Τ։ึึࡰᙄٙϓࢩ̈ࡰ༉ઋνɨj

໨ԫϞᗫᇜႡৌਕజڌʘப΂ 

 

໨ԫٝ઄ՉࠋபᇜႡ͉ණྠʘৌਕజڌdԨ

ᆽڭϞᗫৌਕజڌɗ࣬ኽ֛ج஝֛ʿቇ͜ึ

ᐏڌණྠৌਕజ͉ڭᇜႡf໨ԫ͵ᆽۆ๟ࠇ

ቇࣛʮѓf

໨ԫᆽႩd຾Ъ̈ɓʲΥଣݟ༔ܝdఱ־ഃה

ٝeה઄ʿڦהd־ഃԨʔٝ઄΂О̙ঐึ࿁

͉ʮ̡ܵᚃ຾ᐄঐɢிϓࠠɽဲᅇʘԫ΁א

ઋرʘʔᆽ֛Ϊ९f

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3. NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee 
held 3 meetings to (1) review the Board composition, (2) 
review the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors, (3) consider the re-election of retiring Directors 
and (4) review the biographical information of the proposed 
new Directors and made recommendation on the suitability 
on such nomination.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination 
Committee meetings are as follows:

Name of the Members
Members’ 

Attendance

ϓ֑ࡰΤ ϓࢩ̈ࡰଟ

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ 3/3

Ms. XI Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 2/3

Mr. ZHANG Zihua ੵɿശ * (ZHANG Zihua) ΋͛ 3/3

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR 

THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibi l i ty for the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and ensure 
that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. 
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial 
statements of the Group.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, 
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, 
they are not aware of any matters uncertainly relating to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Άุ၍طᔖঐ

Άุ၍طᔖঐ͟໨ԫึੂБf

Άุ၍طᔖঐމՓࠈʿᏨী͉ʮ̡Άุ၍ط

݁ഄʿ੬஝d˸ୌΥςۆʿՉ˼္אܛج၍

஝֛˸္ຖ͉ʮ̡ʘอ໨ԫɝᔖܸˏࠇྌe

Ꮸীʿ္ຖ໨ԫʿ৷ॴ၍ଣɛࡰʘ੃৅ʿܵ
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The corporate governance functions were performed by the 
Board.

The corporate governance functions are to develop and 
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance to comply with the Code and other legal or 
regulatory requirements, to oversee the Company’s orientation 
program for new Director, to review and monitor the training 
and continuous professional development of Directors and 
senior management, to develop, review and monitor the code of 
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 
and Directors, and to review the Company’s disclosure in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Board 
held 1 meeting for reviewing the training and continuous 
professional development of the Directors and the Company’s 
compliance with the Code for the year ended 31 December 
2016 and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The responsibil ity statement of external auditor of the 
Company, HLB, about their reporting responsibilities on the 
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent 
Auditors’ Report on pages 67 to 75. During the year, auditor’s 
remuneration for audit services was HK$1,160,000 and 
non-audit services for review of financial statements for the 
six months ended 30 June 2017 was HK$120,000. Save as 
disclosed above, there was no other significant non-audit 
services assignment undertaken by the external auditor during 
the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. TSE Kam Fai, the representative of Uni-1 Corporate Services 
Limited, resigned as the named Company Secretary of the 
Company on 29 September 2017.

Mr. YUEN Poi Lam William (“Mr. Yuen”), the representative 
of Proficient Skill Limited, has been appointed as the named 
Company Secretary of the Company since 29 September 
2017. His primary corporate contact person at the Company 
is Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the chief executive officer of the 
Company.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Yuen 
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training 
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity 
for communications between the shareholders and the Board. 
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each 
year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each 
general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be 
called an extraordinary general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN 
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting 
of the Company according to the provisions as set out in the 
Articles and The Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman 
Islands. The procedures shareholders can use to convene an 
extraordinary general meeting are set out in the document 
entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person 
for Election as a Director”, which is currently available on the 
Company’s website.
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(b) ʔˇ׵ɓϵΤٰ؇f

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO 
THE BOARD

To ensure effective communications between the Board and 
the shareholders and the investment community at large, the 
Company’s information is communicated to the shareholders 
and the investment community mainly through the Company’s 
financial reports (quarterly reports, interim reports and annual 
reports), and its corporate communications and other corporate 
publications on the Company’s website and the Exchange’s 
website. Shareholders and the investment community may 
at any time make a request for the Company’s information 
to the extent such information is publicly available. Any such 
questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at the 
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD 
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting 
forward a proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(a) any number of members hold ing not less than 
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company 
as at the date of the requisition carrying the right of voting 
at general meetings of the Company; or

(b) not less than one hundred members.



Corporate Governance Report 
Άุ၍طజѓ

  �

49Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

ٰ؇ᛆл�ᚃ�

ɽึɪ౤яᙄࣩʘ೻ҏ؇ٰ׵؇ٰ
�ᚃ� 

ᐄุήᓃяࠅ˴ಥ࠰ɨΐࣛගdΣ͉ʮ̡׵

჈͟הϞሗӋɛᖦ໇ʘሗӋࣣਓ͉אε΅ਓ

͉dԨᏐᖮʹԑ˸တԑ͉ʮ̡೯бϞᗫܔᙄ

Ӕᙄࣩʘஷѓאෂ৔΂О̀ࠅᑊה׼ც൬͜

ʘΥଣಛධj–

(i) ࡊ᙮ࠅӋ೯̈ᙄࣩஷѓٙሗӋࣣdۆ඲

ಂiʿ݋ࡈʬ׵ˇʔۃϞᗫึᙄᑘБ׵

(ii) ࡊ᙮΂ОՉ˼ሗӋࣣdۆ඲׵Ϟᗫึᙄ

ᑘБۃʔˇ׵ɓ݋ࡈಂf

͉ʮ̡ਗ਼ࣨᗇϞᗫሗӋࣣdɓ͇ᆽႩሗӋቇ

ΥʿѼ຅d໨ԫึਗ਼䋠˓ආБ̀ࠅ೻ҏf

ኮ௝˖΁

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd͉

ʮ̡ٙኮ௝˖΁Ԩೌᜊਗf

ၾٰ؇ʿҳ༟٫ٙ๖ஷ

໨ԫึႩΝၾהϞٰ؇ϞԄλٙ๖ஷ至ࠠމ

f͉ʮٰ̡ٙ؇ɽึ౤Զᘒ൮ఙΥ̙˿໨ࠅ

ԫึٜટၾٰ؇๖ஷf໨ԫึ˴ࢩ˸ʿᄲࣨ

։ึࡰe౤Τ։ึࡰʿᑚཇ։ึࡰ΢Іٙ˴

༆ഈٰ؇౤˸ࢩѩึ̈ࢪdஹΝ̮໌ࣨᅰࢩ

ਪfϋజஹΝϞᗫٰ؇඄ϋɽึٙஷՌٰ׵

؇඄ϋɽึᑘБۃ௰ˇɚɤࡈʈЪ˚੔೯ʚ

Ϟٰ؇fה

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD 
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING (Continued)

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall 
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the 
Company’s expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution 
or circulating any necessary statement, at the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:–

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than 
six weeks before the meeting; and

(ii) any other requisition, not less than one week before the 
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that 
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed 
with the necessary procedures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents 
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH 

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications 
with all shareholders. The Company’s general meeting is a 
valuation forum for the Board to communicate directly with 
the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as the 
chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee together with the 
external auditor are present to answer shareholders’ questions. 
The annual report together with annual general meeting circular 
is distributed to all the shareholders at least 20 clear business 
days before the annual general meeting.
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VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote of 
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except 
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution 
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to 
be voted on by a show of hands.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 

CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the 
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on 
an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review 
of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2017, covering all material controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with 
a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and 
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s 
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are 
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates 
any material issues to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group appointed 
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Risk Assurance Limited (“Baker Tilly”) to:

• assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group 
through a series of workshops and interviews; and

• independently perform internal control review and assess 
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 

CONTROL (Continued)

The results of the independent review and assessment were 
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover, 
improvements in internal control and risk management 
measures as recommended by Baker Tilly to enhance the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group and 
mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based 
on the findings and recommendations of Baker Tilly as well as 
the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board considered 
the internal control and risk management systems effective and 
adequate.

OUR ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK

The Company has established its enterprise risk management 
framework in 2016. Whi le the Board has the overal l 
responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal controls 
are maintained, management is responsible for designing and 
implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of 
risks facing by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks 
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. 
Our risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise 
Risk Management – Integrated Framework, which allows the 
Board and management to manage the risks of the Group 
effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit 
Committee that oversees risk management and internal audit 
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 

CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate 
governance structure with operational management and 
controls performed by operations management, coupled with 
risk management monitoring carried out by the finance and 
compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced 
to and conducted by Baker Tilly. The Group maintains a risk 
register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. 
The risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee, 
and management with a profile of its major risks and records 
management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks. 
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood 
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The 
risk register is updated by management as the risk owners 
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if 
applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has 
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group 
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all 
risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of 
and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they 
can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management 
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our r isk 
management framework will be evaluated at least annually, and 
periodic management meeting is held to update the progress 
of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure 
that risk management forms part of the daily business operation 
processes in order to align risk management with corporate 
goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent 
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls 
and risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s 
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.



Corporate Governance Report 
Άุ၍طజѓ

  �

53Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

ࠬᎈ၍ଣʿʫ௅္છ�ᚃ� 

ࠬᎈ္છዚՓ�ᚃ�

ତ͉ࣛණྠԨೌʫ௅ᄲࣨ௅ژf໨ԫʊᏨী

ʫ௅ᄲࣨ௅ژʘცࠅd־ഃႩމ˸͉ණྠุ

ਕʘ஝ᅼe׌ሯʿഐ࿴ϾԊdίც̮͜໌ࣛࠅ

໌ዹͭਖ਼ุɛɻ͉މණྠආБʫ௅ᄲࣨʈЪd

һՈϓ͉ࣖूf್Ͼd໨ԫਗ਼ึᘱᚃ௰ˇӊϋ

Ꮸীɓϣ݊щცࠅʫ௅ᄲࣨ௅ژf

ʫ࿇༟ࣘ的ஈଣʿ೯б

͉ʮ̡࣬ኽᗇՎʿಂ஬ԫਕ္࿀։׵ึࡰɚ

ཧɓɚϋʬ˜཯б �ٙʫ࿇ऊמࢹᚣܸˏ�஝

၍ʫ࿇༟ࣘٙஈଣʿ೯бd˸ᆽڭʫ࿇༟ࣘ

੗ʿϞᗫڭၪܵۃᚣʘמ˸ʚࡘᐏቇ຅ҭ׵

༟ࣘ˸Ϟࣖʿɓٙߧ˙ό೯бf͉ʮ̡֛ಂ

౤፴໨ԫʿ྇ࡰѼഛ፭ςהϞϞᗫʫ࿇ऊࢹ

ٙ݁ഄfϤ̮d͉ʮ̡ᜫ໨ԫe৷ॴ၍ଣɛࡰ

ʿ྇ࡰ౛౥௰อ္ٙ၍஝֛ᜊਗf͉ʮ̡ਗ਼

ᇜႡאһอΥቇܸˏ݁אഄ˸ᆽڭ፭ς္၍

஝֛f

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 

CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM (Continued)

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. 
The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and 
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more 
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to 
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet 
its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at 
least annually the need for an internal audit function.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE 
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside 
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside 
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission 
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential 
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately 
approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently 
and consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the 
Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies 
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company keeps 
Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the 
latest regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update 
appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with 
regulatory requirements.
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The Company is pleased to present its Environmental, Social 
and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The content contained herein 
focuses on providing an overview of the environmental, social 
and governance performance of its major operations in Hong 
Kong and the PRC from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017. 
This also facilitates the Group to conduct thorough performance 
review and evaluation to enhance the overall performance 
results in the future. The reporting period is consistent with its 
financial year.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in 
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report 
summarizes our ESG performance of our four major business 
units, namely, ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangzhou Nowtop 
Technology Company Limited*)(“Guangzhou Nowtop”), ᄿ؇ᇲ
ऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development 
Ltd. Co.*) (“Bluesea Mobile”), ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕ
Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Shenzhen Bees Financial Internet Financial Services 
Co. Ltd.*) (“Bees Financial”) and the Company, from 1 January 
2017 to 31 December 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
ᐑྤe ٟึʿ၍طజѓ
 
 

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

With growing concern for the climate change in the globe, 
we have implemented eco-friendly measures to reduce the 
environmental footprint from our business operations. For the 
year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material issue of 
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to 
the environment.

EMISSIONS

Air emissions, including nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides 
(“SOx”), etc., are the key air pollutants in Hong Kong and the 
Pearl River Delta. The Group’s business operations do not 
involve massive gaseous fuel consumption, so no material air 
emission source is identified in the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases contribute to global warming, which leads 
to climate changes and threatens the ecosystem of the whole 
world. Acting as a corporate with social responsibility, we see 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions as part of our tasks.

Although the Group does not own or control any operation 
leading to direct emissions of greenhouse gases, the Group 
is involved in some indirect emissions of greenhouse gases 
through purchases of electricity, disposals of paper waste and 
business air travel by its employees. The total greenhouse gas 
emissions of the Group were approximately 7,264 tonnes of 
CO2 equivalent in the financial year 20171. The emissions of the 
Group were mainly indirect energy emissions, which accounted 
for more than 99% of the Group’s total carbon emissions. Our 
total greenhouse gas emissions were approximately 10.86 
tonnes of CO2 equivalent per employee2.

1. 0.71 kg per kWh was taken as the emission factor of electricity 
supplied in the Mainland.

2. Both the Group’s employees and employees employed by our 
employment agent were taken into account for calculating per 
employee emissions data.
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To reduce our greenhouse gas emissions, we have promoted 
efficiency in the usage of resources, including electricity and 
paper. Apart from posting some reminders regarding energy 
conservation and paper saving, we have also upgraded the 
hardware of our office into one with more energy efficient 
options, such as the LED lighting.

Guangzhou Nowtop and Bluesea Mobile had relatively higher 
energy consumption due to the electricity consumption of 
their Internet Data Centers (“IDCs”). Yet, we have invested in 
several energy-efficient facilities, aiming to reduce the electricity 
consumption in the IDCs, and thus the emissions of greenhouse 
gases.

Environmental Investment in IDCs

The Group owns two IDCs in Guangzhou. To reduce the 
electricity consumption of the IDCs, the Group invested in 
several energy-efficient facilities, believing that it is not only 
investing for business purpose, but also investing for a better 
environment in the future. Those energy-efficient facilities 
included an air-conditioning system, which could automatically 
adjust its speed according to the room temperature, and 
save over 15% of energy when comparing to the traditional 
air-conditioning system. A cooling tower with an efficient water 
pump for cooling hot computer components was also installed. 
Alike the air-conditioning system, the cooling tower could also 
automatically adjust its speed according to its usage. The 
commencement of usage of those facilities in February 2017 
was a milestone of our energy-saving efforts.

Looking ahead, we expect the several energy-efficient 
facilities commence to help continue reducing our electricity 
consumption. With our efforts in promoting environmental 
protection awareness among employees, the paper wastes 
disposed as well as our total greenhouse gas emissions are 
both expected to reduce in the coming years.
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Waste Management

The principal operating activities of the Group include provision 
of telecommunication products and services as well as Internet 
finance platform services. The business operations of the Group 
produce no hazardous waste, e.g. chemical wastes, clinical 
wastes and hazardous chemicals.

On the other hand, the Group promotes repairs and 
maintenance for reducing non-hazardous waste. With 
decreasing availability of suitable land for landfill and increasing 
environmental impacts of waste disposal, waste reduction 
has always been one of the objectives of the Group. The only 
output of our non-hazardous waste in the financial year 2017 
was mainly paper waste, which amounted to approximately 
1,400 kg. With a total of 669 employees3, the paper waste 
produced by each of our employees was approximately 2.1 kg 
during the year. We encouraged double-sided printing, and so, 
single-side-printed paper was collected for re-use. With our 
waste reduction efforts, we are confident to reduce our paper 
waste in the coming years.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group is committed to becoming a resource-saving and 
environment-friendly enterprise to promote environmental 
protection.

Energy Consumption4

The total energy consumption for the financial year 2017 was 
10,182 MWh. The electricity consumed by the Group was the 
largest contributor to the greenhouse gas footprint, compared 
to other energy consumption. To reduce the Group’s carbon 
and energy footprints, the Group has posted some energy 
conservation reminders in place, and continued to upgrade the 
office hardware into one with more energy efficient options.

3. Data included both the Group’s employees and employees 
employed by its employment agent.

4. Both the Group’s employees and employees employed by its 
employment agent were taken into account for calculating the 
electricity consumption data per employee.
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The reason for relatively higher energy consumption of 
Guangzhou Nowtop and Bluesea Mobile were due to the 
electricity consumption of their IDCs. Measures have been taken 
to reduce electricity consumption of the IDCs as stated in the 
chapter “Environmental Investment in IDCs” above.

Paper Usage

Eff iciency in usage of paper has been promoted and 
communicated to our staff. We encourage using electronic 
documents to replace paper-form hardcopies, and printing with 
double-sided paper. The used single-sided paper is collected for 
reuse. By these measures, the paper usage was approximately 
1,400 kg in 2017, and we are confident to reduce the figure in 
the coming years.

Water Consumption & Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations mainly focus on providing services, 
both water consumption and packaging material consumption 
of the Group are not seen as having material impacts on the 
environment.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that corporate development should not 
come at the expense of the environment. Therefore, we have 
been adopting environmental friendly practice in various 
aspects. For example, we invested in several energy-efficient 
facilities in our IDCs, and have been adopting paperless working 
environment to reduce unnecessary paper wastage.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report 
ᐑྤe�ٟึʿ၍طజѓ

  �

59Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

SECTION B: SOCIAL – EMPLOYMENT AND 

LABOUR PRACTICES

EMPLOYMENT

Our staff are always treasured as the most valuable assets 
to the Group, helping to contribute to our success, since our 
staff help serve our customers, contribute innovative ideas and 
bring the Group to a new level of achievement. Without their 
continued commitment and contribution, the Group would not 
be able to achieve our corporate goals.

Our Employees

Our headcounts consisted of 209 staff as at 31 December 
2017, with approximately 40% of them being female and 60% 
of them being male. We had also 460 staff who were employed 
by an employment agent and involved in our daily operations. 
The Group believes that maintaining a diverse and inclusive 
workforce with due respect given to its employees is so critical 
to running a sustainable and successful business.

40%

60%
Female ɾ׌

Male Ӳ׌

Employment by Gender in 2017
二零一七年按׌別劃分的僱傭情況
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36-45
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Employment by Age Group in 2017
二零一七年按年齡組別劃分的僱傭情況

We treasure every employee and we work together as a team. 
Due to acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the 
period, the employee turnover rate may not be a good indicator 
to reflect our ability to retain talents. From time to time, we hold 
team-building activities and even company trips in order to 
maintain close relationship with our employees so that we work 
closely as a family. With our consistent efforts in retaining our 
talented staff, we are confident that we are able to maintain our 
team.
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Employee Benefits

The Group offers a comprehensive employee benefits package 
for all its dedicated, talented staff. Staff are compensated 
fairly according to their contributions, with reference to the 
market practice. Year-end double pay, bonuses and share 
options are also provided according to the employee’s and 
the Group’s performance. Staff’s performance is reviewed and 
assessed annually. In this respect, a transparent mechanism 
takes into account various factors, including but not limited to, 
employees’ attendance performance, capability, attitude, team 
spirit, communication skills and contributions to the Group, for 
incentives of salary increase and promotion.

In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund, 
employees’ compensation insurance and the Mainland 
employees’ social insurance and housing funds with reference 
to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labour 
Law of the People’s Republic of China.

Harmonious Workspace

The Group strives for building a harmonious and inclusive 
working environment, f ree from any harassment and 
discrimination. The Group respects human rights, providing 
equal opportunities for its staff, regardless of their age, race, 
gender, national origin, religion, physical condition, medical 
condition, marital status and/or sexual orientation. The Group’s 
equal opportunity policy is applicable towards its recruitment, 
training and development, recognition and reward, and 
termination and dismissal.

In case any staff member feels that he/she has been sexually 
harassed or discriminated, he/she should immediately inform 
the Administration Manager for investigation and follow-up. If 
necessary, the Group would set up an investigation committee 
which directly reports to the Board.
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Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that taking a break by its staff from time 
to time is necessary for accomplishing the long-term goals of 
the Group, and so, it strives to strike a proper work-life balance 
of its employees, providing them from 7 to 20 days of annual 
leave, and 5 days’ work per week with seven and a half working 
hours per day. Overtime compensation would be 1.5 to 2 times 
of the staff’s basic salary. Employees are also entitled special 
leaves to meet their families’ needs, such as marriage leave, 
funeral leave and maternity leave, etc.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to providing a safe working environment 
for its employees. The Group aims not only to meet the 
minimum occupational health and safety standards required by 
law, but to exceed them. The department heads are responsible 
for ensuring that appropriate policies, procedures and safeguard 
measures are put in practice. If employees feel uncomfortable 
with a certain task assigned, he/she should inform the 
department heads for help. For any injuries, the department 
heads are responsible for providing aids immediately, and 
investigating the cases.

The Group purchases medical insurances for all its staff against 
any clinical, dental, hospital and surgery costs. The labour 
insurance and housing provident fund are closely monitored 
and adjusted according to the headcounts. In the light of these 
practices, no death or permanent disability case was noted 
during 2017, and no lost day of work due to work injury was 
noted.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group provided a wide variety of training to its staff to 
encourage positive behaviour of the employees, and to equip 
employees with the work-related skills. In 2017, the Group 
provided approximately 350 hours of training to its employees, 
including induction training and technical skills training. The 
Group encourages all its employees to continue learning in order 
to promote their career growth and development. Employees 
joining external vocational training are subsidized by the Group.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Respecting human rights has been an integral part of the 
Group’s approach to sustainability. The Group fully complies 
with labour laws and other relevant legislation that prohibit 
child labour and forced labour. The Group does not employ 
any person below the age of eighteen at its workplace. Any 
violence, with the purpose of deliberately causing difficulties, 
threats and/or corporal punishment, forcing employees to work 
is prohibited. The Group strives to ensure that no employee is 
forced to work against his/her will, or work as forced labour, or 
be made subject to corporal punishment or coercion of any type 
relating to work.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material 
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation 
to labour standards.

Communication with Employees

The Group strives to create an open environment in which 
staff are able to speak up with ideas and issues. Employees 
are welcome to provide comments and feedback directly to 
their supervisors, department heads or the administration 
department. Meetings are held for management to update the 
employees with the Group’s news. Employees are welcome 
to freely express their opinion in the meetings. In case of 
any complaint received from employees, an independent 
investigation and the appropriate follow-up actions would be 
taken, if necessary. Through both top-down and bottom-up 
communication, the Group is confident that harmonious 
relationship with its employees is achieved.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL – OPERATING 

PRACTICES

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group recognizes that proper management of its supply 
chain could bring positive impacts to the social environment. 
The Group implements rigorous management of its suppliers. 
In this regard, a list of approved suppliers has been established 
and reviewed regularly. The financial and operational background 
(including recognized qualifications and licenses, etc.) of the 
suppliers, price level, and terms and conditions of supply are all 
taken into consideration.

The suppliers are encouraged to demonstrate their corporate 
social responsibilities by complying with corporate social 
responsibility codes as well as business ethics, with respect 
to workplace operations, marketing activities, social contacts 
and environmental responsibilities. High standards of morality 
which include prohibition of provision and acceptance of 
bribes and/or other unfair benefits are adopted by the Group. 
Information of business activities, business structure, financial 
status and financial performance, etc. should be disclosed only 
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing services with high 
standards of quality and reliability, as well as protecting the 
personal information of its customers. Employees are required 
to sign the non-disclosure agreement when they join the 
Group to ensure proper maintenance of confidentiality of the 
Group’s business strategies and protect customers’ data 
privacy. Directors and staff should avoid any conflicts of interest 
situation, at which their private interest conflicts with the Group’s 
interest. Staff are required to make declaration through reporting 
to management, declaring that they uphold the Group’s interest 
without being influenced by their private interest, when any 
actual or potential conflicts of interest arise.
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Ϥ̮d؂܄௅ܲӊ݋ಂ7˂ӊ˂24ʃࣛ༶Ъd
˸ஈଣ܄˒ҳൡʿݟ༔fҢࡁʊϓͭεࡈಬ

༸Զڌ˒܄༺จԈձ౤̈પᑥจԈdν܄˒

؂ਕᆠᇞeཥඉʿٟʹၣഖʈՈfҢߧࡁɢ׵

ீཀϽᅇ܄˒ٙӊධจԈאˀ㉿౤ʺପۜʿ

؂ਕሯ९f

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd฿

ೌᘌࠠʔ፭ςପۜப΂޴ᗫቇ͜جܛج஝ٙ

ઋرf

ˀ஭Ϯ

ʊࡁආԄλʿϞ༸ᅃٙਠุ˖ʷdҢڮəމ

Փ֛Бމςۆ��Бމςۆ��ԶΌ᜗྇ࡰෂ
ቡfҢٙࡁБމςۆୌΥ࠰ಥก݁ʮ໇೯б

ٙˀ஭Ϯ݁ഄʿԣ˟༡༤ૢԷ࠰�ಥतйБ

݁ਜجԷୋ201௝�f྇̀ࡰ඲ᘌࣸ፭ςၾɪ
ຫ˟΂ОҖόࡁfҢܛجϞᗫٙቇ͜މБࠑ

ٙ༡༤ʿ஭Ϯf྇ࡰʔ੻މІԒлू॰אࠅ

ટա΂ОλஈdසϞ௅΅ڮቖᓿׂۜߏאي

˸ʿ̙྇ࡰίື˚ϗ՟ٙ௰৷ᄆ࠽ʔ൴ཀ

500ಥʩٙᓿيৰ̮dϾ־ഃʥ඲ਗ਼Ϥԫ˸ᅺ
๟ࣸڌҖόිజ͉ණྠdరӋϞᗫνОஈໄ

ᓿׂܸͪٙۜߏאيf

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd฿

ೌ΂ОΣ͉ණྠאՉ྇ࡰ౤ৎٙ஭ϮБ޴ࢰ

ᗫٙҁഐܛجൡதf

In addition, the customer service department operates with 24 
hours for 7 days per week to handle customers’ complaints 
and enquiries. Various channels have been set up for customers 
to express their comments and recommendations, such as 
customer service hotline, email and social networking tools. We 
strive to improve our quality of products and services by taking 
into consideration every comment or feedback received from 
customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material 
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to 
product responsibility.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

To promote good and ethical business culture, we have 
established the Code of Conduct (“CoC”) for circulation among 
all our employees. Our CoC is in line with the anti-corruption 
policy published by Hong Kong Independent Commission 
Against Corruption and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance 
(Cap. 201 of HKSAR Law). Our employees are required to 
comply strictly with applicable laws relating to the above acts. 
We prohibit all forms of bribery and corruption. Employees 
should not solicit or accept any advantage for themselves. 
Except for some promotional gifts or souvenirs, as well as 
gifts given on the occasion of festivals with a maximum limit of 
HK$500 in value which can be accepted by our employees, 
however, they should still need to report the case on a standard 
form to the Group and seek direction of how to handle the gifts 
or souvenirs.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no concluded 
legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the 
Group or its employees.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL – COMMUNITY

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group has demonstrated a strong commitment to the 
community by actively promoting the social development in 
internet science and technology innovation. In the view of this, 
the Group participates, and encourages the participation of its 
employees, in various charitable activities. In 2017, the Group’s 
contribution to public charities was approximately HK$24,000. 
There were 18 employees who participated in such charitable 
activities for a total of 342 hours.

Care children with inherited heart disease

There are some families in the Mainland China with their children 
suffering from inherited heart disease; however, their families 
cannot afford the expensive medical fees. We actively participate 
in the fundraising event held by the China Star Light Charity 
Fund Association, not only donating for the children’s surgeries, 
but also visiting their families to show support and help better 
plan the future fundraising events. We hope all children with 
inherited heart disease can receive medical treatment in a timely 
manner, and get well soon.

Support the recovery of the disabled

We care about the disadvantaged groups in the society. We 
have been sponsoring the physiotherapy services provided by 
the Rehabaid Society to the disabled for two years. We hope 
to help facilitate the recovery of the disabled. Moreover, giving 
the disadvantaged groups a helping hand can not only help 
enhance their emotional health, but makes it easier for them to 
integrate themselves into the society.

ୋBືjٟึÑٟਜ

ٟਜҳ༟

͉ණྠጐ฽પਗʝᑌၣ߅ኪʿҦஔ௴อ˙ࠦ

ٟٙึ೯࢝d࢝ͪəՉ࿁ٟਜٙ਺֛וፕfϞ

ԈʿϤd͉ණྠਞၾԨོᎸՉ྇ࡰਞၾ΢ᗳ

ฉഛݺਗf׵ɚཧɓɖϋd͉ණྠΣʮ΍ฉഛ

ዚ࿴Ъ࣏̈ಛ24,000ߒಥʩfҢࡁϞ18Τ྇
ਗdΥ΍ҳɝ342ʃࣛfݺਞၾəϞᗫฉഛࡰ

ᗫฌ΋˂׌ːᛔषՅഁ

ʕ਷ʫήϞ௅΅܀ٙࢬ࢕ɿጩઃ΋˂׌ːᛔ

षdϾ৷ٙ׻ᔼᐕ൬ᜫவԬࢬ࢕ૐʘۍӉfҢ

ਗdݺᑘ፬ٙᘪ༟ึږਿ˦݋ጐ฽ਞၾʕ਷ࡁ

ʔසމ༈ഃՅഁٙ˓ஔ࣏ಛd͵Ցஞ༈ഃ࢕

ݺᘪ༟ٙܝձᏍпһλή஝ྌʦܵ˕ͪ˸ࢬ

ਗfҢࡁҎૐהϞઃϞ΋˂׌ːᛔषٙՅഁ

ேঐʿࣛ੻ՑᔼطԨܘҞੰూf

౪пಞशɛɻੰూ

Ңࡁᗫึٟءɪٙಞशɛ໊dՇϋʫɓٜ༟

пಞशɛɻટաూੰ༟๕՘ึ౤Զٙيଣط

ᐕ؂ਕfҢࡁಂૐᏍпಞशɛɻးҞੰూfϤ

̮dΣಞशɛ໊݄˸౪˓ʔසϞп׵౤ʺ־

ഃٙઋၫ਄ੰd͵־׵کഃһჀᕦήፄɝٟ

ึf
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ҧம

ۜ࠮Ӏɿd৔ɪࡈՑஞၴᅅٙɓࡁɘ˜dҢ׵

ձيሯf͟׵ʹஷʔکd༈ӀɓཱིٜաமѢʘ

߮fҢོࡁᎸӀ͏ᘱᚃрɢኧ৸dن՟ྼତһ

λٙ͛ۜݺሯdԨၾՉઞীəঐ੄Ԑ̈ம߮

ٙ༩ɿfҢͣ׼ࡁdҧமٙ༸༩ᒔܘဘڗdϾ

Ңࡁঐ౤ԶٙᏍпɰϞࠢf್ϾdҢࡁଉၳڦ

ဈϓऎdҧமʈЪึίʦݔܝ˂՟੻ϓ̌f

ᓥ٫৔ɪᛇᆀ̙࢕ೌމ

ʕ݊ື߇εᅰɛၾ至ፋ至ฌᛇܓ৿ಂٙࣛՍd

ШʥϞ௅΅ೌ̙࢕ᓥج٫ೌ੻ԮϤԳືᛇᆀf

ʕື߇ԟ˂dҢࡁၾ࠰ಥٙೌ̙࢕ᓥ٫΍ܓ

əɓ዆ࡈૉɪdၾ־ഃʱԮي࠮ձආБʹሔf

Ңࡁ੽ʕͣ׼Ցdމ˼ɛ੭Ըᛇᆀ̙˸݊ɓ

΁ٙ׸࢙ܘԫઋdɓᓃᓃࣛගeɓࡈʾλٙฆ

३ʿ༐ᅚٙज़၅Ⴇఱ̙˸፬Ցf

ᑽ౪п٫ߧ

Ңࡁί؇ശɧ৫ٙᕼ͑ୗ٫ڗቌٸʕːᑘБ

ɓྗࡈ஢ᓿdชᑽϋʫқᗴ٫ٙԔා˹̈fա

Ցྗ஢ٙқᗴ٫̻ѩϋᙧ65歲˸ɪdШʥጐ
฽ҳԒ؂׵ਕٟਜf݄ˢաһϞ၅fҢࣖึࡁ

ͷ༈ഃқᗴ٫dᘱᚃ؂ਕٟਜf

Υ஝္၍

జѓಂʫd͉ණྠԨʔٝ઄΂Оʔ፭ςર׳e

྇඿e਄ੰၾτΌe௶ʈ๟ۆeପۜப΂ʿˀ

஭Ϯ޴ᗫجܛج஝˲࿁͉ණྠ࿴ϓࠠɽᅂᚤ

ٙઋرf

Support poverty alleviation

In September, we visited a village in Zhaoqing to deliver food 
and materials. Due to traffic inconvenience, the village has been 
suffering from poverty. We encouraged the villagers to continue 
working in anticipation of better quality of life and discussed 
the possible ways to achieve poverty alleviation with them. We 
understand that poverty alleviation is a long way to go, and 
what we can help is limited. However, many little drops make an 
ocean, and so, we believe poverty alleviation could be achieved 
sometime in the future.

Spread joy to the homeless

At the Mid-Autumn Festival, when most people were sharing 
their joy with their beloved ones, there were still some homeless 
not enjoying the festival. We spent a whole night at the 
Mid-Autumn Festival with the homeless in Hong Kong, sharing 
food and chatting with them. We learnt that it could be easy to 
bring joy to the others, with only a little time, a friendly smile and 
a word of sincere bliss.

Appreciating the helping hands

We held an appreciation ceremony with Pong Wing Shiu 
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals 
to appreciate the efforts made by the volunteers over the year. 
The appreciated volunteers were over 65 years old on average; 
however, they still engaged themselves actively in serving the 
community. It is more blessed to give than to receive. We learn 
from those volunteers and continue serving the community.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and 
regulations that has a significant impact on the Group relating 
to emissions, employment, health and safety, labour standards, 
product responsibility and anti-corruption during the reporting 
period.
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؇ණྠϞࠢʮٰ̡ڦʕ਷อཥߧ
�ൗ̅ϓͭٙϞࠢʮ̡ࢥකਟ໊׵�

จԈ

͉ࣨᅰࢪ�˸ɨᔊ၈�Ңࡁ��ʊᄲࠇΐ༱׵
ୋ76至238ࠫٙʕ਷อཥڦණྠϞࠢʮ �̡˸

ɨᔊ၈�൮ʮ̡��ʿ Չڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕၈�൮ණ
ྠ��ٙ ၝΥৌਕజڌdϤၝΥৌਕజܼ̍ڌ

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ٙၝΥৌਕً׵

ၝΥฦूʿՉ˼Όٙܓၾ࿚至༈˚˟ϋڌر

ࠦϗूڌeၝΥᛆूᜊਗڌձၝΥତݴږඎ

݁ࠇึࠅ˴ൗdܼ̍ڝڌd˸ʿၝΥৌਕజڌ

ഄ฿ࠅf

ҢࡁႩމd༈ഃၝΥৌਕజڌʊ࣬ኽ࠰ಥึ

ʮࢪࠇ ಥ࠰�ʮึ��཯бٙࢪࠇಥึ࠰�ึ�
ৌਕజѓ๟࠰���ۆಥৌਕజѓ๟ॆ��ۆ ྼ

Ͼʕٵήˀ݈ə ൮ණྠ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ
˜ɧɤɓ˚ٙၝΥৌਕًرʿ࿚至༈˚˟ϋ

ඎdԨʊ፭ݴږତʿၝΥତڌၝΥৌਕٙܓ

๫࠰ಥ�ʮ̡ૢԷ�ٙמᚣ஝֛ѼމᏝ௪f

國 衛 會 計 師 事 務 所 有 限 公 司
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

31/F, Gloucester Tower 
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEO TELEMEDIA LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 
238, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
ዹͭࣨᅰࢪజѓ
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จԈٙਿᓾ

Ңࡁʊ࣬ኽ࠰ಥึࢪࠇʮึ཯бٙ࠰�ಥᄲ

ࡁfҢࠇ��ආБᄲۆ๟ࠇಥᄲ࠰���ۆ๟ࠇ
ί༈ഃ๟ۆɨוዄٙப΂ʊί͉జѓ�ࣨᅰ

ዄٙப΂�௅΅ʕוڌၝΥৌਕజࠇఱᄲࢪ

ЪආɓӉᙕࠑf࣬ኽ࠰ಥึࢪࠇʮึ཯бٙ

�ਖ਼ุึࢪࠇ༸ᅃςۆ���ςۆ��dҢࡁዹ
ʕٙՉ˼༸ᅃۆ൮ණྠdԨʊᄵБς ׵ͭ
ப΂fҢڦ޴ࡁdҢהࡁᐏ੻ٙᄲࠇኯᗇঐ̂

ԑʿቇ຅ήމҢٙࡁจԈ౤Զਿᓾf

ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ݊࣬ኽҢٙࡁਖ਼ุкᓙdႩމ

࿁͉ಂၝΥৌਕజٙڌᄲࠇ௰ٙࠅࠠމԫධf

வԬԫධ݊ίҢࡁᄲࠇ዆᜗ၝΥৌਕజڌʿ

̈ՈจԈࣛආБஈଣٙfҢࡁʔึ࿁வԬԫ

ධ౤ԶఊዹٙจԈf

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.
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Key audit matter
ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Ңࡁ的ᄲࠇνОஈଣᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

Impairment assessments on goodwill and intangible assets
ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽൙П

Refer to notes 3, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
ਞቡၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ3e21ʿ22f

The Group has goodwill and intangible assets with 
carrying amounts of approximately HK$195,139,000 
and HK$292,059,000 respect ive ly which are 
allocated to the cash-generating-units of sale of 
telecommunication products and services and internet 
finance platform (“CGUs”) as at 31 December 2017. 
Management performed impairment assessment 
of CGUs and concluded that no impairment on the 
goodwill and intangible assets is necessary to provide. 
This conclusion was based on value-in-use model that 
required management judgment with respect to the 
discount rate and underlying cash flows, in particular 
future revenue growth and capital expenditure. 
Independent external valuation reports were obtained 
in order to support management’s estimates.
ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d ൮ණྠʱৣ至ቖ׵
ਯཥڦପۜʿ؂ਕ˸ʿʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕʘତږ

ପ͛ఊЗ��ତږପ͛ఊЗ��ʘਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପٙሪ
195,139,000ಥʩʿ292,059,000ಥʩfމߒʱй࠽ࠦ
၍ଣᄴʊ࿁ତږପ͛ఊЗආБಯ࠽൙ПԨႩމˡ඲

ఱਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପࠇ౤ಯ࠽ᅡ௪fϤഐሞɗਿ׵Դ͜

ᄆ࠽ᅼۨЪ̈d༈ᅼۨცࠅ၍ଣᄴఱұତଟʿ޴ᗫତ

މʿ༟͉ක˕fڗЪ̈кᓙdˈՉ݊͊Ըϗूᄣݴږ

˕ܵ၍ଣᄴʘПࠇdʊ՟੻ዹ̮ͭ௅П࠽జѓf

Our procedures in relation to the management’s 
impairment assessment included:
Ңࡁఱ၍ଣᄴಯ࠽൙ПආБʘ೻ҏܼ̍j

• Evaluating the independent external valuer’s 
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

• ൙Пዹ̮ͭ௅Пࢪ࠽ʘ௷΂׌eঐɢʿ܄ᝈ׌i

• Assessing the methodologies used and the 
appropriateness of the key assumptions based 
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and 
using our valuation experts;

• ਿ׵Ңࡁ࿁޴ᗫБุʘႩᗆʿਗ͜ҢٙࡁП࠽

ਖ਼࢕൙Пהમ͜ʘ˙جʿ˴ࠅ৿ணʘΥቇ׌i

• Challenging the reasonableness of key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the 
business and industry; and

• ࣬ኽҢࡁ࿁ϞᗫุਕʿБุʘႩᗆᄲࠅ˴ݟ৿

ண݊щΥଣiʿ

• Checking, on sampling basis, the accounting 
and relevance of the input data used.

f׌ᗫ޴ஈଣʿࠇ፩ɝᅰኽʘึ͜הݟᅵᏨפ •

We found the key assumptions were supported by the 
available evidence.
ҢࡁႩࠅ˴މ৿ணϞ̙੻ᗇኽ˕ᅟf

ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ�ᚃ�KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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Key audit matter
ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Ңࡁ的ᄲࠇνОஈଣᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

Impairment assessments on trade and other receivables
൱׸ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘಯ࠽൙П

Refer to note 3, 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
ਞቡၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ3e26ʿ27f

T h e  G r o u p  h a s  t r a d e  r e c e i v a b l e s ,  o t h e r 
receivables of approximately HK$725,354,000, 
and HK$293,783,000, respectively. Management 
judgement is required in assessing and determining 
the recoverability of trade and other receivables and 
adequacy of allowance made.
൮ණྠʘ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʱйމߒ

725,354,000ಥʩʿ293,783,000ಥʩf൙Пʿᔾ֛൱
Ъᅡ௪ʘԑ੄הʿ˸׌ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘ̙ϗΫ׸

၍ଣᄴЪ̈кᓙfࠅც׌

The judgement mainly includes estimating and 
evaluating expected future receipts from customers 
based on past payment trend, age of the debtors, 
knowledge of the customers’ businesses and financial 
condition.
кᓙ˴ܼ࣬̍ࠅኽཀֻ˹ಛᒈැeවਕሪᙧe࿁܄˒

ุਕʿৌਕًرʘə༆Пࠇʿ൙Пཫಂ͊ԸІ܄˒

ϗ՟ʘಛධf

Our procedures in relation to the management’s 
impairment assessment on trade and other receivables 
included:
Ңࡁఱ၍ଣᄴ࿁൱׸ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ˸ʿᏐϗ൲ಛ

ಯ࠽൙ПආБʘ೻ҏܼ̍j

• Discussing the Group’s procedures on credit 
limits and periods given to customers with the 
management;

• ၾ၍ଣᄴীሞ ൮ණྠഗʚڦ˒܄൲ɪࠢʿڦ
൲ಂʘ೻ҏi

• Evaluating the management’s impairment 
assessment on trade and other receivables;

• ൙П၍ଣᄴ࿁൱׸ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘಯ࠽൙Пi

ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ�ᚃ�KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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Key audit matter
ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Ңࡁ的ᄲࠇνОஈଣᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ

• Assessing, validating and discussing with the 
management and evaluating their assessment 
on the recoverability of the outstanding debts 
and the adequacy of allowance made based 
on the trade and other receivables ageing 
analysis, collections subsequent to the end of 
the reporting period, past collection history and 
trend analysis and knowledge of the businesses, 
with focus on long outstanding debts and debts 
which are past due but not impaired; and

• ࣬ኽ൱׸ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘሪᙧʱؓe׵జѓ

ಂഐҼܝʘϗಛઋرeཀֻϗಛዝ̦ʿᒈැʱ

ؓ˸ʿ࿁ุਕ�ˈՉڗࠠءಂ͊Ꮅᒔවਕʿʊ

གྷಂШ͊ಯ࠽ʘවਕ�ʘə༆൙ПeࣨྼԨၾ၍

ଣᄴীሞʿ൙П־ഃ࿁͊Ꮅᒔවਕʘ̙ϗΫ׌

Ъ̈ʘ൙ПʿהЪᅡ௪݊щ̂ԑiʿ

• Checking on a sample basis, the accuracy 
and relevance of information included in the 
impairment assessment of trade and other 
receivables.

༱ה൙Пʕ࠽ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධಯ׸൱ݟᅵᏨפ •

༟ࣘٙ๟ᆽ׌ʿ޴ᗫ׌f

We consider the management conclusion to be 
consistent with the available information.
ҢࡁႩމ၍ଣᄴʘഐሞၾה੻༟ࣘ޴ୌf

ᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධ�ᚃ�KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)



72 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued) 
ዹͭࣨᅰࢪజѓ��ᚃ�
  �

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 

OF THE COMPANY AND THE AUDIT 

COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

Չ˼ࢹڦ

൮ʮ̡໨ԫც࿁Չ˼ࠋࢹڦபfՉ˼̍ࢹڦ

ܼ̊༱׵ϋజʫٙࢹڦdШʔܼ̍ၝΥৌਕ

జڌʿҢࣨٙࡁᅰࢪజѓf��Չ˼ࢹڦ��f

Ңࡁ࿁ၝΥৌਕజٙڌจԈԨʔ଄ႊՉ˼ڦ

΂ОҖόڌ೯ࢹڦ˼ʔ࿁༈ഃՉ͵ࡁdҢࢹ

ٙᛡᗇഐሞf

ഐΥҢࡁ࿁ၝΥৌਕజٙڌᄲࠇdҢٙࡁப

΂݊ቡᛘՉ˼ࢹڦdίϤཀ೻ʕdϽᅇՉ˼ڦ

ཀ೻ʕࠇίᄲࡁҢאڌщၾၝΥৌਕజ݊ࢹ

٫Ч˷πίࠠאᙃתπίࠠɽرə༆ٙઋה

ɽ፹Ⴌ௓ٙࠑઋرfਿ׵ҢࡁʊੂБٙʈЪd

ν؈ҢࡁႩމՉ˼ࢹڦπίࠠɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠑd

Ңࡁცࠅజѓ༈ԫྼfίவ˙ࠦdҢࡁӚϞ΂

Оజѓf

͉ʮ̡໨ԫʿᄲࣨ։ึࡰఱၝ

Υৌਕజڌ඲וዄٙப΂ 

 

൮ʮ̡໨ԫ඲ࠋப࣬ኽ࠰ಥึࢪࠇʮึ཯б

�ಥ�ʮ̡ૢԷ࠰�ʿۆಥৌਕజѓ๟࠰�ٙ

dڌၝΥৌਕజٙٵᚣ஝֛Ꮭ௪ॆྼϾʕמٙ

Ԩ࿁ՉႩމމԴၝΥৌਕజٙڌᏝ௪ʔπί

ცהࠑɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠠٙߧ፹ႬϾኬאಜൟ׵͟

ٙʫ௅છՓࠋபf

ίᏝ௪ၝΥৌਕజࣛڌd໨ԫࠋப൙П ൮
ණྠܵᚃ຾ᐄٙঐɢdԨίቇ͜ઋرɨמᚣ

ၾܵᚃ຾ᐄϞᗫٙԫධd˸ʿԴܵ͜ᚃ຾ᐄ

໨ԫϞจਗ਼ ൮ණྠ૶ᆵڢਿᓾdৰࠇึމ
йೌՉ˼ྼყٙಁ˾˙ࣩfא຾ᐄd˟৾א

ᄲࣨ։ึࡰ඲ࠋப္ຖ ൮ණྠٙৌਕజѓ
ཀ೻f
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ࣨᅰࢪఱᄲࠇၝΥৌਕజוڌ

ዄٙப΂ 

Ңͦٙࡁᅺd݊࿁ၝΥৌਕజڌ዆᜗݊щʔ

πί͟׵ಜൟא፹ႬϾኬࠠٙߧɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠑ

՟੻ΥଣڭᗇdԨ̈Ոܼ̍ҢࡁจԈٙࣨᅰ

዆᜗�జѓҢމසΣ ტɨ�ЪࡁజѓfҢࢪ
จԈdৰϤʘ̮d͉జѓ฿ೌՉ˼͜௄fٙࡁ

Ңࡁʔึఱ͉జѓٙʫ࢙Σ΂ОՉ˼ɛɻࠋ

ɪואዄ΂Оப΂f

Υଣڭᗇ݊৷˥̻ٙڭᗇdШʔঐڭᗇܲ๫

ɓࠠɽݔdίࠇ�ආБٙᄲۆ๟ࠇಥᄲ࠰�

፹Ⴌ௓ࠑπίࣛᐼঐ೯ତf፹Ⴌ௓̙ࠑ˸͟

ಜൟא፹Ⴌˏৎdν؈Υଣཫಂ̴ࡁఊዹא

ිᐼৎԸ̙ঐᅂᚤၝΥৌਕజڌԴ͜٫Ա፠

ၝΥৌਕజהڌЪ̈ٙ຾᏶Ӕ֛dۆϞᗫٙ

፹Ⴌ௓̙ࠑ஗ൖЪࠠɽf

ί࣬ኽ࠰�ಥᄲࠇ๟ۆ�ආБᄲٙࠇཀ೻ʕd

Ңࡁ༶͜əਖ਼ุкᓙdܵڭəਖ਼ุᕿဲ࿒ܓf

Ңࡁ͵j

• ᗆйձ൙П͟׵ಜൟא፹ႬϾኬߧၝΥ

ৌਕజڌπίࠠɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠬٙࠑᎈdண

˸೻ҏ˸Ꮠ࿁வԬࠬᎈdࠇʿੂБᄲࠇ

ʿᐏ՟̂ԑձቇ຅ٙᄲࠇኯᗇdЪމҢ

ಜൟ̙ঐऒʿЕፑe׵จԈٙਿᓾf͟ࡁ

৽ிeႅจ፲ဍeൈ৿௓ࠑdࡗאቷ׵ʫ

௅છՓʘɪdΪϤ͊ঐ೯ତΪಜൟϾኬ

ঐ೯ତ͊׵ᎈ৷ࠬٙࠑɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠠٙߧ

Ϊ፹ႬϾኬࠠٙߧɽ፹Ⴌ௓ࠬٙࠑᎈf

• ə༆ၾᄲ޴ࠇᗫٙʫ௅છՓd˸ணࠇቇ

຅ٙᄲࠇ೻ҏdШͦٙԨڢ࿁ ൮ණྠ
ʫ௅છՓٙϞࣖ׌೯ڌจԈf

• ൙ᄆ໨ԫהમ͜ึ݁ࠇഄٙܦ຅׌ʿЪ

f׌ᚣٙΥଣמᗫ޴ձࠇПࠇึ̈

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We 
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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• ࿁໨ԫમܵ͜ᚃ຾ᐄึࠇਿᓾٙܦ຅

ኯᗇdࠇᐏ՟ٙᄲהЪ̈ഐሞf࣬ኽ׌

ᆽ֛݊щπίၾԫධאઋرϞᗫٙࠠɽ

ʔᆽ֛׌d੽Ͼ̙ঐኬߧ࿁ ൮ණྠٙ
ܵᚃ຾ᐄঐɢପ͛ࠠɽဲᅇfν؈Ңࡁ

Ⴉމπίࠠɽʔᆽ֛׌dۆϞ̀ࠅίࣨ

ᅰࢪజѓʕ౤ሗԴ͜ء٫จၝΥৌਕజ

ʕٙ޴ᗫמᚣf৿߰Ϟᗫٙמᚣʔԑd

ٙࡁवจԈfҢڭೌڢڌᏐ຅೯ࡁҢۆ

ഐሞ݊ਿࣨ׵ᅰࢪజѓ˚˟ה՟੻ٙᄲ

ঐኬ̙رઋאኯᗇf್Ͼd͊Ըԫධࠇ

൮ණྠʔঐܵᚃ຾ᐄf ߧ

• ൙ᄆၝΥৌਕజٙڌ዆᜗ΐజ˙όeഐ

࿴ձʫ࢙dܼ̍מᚣd˸ʿၝΥৌਕజ

ձԫධf׸ʹᗫ޴ˀ݈ٵщʕ݊ڌ

• ఱ ൮ණྠʫྼ᜗ุאਕݺਗٙৌਕ༟
ࣘᐏ՟̂ԑeቇ຅ٙᄲࠇኯᗇd˸ک࿁

ၝΥৌਕజڌ೯ڌจԈfҢࠋࡁப ൮
ණྠᄲٙࠇ˙Σe္ຖձੂБfҢމࡁ

ᄲࠇจԈוዄΌ௅ப΂f

Ңࡁၾᄲࣨ։ึࡰ๖ஷəࠇྌٙᄲࠇᇍఖe

ࣛගτરeࠠɽᄲࠇ೯ତഃdܼ̍Ңࡁίᄲࠇ

ʕᗆй̈ʫ௅છՓٙ΂Оࠠɽॹ௘f

ҢࡁᒔΣᄲࣨ։ึࡰ౤ʹᑊ׼dႭ׼Ңࡁʊ

ୌΥϞᗫዹͭ޴ٙ׌ᗫਖ਼ุ༸ᅃࠅӋdԨၾ

ዹࡁᅂᚤҢึމ๖ஷϞ̙ঐΥଣή஗Ⴉࡁ˼

ձՉ˼ԫධd˸ʿίቇٙ͜ڷϞᗫהٙ׌ͭ

ઋرɨd޴ᗫٙԣᇍણ݄f

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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੽ၾᄲࣨ։ึࡰ๖ஷٙԫධʕdҢࡁᆽ֛ࡳ

Ԭԫධ࿁͉ಂၝΥৌਕజٙڌᄲࠇ௰ࠅࠠމd

ΪϾ࿴ϓᗫᒟᄲࠇԫධfҢࡁίࣨᅰࢪజѓ

ʕ౜ࠑவԬԫධdৰجܛجڢ஝ʔʪ஢ʮක

؈ɨdνرί฽၌ӼԈٙઋאᚣவԬԫධdמ

ΥଣཫಂίҢࡁజѓʕ๖ஷݔԫධிϓٙࠋ

Ӕ֛ʔᏐࡁ൴ཀପ͛ٙʮ଺лूdҢ؈ܝࠦ

ίజѓʕ๖ஷ༈ԫධf

̈Ո͉ዹͭࣨᅰࢪజѓٙᄲࠇධͦ໨ԫ݊ͩ

ᆾf

਷ሊึࢪࠇԫਕהϞࠢʮ̡
ࢪࠇึุੂ

ͩᆾ
ੂุᗇࣣᇜ໮mP05895

˚ಥdɚཧɓɞϋɧ˜ɚɤɖ࠰

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the Key Audit Matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ൗڝ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Turnover ᐄุᕘ 7 1,214,772 2,513,845

Cost of sales ቖਯϓ͉ (981,079) (2,290,382)

Gross profit ˣл 233,693 223,463

Other income and gains Չ˼ϗɝʿϗू 8 28,876 19,873

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗू 38 8,960 143,229

Changes in fair value of contingent  
consideration payable

Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆʘʮ̻࠽ 
ᜊਗ 37(c) (5,650) (6,029)

Selling and marketing costs ቖਯʿ̹ఙપᄿϓ͉ (29,631) (15,540)

Administrative and other expenses Б݁ʿՉ˼൬͜ (161,271) (108,874)

Impairment loss recognised  
in respect of trade receivables

ఱ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ 26 (3,260) –

Impairment loss recognised  
in respect of promissory note

ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ 24 – (22,800)

Share of results of joint venture ᏐЦΥᐄΆุุᐶ 20 (106) –

Finance costs ፄ༟ϓ͉ 10 (3,884) (10,356)

Profit before tax ৰ೼ۃ๐л 12 67,727 222,966

Income tax expense ˕੻೼කה 11 (14,667) (20,779)

Profit for the year 年ʫ๐л 53,060 202,187

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  
for the year, net of tax

年ʫՉ˼Όࠦ 
ϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 
�ϔৰ೼ධ�

Items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss:

Չ̙ܝঐࠠอʱᗳ至 
ฦूʘධͦj

Exchange differences arising  
during the year

ϋʫପ͛ʘිгࢨᕘ

69,544 (39,599)

Reclassification adjustment relating to  
disposal of foreign operations during  
the year

ϋʫϞᗫ̈ਯऎ̮ 
ุਕʘࠠอʱᗳ 
ሜ዆ (2,275) (2,353)

Reclassification adjustment relating to  
deregistration of foreign branch  
during the year

ϋʫϞᗫ՟ऊ೮া 
ऎ̮ʱʮ̡ʘࠠอ 
ʱᗳሜ዆ – (105)

67,269 (42,057)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year

年ʫΌࠦϗɝᐼᕘ
120,329 160,130

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ၝΥฦूʿՉ˼Όࠦϗूڌ

For the year ended 31 December 2017
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ൗڝ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Profit for the year  
attributable to:

˸ɨɛɻᏐЦ年ʫ๐лj

Owners of the Company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛ 40,905 192,009

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 12,155 10,178

53,060 202,187

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to:

˸ɨɛɻᏐЦ 
Όࠦϗूᐼᕘj

Owners of the Company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛ 101,657 152,333

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 18,672 7,797

120,329 160,130

HK Cents HK Cents

ಥ̀ ಥ̀

Earnings per share ӊٰޮл 13

Basic ਿ͉ 0.43 2.02

Diluted ᛅᑛ 0.43 2.01
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2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ൗڝ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Non-current Assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ
Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 17 593,000 414,662

Prepaid lease payments ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධ 18 42,129 –

Interests in an associate ɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ʘᛆू׵ 19 – –

Interests in a joint venture ɓගΥᐄʮ̡ʘᛆू׵ 20 469 –

Goodwill ਠᚑ 21 195,139 195,139

Intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପ 22 292,059 317,058

Note receivable Ꮠϗୃኽ 24 67,692 –

1,190,488 926,859

Current Assets ਗ༟ପݴ
Inventories π஬ 25 8,124 26,033

Trade receivables ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ 26 725,354 192,956

Prepayments, deposits and other  
receivables

ཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼ 
Ꮠϗಛධ 27 357,161 239,239

Promissory note гୃኽו 24 – 65,200

Loan receivables Ꮠϗ൲ಛ 28 – 165,000

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘ 
ፄ༟ପږ 29 59,900 48,631

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 30 164,437 188,882

1,314,976 925,941

Current Liabilities වࠋਗݴ
Trade payables ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ 31 537,769 30,353

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ 32 38,770 59,101

Receipt in advances ཫϗሪಛ 10,216 2,029

Bank borrowings ვБ࠾ಛ 33 119,800 55,897

Contingent consideration payable Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ 37(c) 30,000 20,000

Tax liabilities ೼ධࠋව 56,337 39,613

792,892 206,993

Net Current Assets ࠽ਗ༟ପଋݴ 522,084 718,948

Total Assets less Current Liabilities ᐼ༟ପಯݴਗࠋව 1,712,572 1,645,807

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ၝΥৌਕًڌر

As at 31 December 2017
˚ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued) 
ၝΥৌਕًڌر��ᚃ�

As at 31 December 2017 ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ൗڝ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Non-current Liabilities වࠋਗݴڢ
Contingent consideration payable Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ 37(c) – 24,350

Deferred tax liabilities ჈ַ೼ධࠋව 34 65,830 73,950

65,830 98,300

Net Assets ༟ପଋ࠽ 1,646,742 1,547,507

Capital and Reserves ༟͉ʿᎷ௪
Share capital ٰ͉ 35 952,884 952,884

Reserves Ꮇ௪ 557,571 489,522

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦᛆू

1,510,455 1,442,406

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 136,287 105,101

Total Equity ᛆूᐼᕘ 1,646,742 1,547,507

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2018 
and signed on its behalf by:

CHEUNG Sing Tai ZHANG Xinyu

ੵᑊइ ੵอρ
Director Director

໨ԫ ໨ԫ

ၝΥৌਕజ׵ڌɚཧɓɞϋɧ˜ɚɤɖ˚ᐏ

໨ԫึҭࡘʿબᛆ̊೯dԨ͟ɨΐ໨ԫ˾ڌ

ᖦ໇j



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
ၝΥᛆूᜊਗڌ
For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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Attributable to owners of the Company
͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ

Share
capital

Share
premium

Share
options
reserve

Convertible
notes

reserve
Translation

reserve
Statutory

reserve
Accumulated

losses Sub-total

Non-
controlling

interests Total

ٰ͉ ٰ΅๐ᄆ ᒅٰᛆᎷ௪
̙౬ٰୃኽ 

Ꮇ௪ ౬ၑᎷ௪ Ꮇ௪֛ج ଢ଼ࠇᑦฦ ʃࠇ છٰᛆूڢ ᐼࠇ
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

(Note)
ൗڝ) )

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 952,884 1,832,493 15,040 7,131 (5,711) 7,375 (1,519,139) 1,290,073 28,787 1,318,860

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л – – – – – – 192,009 192,009 10,178 202,187

Other comprehensive (loss)/income Չ˼Ό �ࠦᑦฦ�Ŋϗɝ

Items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss:

Չ̙ܝঐࠠอʱᗳ至ฦूʘධͦj

Exchange difference on translation 
of foreign operations

Ϊ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘිгࢨᕘ

– – – – (37,218) – – (37,218) (2,381) (39,599)
Reclassification adjustment relating  

to disposal of foreign operations  
during the year (Note 38(c) and (d))

ϋʫϞᗫ̈ਯऎุ̮ਕʘࠠอʱᗳሜ዆ 
ൗ38(c)ʿڝ� (d)�

– – – – (2,353) – – (2,353) – (2,353)
Reclassification adjustment relating  

to deregistration of foreign branch  
during the year

ϋʫϞᗫ՟ऊ೮াऎ̮ʱʮ̡ʘ 
ࠠอʱᗳሜ዆

– – – – (105) – – (105) – (105)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  
for the year

ϋʫΌ �ࠦᑦฦ�Ŋϗɝᐼᕘ

– – – – (39,676) – 192,009 152,333 7,797 160,130

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38(c)) ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗ38(c)ڝ̡� – – – – – – – – 4,155 4,155
Early redemption of convertible notes ౤ϘᛙΫ̙౬ٰୃኽ – – – (713) – – 713 – – –
Release of reserve upon maturity  

of convertible notes
౬ٰୃኽՑಂࣛ༆ৰᎷ௪̙׵

– – – (6,418) – – 6,418 – – –
Capital contribution by non-controlling  

interests
༟ءછٰᛆूʘڢ

– – – – – – – – 4,149 4,149
Non-controlling interests arising from  

acquisition of a subsidiary  
(Note 37(c))

ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡ପ͛ʘڢછٰᛆू 
�ൗ37(c)ڝ�

– – – – – – – – 60,213 60,213

At 31 December 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 952,884 1,832,493 15,040 – (45,387) 7,375 (1,319,999) 1,442,406 105,101 1,547,507

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ၝΥᛆूᜊਗڌ

For the year ended 31 December 2017
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued) 
ၝΥᛆूᜊਗڌ��ᚃ�

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

Attributable to owners of the Company
͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ

Share
capital

Share
premium

Share
options
reserve

Convertible
notes

reserve
Translation

reserve
Statutory

reserve
Accumulated

losses Sub-total

Non-
controlling

interests Total

ٰ͉ ٰ΅๐ᄆ ᒅٰᛆᎷ௪
̙౬ٰୃኽ 

Ꮇ௪ ౬ၑᎷ௪ Ꮇ௪֛ج ଢ଼ࠇᑦฦ ʃࠇ છٰᛆूڢ ᐼࠇ
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

(Note)
ൗڝ) )

At 1 January 2017 ˚ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 952,884 1,832,493 15,040 – (45,387) 7,375 (1,319,999) 1,442,406 105,101 1,547,507

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л – – – – – – 40,905 40,905 12,155 53,060
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Չ˼Ό �ࠦᑦฦ�Ŋϗɝ

Items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss:

Չ̙ܝঐࠠอʱᗳ至ฦूʘධͦj

Exchange difference on translation  
of foreign operations

Ϊ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘිгࢨᕘ

– – – – 63,027 – – 63,027 6,517 69,544
Reclassification adjustment relating  

to disposal of foreign operations  
during the year (Note 38(a) and (b)))

ϋʫϞᗫ̈ਯऎุ̮ਕʘࠠอʱᗳሜ዆ 
ൗ38(a)ʿڝ� (b)�

– – – – (2,275) – – (2,275) – (2,275)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  
for the year

ϋʫΌ �ࠦᑦฦ�Ŋϗɝᐼᕘ

– – – – 60,752 – 40,905 101,657 18,672 120,329

Transfer to reserve ᔷᅡ至Ꮇ௪ – – – – – 863 (863) – – –
Disposal of subsidiaries  

(Note 38(a) and (b)))
̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ ൗ38(a)ʿڝ̡� (b)�

– – – – – – – – (5,491) (5,491)
Capital contribution by non-controlling  

interests
༟ءછٰᛆूʘڢ

– – – – – – – – 22,191 22,191
Release of reserve upon disposal of  

subsidiaries
᙮ʮ̡ࣛ༆ৰᎷ௪ڝਯ̈׵

– – – – – (6,345) 6,345 – – –
Final dividend for 2016 ɚཧɓʬϋ͋ಂٰࢹ – (36,210) – – – – – (36,210) – (36,210)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  

(Note 37(b))
ϗᒅڢછٰᛆ �ൗ37(b)ڝू�

– – – – – – 2,602 2,602 (4,186) (1,584)

At 31 December 2017 ˚ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 952,884 1,796,283 15,040 – 15,365 1,893 (1,271,010) 1,510,455 136,287 1,646,742

Note:

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic 
of China (“PRC”), subsidiaries of the Company established in the 
PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net profit, as determined in 
accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the 
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of 
their respective registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be 
made before distribution of dividends to owners of these subsidiaries. 
Statutory surplus reserve can be used to set off previous years’ losses, 
if any, and may be converted into capital in proportion to existing 
equity owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance after such 
issuance is not less than 25% of their registered capital.

ൗjڝ

࣬ኽʕശɛ͏΍ձ਷��ʕ਷޴��ᗫجԷʿج஝d
͉ʮ̡׵ʕ਷ϓͭʘڝ᙮ʮ̡඲ᔷᅡՉॱлʘ

10%�ܲ๫Ϟᗫʕ਷ึࠇ๟ۆʿ஝֛הᔾ֛�至ج
֛ޮቱᎷ௪dٜ至༈Ꮇ௪ʘഐቱ༺ߧՉ΢Іʘൗ̅

༟͉ʘ50%fᔷᅡ至༈Ꮇ௪̀඲׵Σ༈ഃڝ᙮ʮ̡
ʘኹϞɛʱۃࢹٰݼЪ̈fޮ֛جቱᎷ௪̙͜Ъת

ቖཀֻϋܓʘᑦฦ�νϞ�dԨ̙ܲତϞᛆूኹϞ

ɛʘᛆूϵʱˢᔷ౬ٰ͉މdઓϞᗫ೯Бܝʘഐቱ

ʔ੻Э׵Չൗ̅༟͉ʘ25%f
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ၝΥତݴږඎڌ
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
࿚Ї二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

˟年ܓ

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋ
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓ

HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Operating activities ຾ᐄุਕ
Profit before tax ৰ೼ۃ๐л 67,727 222,966

Adjustments for: ሜ዆ධͦj

Finance costs ፄ༟ϓ͉ 3,884 10,356
Interest income лࢹϗɝ (13,183) (4,112)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ʿண௪ұᔚגeᅀุي 20,184 6,177
Amortisation of intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପᛅቖ 36,188 35,970
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධᛅቖ 616 –
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗू (8,960) (143,229)
Loss on early redemption of convertible notes ౤ϘᛙΫ̙౬ٰୃኽʘᑦฦ – 54
Gain on deregistration of a branch ՟ऊ೮াɓගʱʮ̡ʘϗू – (1,277)
Changes in fair value of contingent  

consideration payable
Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆʘʮ̻࠽ᜊਗ

5,650 6,029
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  

promissory note
ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘಯ࠽ᑦฦ

– 22,800
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  

trade receivables
ఱ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ 3,260 –

Share of results of joint venture ᏐЦΥᐄΆุุᐶ 106 –

Operating cash flows before movements  
in working capital

ᐄ༶༟ږᜊਗۃʘ 
຾ᐄତݴږඎ 115,472 155,734

Increase in financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss

ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘ 
ፄ༟ପᄣ̋ږ (7,077) (50,277)

Increase in trade receivables ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛᄣ̋ (520,044) (76,051)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and  

other receivables
ཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼ 
ᏐϗಛධಯˇŊ�ᄣ̋� 82,535 (81,385)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories π஬ಯˇŊ�ᄣ̋� 18,263 (1,250)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛᄣ̋Ŋ�ಯˇ� 502,192 (25,814)
Decrease in other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධಯˇ (19,425) (49,152)
Increase/(decrease) in receipt in advances ཫϗሪಛᄣ̋Ŋ�ಯˇ� 7,572 (6,659)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations ຾ᐄุਕהପ͛Ŋ͜ה��ତږ 179,488 (134,854)
Income tax paid ʊ˹ה੻೼ (8,854) (4,207)

Net cash generated from/(used in)  
operating activities

຾ᐄุਕהପ͛Ŋ͜ה�� 
ତږଋᕘ 170,634 (139,061)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ၝΥତݴږඎڌ

For the year ended 31 December 2017
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
ၝΥତݴږඎڌ��ᚃ�

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
࿚Ї二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

˟年ܓ

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋ
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓ

HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Investing activities ҳ༟ݺਗ
Acquisition of a subsidiary (net of cash  

and cash equivalent acquired)
ϗᒅɓගڝ᙮ʮ �̡຾ϔৰ 
�يഃᄆږʿତږϗᒅତה (1,379) (124,363)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests ϗᒅڢછٰᛆू (1,584) –
Investment in a joint venture ɓගΥᐄΆุʘҳ༟׵ (575) –
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash  

and cash equivalent disposed)
̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡຾ϔৰ̈הਯ 
ତږʿତږഃᄆي� 1,081 57,285

Deregistration of a branch (net of  
cash and cash equivalent disposed of)

՟ऊ೮াɓගʱʮ �̡຾ϔৰ 
�يഃᄆږʿତږਯତ̈ה – (11)

Settlement of contingent consideration payable ૶ᎵᏐ˹್א˾ᄆ (20,000) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ᒅ൯ุيeᅀגʿண௪ (160,326) (404,878)
Purchase of prepaid lease payment ᒅ൯ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධ (41,099) –
Purchase of intangible assets ᒅ൯ೌҖ༟ପ – (110)
Advances of loans ൲ಛྦಛ (314,224) (165,000)
Repayment of loan advanced ϗΫྦ˹൲ಛ 302,265 –
Interest received ʊϗлࢹ 147 2,012

Net cash used in investing activities ҳ༟ݺਗ͜הତږଋᕘ (235,694) (635,065)

Financing activities ፄ༟ݺਗ
Bank borrowings raised ᘪණʘვБ࠾ಛ 152,780 57,790
Repayment of bank borrowings ᎵᒔვБ࠾ಛ (96,390) (25,428)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests ༟ءછٰᛆूʘڢ 13,169 4,149
Repayment of convertible notes after maturity ՑಂܝᎵᒔ̙౬ٰୃኽ – (144,000)
Early redemption of convertible notes ౤ϘᛙΫ̙౬ٰୃኽ – (16,000)
Interest paid ʊ˹лࢹ (3,884) (7,774)
Dividend paid ʊ˹ٰࢹ (36,210) –

Net cash generated from/(used in)  
financing activities

ፄ༟ݺਗପ͛Ŋ͜ה��ʘ 
ତږଋᕘ 29,465 (131,263)

Net decrease in cash  
and cash equivalents

ତږʿତږഃᄆيಯˇ 
ଋᕘ (35,595) (905,389)

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the beginning of the year

年ڋତږʿତږഃᄆي
188,882 1,111,947

Effect of foreign exchanges rate changes ිଟᜊਗᅂᚤ 11,150 (17,676)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 年୞ତږʿତږഃᄆي 164,437 188,882

Analysis of balances of cash  
and cash equivalents at the end of the year

年୞ତږʿତږഃᄆيഐቱ 
分ؓ

Bank balances and cash ვБഐቱʿତږ 164,437 188,882

164,437 188,882



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ
For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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1. ʮ̡ʿණྠ༟ࣘ 

ʕ਷อཥڦණྠϞࠢʮ �̡�͉ʮ̡��
ɗίකਟ໊ࢥൗ̅ϓͭʘᐏᒀеϞࠢʮ

̡dՉٰ΅࠰׵ಥᑌΥʹה׸Ϟࠢʮ̡

��ᑌʹה��GEMɪ̹f

͉ʮ̡ٙൗ̅፬ԫஈήѧЗ׵Cricket 

Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, 

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman 

IslandsdʿՉ࠰ಥ˴ࠅᐄุήᓃЗ׵

ɽข19ᅽ⚃ࢀಥᝄ˺ѓɻ͂༸39໮࠰

f܃1906-8

ၝΥৌਕజڌ˸ಥʩ��ಥʩ��яΐfৰ
ɛމ᙮ʮ̡ٙ̌ঐ஬࿆ڝʕ਷ϓͭٙ׵

͏ �࿆�ɛ͏࿆��ʿ ߰ʍڝ᙮ʮ̡ٙ̌

ঐ஬࿆ߕމʩߕ��ʩ��̮ d͉ʮ̡ʿՉ
௵ቱڝ᙮ʮ̡ٙ̌ঐ஬࿆މಥʩf፯኿

ಥʩЪމՉяΐ஬࿆ٙࡡΪ͉݊ʮ̡ɗ

ίGEMɪ̹ٙʮ଺ʮ̡dϾGEMεᅰ

ҳ༟࠰׵٫֢ಥf

͉ʮ̡މɓගҳ༟છٰʮ̡dՉڝ᙮ʮ

ൗڝڌၝΥৌਕజ׵ਕ༱ุࠅ˴̡ٙ

42f

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 

INFORMATION

Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in 

the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited 

liability and its shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The address of the registered office of the Company 

is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 

2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and 

its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 

Room 1906-8, 19th Floor, Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester 

Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). Other than those subsidiaries 

established in the PRC whose functional currency is 

Renminbi (“RMB”) and some subsidiaries’ functional 

currency in US Dollars (“USD”), the functional currency of 

the Company and its remaining subsidiaries are HK$. The 

reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation currency is 

that the Company is a public company listed on the GEM, 

where most of the investors are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the 

principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 42 

to the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE 
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE 
CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to 

HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current 

year:

HKAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Recognition of Deferred Tax  

Assets for Unrealised Losses

HKFRS 12  

(Amendments)

As Part of the Annual  

Improvements to HKFRSs  

2014-2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the 

amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 

material impact on the Group’s financial performance 

and position for the current and prior years and/or on 

the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 

statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKAS 7 
DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 7 

Disclosure Initiative for the first time in the current year. The 

amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that 

enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes 

in liabilities arising from financing activities including both 

changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 

Specially, the amendments require the following changes 

in liabilities arising from financing activities to be disclosed: 

(i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising 

from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other 

businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange 

rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

AMENDMENTS TO HKAS 12 
RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX 
ASSETS FOR UNREALISED LOSSES

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 12 

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 

for the first time in the current year. The amendments 

provide guidance on how an entity determines, in 

accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes, whether to 

recognise a deferred tax asset in relation to unrealised 

tax losses of a debt instrument that is classified as an 

available-for-sale financial asset in accordance with HKAS 

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

under certain specific facts and circumstances.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 
IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to  
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle5

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to  
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle2

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investments in Associates and  
joint ventures2 

HKAS 40 (Amendments) 
 

Transfer of Investment Property1

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement  
of Share-based Payment  
Transactions1

HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying HKFRS 9, Financial  
Instruments with HKFRS 4,  
Insurance Contracts1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayments Features with  
Negative Companies2

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  
(Amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets  
between an Investor and its  
Associate or Joint Venture4

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts  
with Customers1
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ಂග͛ࣖfܓʘϋ֐

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 
IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(Continued)

HKFRS 15  
(Amendments)

Clarification to HKFRS 15,  
Revenue from Contracts  
with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Leases3

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract6

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 
 
 

Foreign currency Transactions  
and Advance Considerations1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 
 
 

Uncertainty over Income Tax  
Treatments2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019.

3  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. Earlier application is permitted 
provided HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers also applied.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 
date to be determined.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 
2021.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, 
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for 
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the 

scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently 

measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, 

debt investments that are held within a business 

model whose objective is to collect the contractual 

cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal outstanding are generally measured at 

amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting 

periods. Debt instruments that are held within a 

business model whose objective is achieved both 

by collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets, and that have contractual terms 

that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding, are generally measured 

at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity 

investments are measured at their fair value at the 

end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, 

under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable 

election to present subsequent changes in the fair 

value of an equity investment (that is not held for 

trading) in other comprehensive income, with only 

dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

• With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities 

designated as at fair value through profit or loss, 

HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the 

fair value of the financial liability that is attributable 

to changes in the credit risk of that liability is 

presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 

recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s 

credit risk in other comprehensive income would 

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or 

loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial 

liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified 

to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount 

of the change in the fair value of the financial liability 

designated as fair value through profit or loss is 

presented in profit or loss.

• In relation to the impairment of financial assets, 

HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, 

as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under 

HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires 

an entity to account for expected credit losses and 

changes in those expected credit losses at each 

reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 

initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer 

necessary for a credit event to have occurred before 

credit losses are recognised.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

• The new general hedge accounting requirements 

retain the three types of hedge accounting 

mechanisms currently available in HKAS 39. Under 

HKFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced 

to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 

accounting, specifically broadening the types of 

instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and 

the types of risk components of non-financial items 

that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the 

retrospective quantitative effectiveness test has been 

removed. Enhanced disclosure requirements about 

an entity’s risk management activities have also been 

introduced.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk 

management policies as at 31 December 2017, the 

directors of the Company anticipate the following potential 

impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company also anticipate that 

the application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 

9 will result in earlier provision of credit losses which are 

not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets 

measured at amortised costs and other items that subject 

to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 

by the Group. However, the directors of the Company do 

not anticipate that the application of the expected credit 

loss model of HKFRS 9 will have material impact to the 

opening accumulated losses as at 1 January 2018.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

Except for abovementioned, the directors of the Company 

anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future will 

not have other significant impact on amounts reported 

in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial 

liabilities based on an analysis of the Group’s financial 

instruments as at 31 December 2017.

HKFRS 15 REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single 

comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 

revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 

will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance 

including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction 

Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes 

effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should 

recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 

or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled 

in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, 

the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue 

recognition:
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
(Continued)

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the 
contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the 
performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when 
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular 
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far 
more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive 
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 
in relation to the identification of performance obligations, 
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing 
application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the 
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more 
disclosures, however, the directors of the Company do 
not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have 
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue 
recognized in the respective reporting periods.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the 
application of these will have a material effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES 

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the 

identification of lease arrangements and accounting 

treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will 

supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations 

when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on 

the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by 

a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance 

leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced 

by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 

liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, 

except for short-term leases and leases of low value 

assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and 

subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 

exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 

liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the 

present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for 

interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease 

modifications, amongst others. For the classification of 

cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid 

lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to 

leasehold lands for owned use and those classified as 

investment properties while other operating lease payments 

are presented as operating cash flows. Under the 

HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will 

be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which 

will be presented as financing cash flows.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

95Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

2. Ꮠ͜อ࠰ࠈಥৌਕజѓ๟

��ۆಥৌਕజѓ๟࠰��ۆ
ʿ࠰ಥৌਕజѓ๟ۆʘࡌ

ࠈ �͉ᚃ�

ୋ16໮�ॡۆಥৌਕజѓ๟࠰
༣��ᚃ�
࣬ኽ࠰ಥึࠇ๟ۆୋ17໮d͉ණྠʊఱ

ፄ༟ॡ༣τરᆽႩɓධ༟ପʿɓධ޴ᗫ

ፄ༟ॡ༣ࠋවdԨఱ͉ණྠוމॡɛٙ

ॡ༣ɺήᆽႩཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධfᏐ͜࠰ಥ

ৌਕజѓ๟ۆୋ16໮̙ঐኬߧ༈ഃ༟ପ

ʘʱᗳ̈ତᆑίᜊʷdൖ˷͉ණྠ݊щ

ਗ਼Դ͜ᛆ༟ପዹͭяజ޴׵אᏐ޴ᗫ༟

ପࡊ᙮ІϞϾึяజʘ޴Νධͦʫяజf

ಥৌਕజ࠰ஈଣϾԊdࠇॡɛึו༰޴

ѓ๟ۆୋ16໮ਿ͉ɪ࠰͜ضಥึࠇ๟ۆ

ୋ17໮Ϟᗫ̈ॡɛٙึࠇ஝֛dԨᘱᚃ

א຾ᐄॡ༣މӋ̈ॡɛ඲ਗ਼ॡ༣ʱᗳࠅ

ፄ༟ॡ༣f

Ϥ̮d࠰ಥৌਕజѓ๟ۆୋ16໮ࠅӋЪ

̈ᄿعʘמᚣf

Ꮠ͜࠰ಥৌਕజѓ๟ۆୋ16໮ਗ਼ኬ͉ߧ

ණྠ඲ఱՉॡ༣τરᆽႩԴ͜ᛆ༟ପʿ

වତࣛˡ඲ᆽࠋᏐப΂fϤഃ༟ପʿ޴

Ⴉdઓ඲מᚣ߰ʍ޴ᗫ༟ࣘdЪ͉މৌ

ਕజڌʘוዄf༐νڝൗ39מהᚣd׵

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠϞ

ᗫॡ༣ุيʘʔ̙࿞ቖ຾ᐄॡ༣ධɨ͊

Ը௰Эॡ༣˹ಛ17,809,000ߒމಥʩf

͉ʮ̡໨ԫ຾࿁ˢତϞึ݁ࠇഄܝdཫ

ಂમॶ࠰ಥৌਕజѓ๟ۆୋ16໮ਗ਼ʔึ

࿁͉ණྠุٙᐶிϓࠠɽᅂᚤdઓཫಂ

༈ഃॡ༣וዄʘ߰ʍ௅΅ึൖЪ඲׵ၝ
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වfࠋ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 LEASES (Continued) 

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an 

asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease 

arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold 

lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of 

HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification 

of these assets depending on whether the Group presents 

right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item 

at which the corresponding underlying assets would be 

presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially 

carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 

HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a 

lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 

16.

Application of HKFRS 16 will result in the Group’s 

recognition of right-of-use assets and corresponding 

liabilities in respect of the Group’s lease arrangements. 

These assets and liabilities are currently not required to be 

recognised but certain relevant information is disclosed as 

commitments to these financial statements. As disclosed 

in Note 39, the Group’s future minimum lease payments 

under non-cancellable operating leases for its leased 

premises amount to approximately HK$17,809,000 as 

at 31 December 2017. The directors of the Company do 

not expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared with 

the current accounting policy would result in significant 

impact on the Group’s result, but is expected that certain 

portion of the lease commitments will be regarded to 

be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 

position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 2 
CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT 
OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS

The amendments clarify the following:

1. In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled 

share-based payment, the accounting for the effects 

of vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow 

the same approach as for equity-settled share-based 

payments.

2. Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to 

withhold a specified number of equity instruments 

equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax 

obligation to meet the employee’s tax liability which is 

then remitted to the tax authority, i.e. the share-based 

payment arrangement has a ‘net sett lement 

feature’, such an arrangement should be classified 

as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that the 

share-based payment would have been classified as 

equity-settled had it not included the net settlement 

feature.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 2 
CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT 
OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

3. A modification of a share-based payment that 

changes the transaction from cash-settled to 

equity-settled should be accounted for as follows:

(i) the original liability is derecognised;

(ii) the equity-settled share-based payment is 

recognised at the modification date fair value 

of the equity instrument granted to the extent 

that services have been rendered up to the 

modification date; and

(iii) any difference between the carrying amount 

of the liability at the modification date and 

the amount recognised in equity should be 

recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the 

application of these will have a material effect on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 10 AND 
HKAS 28 SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF 
ASSETS BETWEEN AN INVESTOR AND 
ITS ASSOCIATE OR JOINT VENTURE 

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and 

Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale 

or contribution of assets between an investor and its 

associate or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments 

state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control 

of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a 

transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is 

accounted for using the equity method, are recognized 

in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the 

unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint 

venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the 

remeasurement of investments retained in any former 

subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture 

that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value 

are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to 

the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new 

associate or joint venture.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the 

application of these will have a material effect on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which 

collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, 

HKASs and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, 

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong 

and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the 

Rules Governing the Listing of the GEM of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM 

Listing rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 

conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of policies and reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and various other factors that are believed to 

be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 

which form the basis of making judgements about carrying 

values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on 

an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised 

if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of 

HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 

financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of 

material adjustments in the next year are discussed in Note 

4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 

instruments that are measured at fair value at the end 

of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 

policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, 

regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 

the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 

account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 

participants would take those characteristics into account 

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 

these consolidated financial statements is determined on 

such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 

that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions 

that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements 

that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 

value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in 

use in HKAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 

account a market participant s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or 

by selling it to another market participant that would use 

the asset in its highest and best use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measurements are observable and the significance of the 

inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which 

are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 

can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1, that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset 

or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 

financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 

by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved 

where the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an 

investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control 

listed above.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ
For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

102 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

3. ࠠɽึ݁ࠇഄ�ᚃ� 

ၝΥਿ๟�ᚃ�
຅͉ණྠኹϞҳ༟࿁൥ʘҳୃᛆʔЦɽ

εᅰd׵ۆҳୃᛆԑ˸މՉ౤Զఊ˙ࠦ

ܸኬҳ༟࿁൥޴ᗫݺਗʘྼყঐɢࣛd

͉ණྠኹϞ࿁ҳ༟࿁൥ʘᛆɢf׵൙П

͉ණྠ׵ҳ༟࿁൥ʘҳୃᛆ݊щԑ˸މ

Չ౤Զᛆɢࣛd͉ණྠึϽᅇהϞ޴ᗫ

ԫྼʿઋرdܼ̍j

• ͉ණྠܵϞҳୃᛆʘ஝ᅼ޴࿁׵

Չ˼ҳୃܵϞɛ٫ܵהʘ஝ᅼʿ

ʱ౳׌i

• ͉ණྠeՉ˼ҳୃܵϞɛאՉ˼΢

˙ܵϞٙᆑίҳୃᛆi

• Չ˼ΥΝτરପ͛ʘᛆлiʿ

Ъ̈Ӕࠅც׵ • �֛ܼ̍ʘٰۃ؇ɽ

ึɪʘҳୃᅼό�ࣛ ණྠ຅͉׼ڌ

ਗݺᗫ޴ԨೌኹϞܸኬאኹϞۃ

ʘঐɢʘ΂ОՉ˼ԫྼʿઋرf
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˼Όࠦϗूڌʫf

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting 

rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when 

the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability 

to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. 

The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances 

in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an 

investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative 

to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 

vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote 

holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 

and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate 

that the Group has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 

decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 

at previous patterns at previous shareholders’ 

meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income 

and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 

date the Group gains control until the date when the Group 

ceases to control the subsidiary.
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຅ʕٙᛆूʱකяΐf

ਗ਼ΌࠦϗूᐼᕘʱৣЇڢછٰ
ᛆू

׵᙮ʮ̡ʘΌࠦϗूʿක˕ᐼᕘᓥ᙮ڝ
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ึኬڢߧછٰᛆूପ͛ᑦ୙ഐቱ͵್f

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 

income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 

the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income 

of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 

the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 

expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 

consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented 

separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income 
to non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary 

is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 

the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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ΥᐄΆุʘҳ༟ʘϓ͉f

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership 
interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing 

subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 

control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests 

and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect 

the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 

Any difference between the amount by which the 

non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution 

of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or 

loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the 

consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including 

goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable 

to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income in relation 

to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had 

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the 

subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred 

to another category of equity as specified/permitted by 

applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment 

retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 

is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, 

the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 

associate or a joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership 
interests in existing subsidiaries (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 

acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which is 

calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 

the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by 

the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control 

of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and 

the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 

except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or 

assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 

12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits 

respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based 

payment ar rangements o f  the acqu i ree or 

share-based payment arrangements of the Group 

entered into to replace share-based payment 

arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 

accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment 

at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy 

below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held 

for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

are measured in accordance with that standard.
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͛ʘሜ዆f

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of 

the consideration transferred, the amount of any 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value 

of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquire (if any) over the net amount of identifiable assets 

acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. 

If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the 

sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value 

of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if 

any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss 

as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership 

interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation 

may be initially measured either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 

recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 

assets. The choice of measurement basis is made 

on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of 

non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value 

or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another 

HKFRSs.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in 

a business combination includes assets or liabilities 

resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition 

date fair value and included as part of the consideration 

transferred in a business combination. Changes in the 

fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify 

as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 

retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made 

against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 

adjustments that arise from additional information obtained 

during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed 

one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value 

of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 

measurement period adjustments depends on how 

the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 

at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 

remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates in 

accordance with HKAS 39 with the corresponding gain or 

loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the 

Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the 

date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting 

gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts 

arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition 

date that have previously been recognised in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 

where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest 

were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is 

incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts 

for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 

provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 

period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 

recognised, to reflect new information obtained about 

facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 

recognised as of that date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried 

at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and 

is presented separately in the consolidated statement of 

financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is 

allocated to each of the cash-generating units (or groups 

of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the combination, which represent the 

lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purposes and not larger than an operating 

segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating 

units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 

impairment annually or more frequently when there is 

indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill 

arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the 

cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to 

which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 

before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 

amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 

then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis 

of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group 

of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for goodwill 

is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 

reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, 

the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 

significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 

interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power 

to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 

of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 

policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 

that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 

the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant 

activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 

control

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint 

ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting, except 

when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 

held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified 

is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Any retained 

portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture 

that has not been classified as held for sale shall be 

accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity 

method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is 

initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 

position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s 

share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds 

the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which 

includes any long-term interests, that, in substance, form 

part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint 

venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of 

further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate 

or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is 

accounted for using the equity method from the date on 

which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. 

On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint 

venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over 

the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as 

goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of 

the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net 

fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 

cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 

investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine 

whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss 

with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. 

When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the 

investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 

accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a 

single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher 

of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its 

carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms 

part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal 

of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with 

HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 

investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a 

joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting 

from the transactions with the associate or a joint venture 

are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements only to the extent of interests in the associate 

or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is a company in which the Company directly 

or indirectly controls more than half of the voting power, 

or controls the composition of the board of directors. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Company’s 

financial statements at cost less impairment loss.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable and represents amounts receivable 

for goods sold and services provided in the normal course 

of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 

goods are delivered and title have passed, at which time all 

the following conditions are satisfied:

Revenue from sales of telecommunication products is 

recognised when goods are delivered to customers which 

generally coincides with the time when the customer has 

accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards of 

ownership. Revenue is recorded after deduction of any 

trade discount.

Network and satellite telecommunication services income 

based on usage of the Group’s network and facilities is 

recognised when the services are rendered.

Telecommunication services provided for fixed periods is 

recognised on straight-line basis over the applicable fixed 

period.

Traffic signboard advertising income is recognised when 

services are provided.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Commission income from the operations of Internet finance 

platform is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when 

it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 

to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the 

estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 

the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 

initial recognition.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in 

progress (“CIP”), held for use in the production or supply of 

goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated 

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 

less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost 

of items of property, plant and equipment less their 

residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the 

straight-line method at the following rate per annum:

Buildings Over the unexpired 

lease terms of land on which 

the building is erected

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease

Office equipment 20%-33.3%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Data center and machinery 5%-20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 

method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 

with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on 

a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 

expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. 

However, when there is no reasonable certainty that 

ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, 

assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 

item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 

of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as 

assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 

the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 

included in the consolidated statement of financial position 

as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance 

expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as 

to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly 

attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they 

are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy 

on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below). 

Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 

periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring 

land held under operating leases, are recognised as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative 

of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 

leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 

under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 

the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter 

into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 

liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised 

as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 

basis, except where another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual 

group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 

functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) 

are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the 

reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 

date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items are measured in terms of 

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 

items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, 

except for exchange differences arising on a monetary 

item that forms part of the Company’s net investment 

in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange 

differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from 

equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation. 

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of 

non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in 

profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences 

arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in 

respect of which gain and losses are recognised directly 

in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the 

exchange differences are also recognised directly in other 

comprehensive income.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are translated into the presentation currency 

of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at 

the end of each reporting period. Income and expense 

items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 

year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during 

the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences 

arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity under the heading of 

translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests 

as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the 

Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 

involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes 

a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences 

accumulated in equity in respect of that operation 

attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified 

to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary 

that includes a foreign operation that does not result 

in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the 

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences 

are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 

recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets 

acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation 

on or after 1 July 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities 

of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of 

exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. 

Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity under 

the heading of translation reserve.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

117Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

3. ࠠɽึ݁ࠇഄ�ᚃ� 

൲ϓ͉࠾
ɭ̀඲຾ཀხࣛڗග˸ЪᏝ֛͜௄אቖ

ਯʘΥ༟ࣸ༟ପʘϗᒅeܔி͛אପٜ

ટᏐЦʘ࠾൲ϓ͉dѩࠇɝ༈ഃ༟ପʘ

ϓ͉dٜ至༈ഃ༟ପɽ̙ߧЪᏝ֛͜௄

f˟މቖਯʘࣛא

त֛࠾൲ί͜׵ϞᗫΥ༟ࣸ༟ପ˕̈ۃ

Ъᅲࣛҳ༟ה੻ʘҳ༟ϗɝίΥ༟ࣸЪ

༟͉ʷʘ࠾൲ϓ͉ʕϔಯf

ฦ׵Չପ͛ಂග׵൲ϓ͉ѩ࠾˼ϞՉה

ूʫᆽႩf

僱ࡰ၅л

ৗ;၅лϓ͉

͉ණྠ࣬ኽ੶Փ׌ʮጐࠇږྌૢԷ͉މ

ණྠהϞ࠰ಥ྇ࡰணͭɓධ֛ޢԶಛ੶

Փ׌ʮጐږৗ;၅лࠇྌ��੶ጐࠇږ
劃��f࣬ኽ੶ጐࠇږྌ஝֛d͉ණྠ࣬
ኽ྇ࡰʘਿ͉ʈ༟ܲɓ֛ˢԷЪ̈Զಛ

Ԩ׵Ꮠ˹༈ഃԶಛࣛ׵ฦूڌϔৰf੶

ጐࠇږྌʘ༟ପ׵ዹͭ၍ଣਿږၾ͉ණ

ྠʘ༟ପʱකܵϞf͉ණྠʘ྇˴Զಛ

ίΣ੶ጐࠇږྌЪ̈ԶಛࣛΌᅰᓥ᙮׵

fࡰ྇

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 

to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 

the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 

specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 

assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in 

the period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory 

Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 

Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. 

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the 

employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit 

or loss as they become payable in accordance with 

the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held separately from those of the Group 

in an independently administered fund. The Group’s 

employer contributions vest fully with the employees when 

contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating 

in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme 

(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal 

benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to 

assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and 

future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The only 

obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the PRC 

RB Scheme is to meet the required contributions under the 

PRC RB Schemes. The contributions are charged to the 

profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with 

the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, 

the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate 

employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary 

redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is 

without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Share options granted to directors and 
employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference 

to the fair value of share options granted at the grant 

date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date 

when the share options granted vest immediately, with a 

corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously 

recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 

share premium. When the share options are forfeited after 

the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, 

the amount previously recognised in share options reserve 

will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services 

are measured at the fair values of the goods or services 

received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, 

in which case the goods or services received are measured 

by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.

The fair values of the goods or services received are 

recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase in 

equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains the 

goods or when the counterparties render services, unless 

the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 

the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income because it excludes items of 

income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 

using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding 

tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 

tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 

recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can 

be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill 

or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 

profit.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the Group is able to control the reversal 

of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 

temporary differences associated with such investments 

and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 

which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 

and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 

the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 

will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate 

(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 

reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 

reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 

its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, 

except when it relates to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 

the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 

accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 

included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired 

separately are carr ied at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and 

amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 

being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired 

separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 

recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which 

is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with 

finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, 

being their fair value at the date of the revaluation 

less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible 

asset with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives.

Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when 

no future economic benefits are expected from use or 

disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of 

an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE 
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER 
THAN GOODWILL

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 

carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets 

have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 

order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. 

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 

of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of 

allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 

allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 

units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 

can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 

assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 

least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they 

may be impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE 
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER 
THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 

unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 

is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the 

impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to 

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) 

and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on 

the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying 

amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest 

of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its 

value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the 

impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated 

to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the 

unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 

estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash 

generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 

loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

INVENTORIES

Inventories, representing finished goods for resale, are 

stated at the lower of costs and net realisable value. Cost 

is calculated using first-in, first-out method. Net realizable 

value represents the estimated selling price for inventories 

less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary 

to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 

obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 

that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 

consideration required to settle the present obligation at 

the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 

risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 

a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated 

to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 

present value of those cash flows (where effect of the time 

value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 

settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 

certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 

of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ACQUIRED 
IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are 

initially measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At 

the end of the subsequent report periods, such contingent 

liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that 

would be recognised in accordance with HKAS 37 and the 

amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization 

recognised in accordance with HKAS 18.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position when a group 

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 

at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 

liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit and loss) are added to or deducted 

from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 

assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following 

specified categories: financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables. The 

classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 

financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 

assets are recognised and derecognized on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of asset within 

the time frame established by regulation or convention in 

the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 

amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 

income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an 

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 

and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 

life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter 

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis 

for debt instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the 

financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as 

at FTVPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 

selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of 

short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective 

as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading 

may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 

otherwise arise; or
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial 

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 

management or investment strategy, and information 

about the grouping is provided internally on that 

basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more 

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the 

entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 

designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with 

any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised 

in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner 

described in note 6.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans 

and receivables (including trade receivables, deposits and 

other receivables, promissory note, loan receivables and 

cash and cash equivalents) are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less any identified 

accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy on 

impairment loss of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective 

interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the 

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment 

at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets 

are considered to be impaired where there is objective 

evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 

the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have 

been affected.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial diff iculty of the issuer or 

counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in 

interest and principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter 

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that 

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade 

receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on 

a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for 

a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 

experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 

number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit 

period ranging from 90 to 180 days, observable changes 

in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 

of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the 

impairment loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the current 

market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 

the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 

exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount 

is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 

a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written 

off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 

of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or 

loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 

account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in 

a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment losses was 

recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 

is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 

carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is 

reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 

have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a 

group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 

equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 

arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 

residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group 

are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain 

both the liability and conversion option components 

are classified separately into respective items on initial 

recognition in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 

liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option that 

will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the 

Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an 

equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component 

is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar 

non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross 

proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes and the fair 

value assigned to the liability component, representing the 

conversion option for the holder to convert the notes into 

equity, is included in convertible notes reserve.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the 

convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. The equity component, 

representing the option to convert the liability component 

into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in 

convertible notes reserve until the embedded option is 

exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible 

notes reserve will be transferred to share premium). Where 

the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the 

balance stated in convertible notes reserve will be released 

to the accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in 

profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the 

convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and 

equity components in proportion to the allocation of the 

gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity 

component are charged directly to equity. Transaction 

costs relating to the liability component are included in 

the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised 

over the period of the convertible notes using the effective 

interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the 

financial liabilities are designated at FVTPL on initial 

recognition or contingent consideration that may be paid 

by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which 

HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for 

trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by 

an acquirer as part of a business combination may be 

designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 

otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial 

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 

management or investment strategy, and information 

about the grouping is provided internally on that 

basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more 

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the 

entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 

designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with 

changes at fair value arising on remeasurement recognised 

directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes 

any interest paid on the financial liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 

the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 

received that form an integral part of the effective interest 

rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 

through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 

on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis 

other than those financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL, 

of which the interest expense is excluded in net gains or 

losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other 

payables and accruals, bank borrowings and convertible 

notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 

the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 

another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 

continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 

continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its 

continuing involvement and recognises an associated 

liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 

Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also 

recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and receivable and 

the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is 

recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is 

reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be 

received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation 

for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 

of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no 

future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they become receivable.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family 

is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel 

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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Νӻڝ᙮ʮ̡�i

(iii) Շྼ࢕᜗ѩމΝɓୋɧ˙ʘ

ΥᐄΆุi

(iv) ɓྼ࢕᜗މୋɧ˙ྼ᜗ʘΥ

ᐄΆุdϾ̤ɓྼ࢕᜗މୋ

ɧ˙ྼ᜗ʘᑌᐄʮ̡i;

(v) ༈ྼ᜗͉މණྠאၾ͉ණྠ

Ϟᗫஹʘྼ᜗ఱ྇ࡰлूண

ͭٙᕎᔖ၅лࠇྌi

(vi) ༈ྼ᜗ա (a)່֛ʘɛɻછՓ

΍ΝછՓiא

(vii) (a)(i)່֛ʘɛɻ࿁༈ྼ᜗Ϟ

ࠠɽᅂᚤɢא᙮༈ྼ᜗א�

༈ྼ᜗ʘ͎ʮ̡�ʘ˴ࠅ၍

ଣɛࡰiʿ

(viii) ༈ྼ᜗אՉה᙮ණྠ΂Оϓ

ණྠ͎͉אʮ̡Σ͉ණྠࡰ

ʮ̡౤Զ˴ࠅ၍ଣɛ؂ࡰਕf

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the 

same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 

others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the 

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third 

party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity 

and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for 

the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 

person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant 

influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity (or of 

a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it 

is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the 

Group.
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3. ࠠɽึ݁ࠇഄ�ᚃ� 

ᗫஹɛɻ�ᚃ�
ɓΤɛɻʘᗫڷ੗ʲࢬ࢕ϓܸࡰཫಂί

Չၾྼ᜗ආБʹ̙ࣛ׸ঐᅂᚤ༈ɛɻא

ա༈ɛɻᅂᚤٙࢬ࢕ϓࡰf

分௅జѓ
຾ᐄʱ௅ʿ׵ৌਕజڌʕజѓٙӊࡈʱ

௅ධͦಛᕘdɗ੽ఱΣ͉ණྠ΢ุࡈਕ

ʿุਕהίήʱৣ༟๕ʿ൙ПڌତϾ֛

ಂ౤Զʚ͉ණྠ௰৷ॴБ݁၍ଣɛٙࡰ

ৌਕ༟ࣘʕᆽႩf

ৰڢʱ௅ٙ຾᏶तᅄ޴Ч˲ίପۜʿ؂

ਕ׌ሯe͛ପʈᖵ׌ሯeᚥ܄ᗳۨʿʱ

ᗳe͜˸ʱቖପۜא౤Զ؂ਕٙ˙όʿ

္၍ᐑྤ׌ሯ˙ࠦѩ޴Чdщࡈۆйࠠ

ɽٙ຾ᐄʱ௅ʔึމᇜႡৌਕజѓϾਗ਼

ՉΥࠇfࡈࡊйࠠڢɽٙ຾ᐄʱ௅΍Ν

ՈϞɪࠑɽ௅΅ٙतᅄd̙ۆਗ਼ՉΥࠇf

ഄ݁ࠇᏐ͉͜ණྠٙึ׵ �ࣛ༱ڝ׵ൗ

3�d͉ʮ̡໨ԫ඲ఱ༟ପʿࠋවٙሪࠦ

Չ˼Ը๕੻̈ٙкᓙeП͟׸Ъ̈ʔ࠽

ཀֻ׵ʿϞᗫ৿ணɗਿࠇʿ৿ணfПࠇ

຾᜕ʿ஗Ⴉމ᙮޴ᗫٙՉ˼Ϊ९Ъ̈f

ྼყഐ̙؈ঐၾ༈ഃПࠇϞהʔΝf

Пࠇʿ޴ᗫ৿ணึܵᚃආБ൙ࣨfࡊ࿁

ࡌЪ̈ࠇසᅂᚤ࿁ПࡊࠈࡌٙࠇПࠇึ

ࡊאϞᗫಂගʫᆽႩd׵ۆʘಂගdࠈ

׵ۆʿ͊ԸಂගѩϞᅂᚤdۃ࿁຅ࠈࡌ

ಂගʿ͊ԸಂගᆽႩfࠈࡌ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family 

members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment 

item reported in the financial statements, are identified from 

the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s 

most senior executive management for the purposes of 

allocating resources to, and assessing the performance 

of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical 

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated 

for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 

have similar economic characteristics and are similar in 

respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 

of production processes, the type or class of customers, 

the methods used to distribute the products or provide 

the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. 

Operating segments which are not individually material may 

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which 

are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are 

required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 

an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 

if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods.
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4. ࠠɽึࠇкᓙʿПࠇʔ׼

ࣦΪ९ٙ˴ࠅԸ๕ 

Пࠇʔࣦ׼Ϊ९的˴ࠅԸ๕ 

˸ɨމϞᗫ͊Ըٙᗫᒟ৿ண˸ʿ׵జѓ

ಂ͋ϞᗫПࠇʔࣦ׼Ϊ९ٙՉ˼˴ࠅԸ

๕dՈϞኬߧɨɓৌ݁ϋܓ༟ପʿࠋව

ሪࠦ࠽Ъ̈ࠠɽሜ዆ٙࠠɽࠬᎈf

π஬ᅡ௪

၍ଣᄴึ׵΢జѓಂ͋ᄲቡ͉ණྠπ

஬ʘሪᙧʱؓdԨίႩމϞ̀ࠇࣛࠅ

౤ᅡ௪f၍ଣᄴ˴ࠅԱኽ௰ڐ೯ୃᄆࣸ

ʿ຅ر̹ۃdПࠇ༈ഃπ஬ʘ̙ᜊତ

ଋ࠽f׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d

຾ϔৰπ஬ᅡ௪800,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧ

ɓʬϋj800,000ಥʩܝ�dπ஬ٙሪࠦ

8,124,000ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋjމߒ࠽

26,033,000ಥʩ�f

 ࠽ʿண௪ಯגeᅀุي

༟ପ̙ϗΫږᕘމଋਯᄆʿԴ͜ᄆٙ࠽

༰৷٫fίПࠇԴ͜ᄆࣛ࠽dɗਗ਼ཫࠇ

͊Ըତݴږඎ൨ତ至Չତ࠽dԴ͜൨ତ

ଟ̙މˀ݈஬࿆ࣛග࠽ʘତ̹ࣛఙ൙П

ʿ༈༟ପत֛ࠬᎈ࠽ʘ೼ۃ൨ତଟdԨ

ცࠅ࿁ϗɝ˥๟ʿ຾ᐄϓ͉Ъ̈ࠠɽк

ᓙf͉ණྠл͜הϞତϞ༟ࣘ࿁̙ϗΫ

ᕘЪΥଣПၑdܼ̍ΥଣʿϞԱኽٙږ

৿ண˸ʿϗɝʿ຾ᐄϓ͉ٙПၑf׵ɚ

ཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dุيeᅀג

ʿண௪ٙሪࠦ593,000,000މߒ࠽ಥʩ

�ɚཧɓʬϋj414,662,000ಥʩ��ɚཧ

ɓʬϋjϔৰଢ଼ࠇಯ࠽ᑦฦ2,336,000ߒ

ಥʩ�f༉ઋמᚣڝ׵ൗ17f

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the 

future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of 

the Group at the end of each reporting period and makes 

provision if considered necessary. Management estimate 

the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily 

on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. 

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of inventories 

was approximately HK$8,124,000 (2016: HK$26,033,000) 

after nett ing off the al lowance for inventories of 

approximately HK$800,000 (2016: HK$800,000).

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of 

its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risk specific to the asset, which required 

significant judgment relating to level of revenue and 

amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily 

available information in determining an amount that is a 

reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, 

including estimates based on reasonable and supportable 

assumptions and projections of revenue and operating 

costs. At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount 

of property, plant and equipment was approximately 

HK$593,000,000 (2016: HK$414,662,000) (2016: net of 

accumulated impairment loss amounted to approximately 

HK$2,336,000). Details are disclosed in Note 17.
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4. ࠠɽึࠇкᓙʿПࠇʔ׼

ࣦΪ९ٙ˴ࠅԸ๕ 

�ᚃ�

Пࠇʔࣦ׼Ϊ९的˴ࠅԸ๕ 
�ᚃ�

ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପٙПࠇಯ࠽ 

ᔾ֛ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପϞщಯࣛ࠽dცࠅ

࿁ʊᐏʱৣਠᚑٙତږପ͛ఊЗԴ͜ᄆ

dࣛ࠽ၑԴ͜ᄆࠇf͉ණྠࠇЪ̈П࠽

ცࠅПࠇཫಂ༈ତږପ͛ఊЗ˚הܝ

ପ͛ٙତݴږඎʿΥቇұତଟd˙̙ࠇ

ၑՉତ࠽f߰˚ྼٙܝყତݴږඎˇ׵

ཫಂd̙ۆঐ̈ତࠠɽಯ࠽ᑦฦf׵ɚ

ཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dਠᚑʘሪࠦ

195,139,000ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋjމߒ࠽

195,139,000ಥʩ��຾ϔৰଢ଼ࠇಯ࠽ᑦ

ฦږᕘ187,452,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬ

ϋj898,881,000ಥʩ��ʿ ೌҖ༟ପʘ

ሪࠦ292,059,000މߒ࠽ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬ

ϋj317,058,000ಥʩ��຾ϔৰଢ଼ࠇᛅ

ቖʿಯ࠽ᑦฦږᕘ132,312,000ߒಥʩ

�ɚཧɓʬϋj347,547,000ಥʩ��f༉

ઋڝ׵ൗ21ʿ22מᚣf

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are 

impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of 

the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 

allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group 

to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the 

cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order 

to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash 

flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss 

may arise. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount 

of goodwill amounted to approximately HK$195,139,000 

(2016: HK$195,139,000) (net of accumulated impairment 

loss amounted to approximately HK$187,452,000 (2016: 

HK$898,881,000)) and carrying amount of intangible 

assets amounted to approximately HK$292,059,000 

(2016: HK$317,058,000) (net of accumulated amortisation 

and impairment loss amounted to approximately 

HK$132,312,000 (2016: HK$347,547,000)). Details are 

disclosed in Notes 21 and 22.
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4. ࠠɽึࠇкᓙʿПࠇʔ׼

ࣦΪ९ٙ˴ࠅԸ๕ 

�ᚃ�

Пࠇʔࣦ׼Ϊ९的˴ࠅԸ๕ 
�ᚃ�

൱׸ᏐϗሪಛʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ
ٙПࠇಯ࠽

ᑦฦd͉ණ࠽ᝈᗇኽᜑͪ̈ତಯ܄Ϟࡊ

ྠуึϽᅇП͊ࠇԸତݴږඎfಯ࠽

ᑦฦږᕘܲ༟ପሪࠦ࠽ၾП͊ࠇԸତ

൲ڦܝ˚ඎ�ʔܼ̍֠͊ପ͛ʘݴږ

ᑦฦ�ܲ ༈ږፄ༟ପྼ֛ࡡყлଟ�у

ၑʘྼყлଟ�ұତʘତࠇӉᆽႩࣛڋ

ݴږყ͊Ըତྼࡊඎfࠇᕘࢨගʘ࠽

ඎˇ׵ཫಂd̙ۆঐପ͛ࠠɽಯ࠽ᑦ

ฦf׵ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d൱

࠽ᏐϗሪಛʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘሪࠦ׸

ʱй725,354,000މߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬ

ϋj192,956,000ಥʩ��ϔৰьሪᅡ

௪3,504,000މߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj

41,000ಥʩ��ʿ 293,783,000ಥʩ�ɚ

ཧɓʬϋj150,853,000ಥʩ��ϔৰь

ሪᅡ௪13,259,000ಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj

19,451,000ಥʩ��f

੻೼ה

͉ණྠ඲ᖮॶ߰ʍ̡جᛆਜٙה੻೼f

ᔾ֛ה੻೼ᅡ௪ࣛცࠅЪ̈ࠠɽПࠇf

הၑࠇʿ׸ʹ੬ุਕཀ೻ʕd஢ε˚׵

ऒʿٙ௰୞೼ධ͊ঐ׼ᆽᔾ֛fࡊ༈ഃ

ԫ΁ٙ௰୞೼ਕഐ؈ၾ֐ڋা፽ٙږᕘ

πίࢨମdۆ༈ഃࢨᕘਗ਼ᅂᚤЪ̈Ϟᗫ

ᔾ֛ಂගٙה੻೼ʿ჈ַ೼ධᅡ௪f

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade 
receivables and other receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the 

Group takes into consideration the estimation of future 

cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured 

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 

future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 

at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. 

the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). 

Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, 

a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 

2017, the carrying amount of trade receivables and other 

receivables are approximately HK$725,354,000 (2016: 

HK$192,956,000) (net of allowance for doubtful debts 

of approximately HK$3,504,000 (2016: HK$41,000)) 

and HK$293,783,000 (2016: HK$150,853,000) (net of 

allowance for doubtful debt of HK$13,259,000 (2016: 

HK$19,451,000)).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several 

jurisdictions. Significant estimate are required in determining 

the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions 

and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 

is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 

amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made.
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5. ༟͉ࠬᎈ၍ଣ

͉ණྠ༟͉၍ଣʘͦᅺڭމღ࿩ɨྼ᜗

ঐܵᚃ຾ᐄุਕdԨீཀྼତවਕၾᛆ

ूʘගٙ௰Գ̻ፅdٰމ؇੭Ը௰ɽΫ

జf͉ණྠʘ዆᜗ഄଫၾཀֻϋܓၪܵ

ʔᜊf

͉ණྠʘ༟͉ݖ࿴ܼ̍වਕ�ܼ̍ڝ׵

ൗ33מהᚣʘვБ࠾ಛ�ಯ̘ତږʿତ

ʿ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦᛆيഃᄆږ �ू̍

ܼʊ೯Бٰ͉ʿᎷ௪�f

͉ʮ̡໨ԫ֛ಂᏨী༟͉ݖ࿴fЪމϤ

Ꮸীʘɓ௅΅d͉ʮ̡໨ԫϽᅇ༟͉ʘ

ϓ͉ʿၾ΢ᗳ༟͉޴ᗫʘࠬᎈf࣬ኽ໨

ԫʘܔᙄd͉ණྠਗ਼ீཀ೯Бอٰ΅ʿ

೯БอවਕאᛙΫତϞවਕʘ˙ό̻ፅ

዆᜗༟͉ݖ࿴f

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in 

the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to shareholders through the 

optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which 

includes bank borrowings disclosed in Note 33, net of cash 

and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners 

of the Company, comprising issued share capital and 

reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure 

on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors 

of the Company consider the cost of capital and the 

risks associates with each class of capital. Based on the 

recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance 

its overall capital structure through the new share issues 

as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of the 

existing debt.
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ፄʈՈږ .6

ፄʈՈᗳ別ږ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Year ended 

31 December 

2017

Year ended 

31 December

2016

࿚Ї
二零一七年

ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
˟年ܓ

࿚至

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Financial assets ፄ༟ପږ

At amortised cost ܲᛅቖϓ͉

Loan and receivables ൲ಛʿᏐϗಛධ

Trade receivables ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ 725,354 192,956

Deposits and other receivables ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධږܲ 315,541 172,898

Promissory note гୃኽו – 65,200

Loan receivables Ꮠϗ൲ಛ – 165,000

Note receivable Ꮠϗୃኽ 67,692 –

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 164,437 188,882

1,273,024 784,936

At fair value through profit or loss ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦू

Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss

ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘ 

ፄ༟ପږ 59,900 48,631

1,332,924 833,567

Financial liabilities වࠋፄږ

At amortised cost ܲᛅቖϓ͉

Trade payables ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ 537,769 30,353

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ 38,770 59,101

Bank borrowings ვБ࠾ಛ 119,800 55,897

696,339 145,351

At fair value through profit or loss ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦू

Contingent consideration payable Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ 30,000 44,350

726,339 189,701
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables, 

deposits and other receivables, loan and loan interest 

receivables, promissory notes, financial assets at FVTPL, 

cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables 

and accruals, deposits received and bank borrowings. 

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 

respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 

instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate 

risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies 

on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 

management manages and monitors these exposures to 

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely 

and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial 

risks of changes in foreign currency, interest rates and price 

risk.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Market risk exposures are further measured by sensitivity 

analysis. There has been no significant change to the 

Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which 

it manages and measures the risk. Details of each type of 

market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Group have certain foreign 

currency transaction, which expose the Group to foreign 

currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s USD denominated 

monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of 

reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

වࠋ ༟ପ

2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

USD ʩߕ 451,176 – 502,374 206

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy. However, the management has closely 

monitored the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will 

consider hedging significant foreign currency risk should 

the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to USD, the financial impact on 

exchange risk is exposed to be insignificant.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest-rate risk

Except for certain interest-bearing loans and advances 

to third party and bank borrowings, the Group has no 

significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The 

Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 

independent of changes in market interest rates. Bank 

borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to 

cash flow interest-rate risk. The loans and advances to third 

party issued at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow 

interest-rate risk. Details of the Group’s bank borrowings 

have been disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to 

hedge its exposure to interest risks.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly 

concentrated on the fluctuation of PRC Loan Prime Rate 

arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the 

Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Effective 
interest

rates HK$’000

Effective 
interest

rates HK$’000

ྼყлଟ ɷಥʩ ྼყлଟ ɷಥʩ

% %

Variable rate borrowings: ᜊਗлଟ࠾൲j

Bank borrowings ვБ࠾൲ 6.09 119,800 5.52 55,897



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

149Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

�ፄʈՈ�ᚃږ .6

 ፄࠬᎈ၍ଣͦᅺʿ݁ഄږ
�ᚃ�

̹ఙࠬᎈ�ᚃ�

лଟ฿ر�ᚃ�

ࠇɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dП׵

ਿᓃਗ਼ࡈ዆᜗лଟᄣ̋Ŋಯˇ100߰ࡊ
ᄣ̋Ŋಯˇ͉ණྠৰ೼ܝᑦฦʿଢ଼ጐ

ᑦฦ1,198,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋjߒ
559,000ಥʩ�f

ઽชܓʱؓ

ɪࠑઽชܓʱؓɗ৿ணлଟ׵జѓಂ͋

̈ତᜊਗϾᔾ֛dԨᏐ͜׵༈˚ಂπί

ʘ͛ࠃڢৌਕʈՈʘлଟࠬᎈf༈100
ಯˇܸ၍ଣᄴ൙Плଟאਿᓃʘᄣ̋ࡈ

జѓಂ͋Υଣ̙ঐܓϋࡈಂʫ至ɨɓ׵

̈ତʘᜊਗf

ᄆࣸࠬᎈ

͉ණྠԨೌఱࢫਕͦٙҳ༟ٰ͉׵ᗇՎd

݂Ԩೌוաٰ͉ᄆࣸࠬᎈf၍ଣᄴࠈϞ

݁ഄ္࿀͉ණྠᄆࣸࠬᎈdܼ̍ܵϞࠬ

ᎈʿΫజઋرʔΝٙҳ༟ଡ଼ΥdԨਗ਼׵

ϞცࣛࠅϽᅇ࿁әϞᗫࠬᎈf

൲ࠬᎈڦ

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ׵

Ϊʹ׸࿁˙͊ঐᄵБப΂�͉ණྠʊఱ

ϤЪ̈ᅡ௪�Ͼ̙ঐࠦᑗৌਕᑦฦٙ௰

৷ڦ൲ࠬᎈdɗΪၝΥৌਕًڌرʕה

Ͼପ͛f࠽ፄ༟ପٙሪࠦږ΢ධʊᆽႩࠑ

͉ණྠఱ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛࠦᑗ14.8%׵�
ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j33.6%)ٙ
ණʕڦ൲ࠬᎈd༈ഃ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛɗᏐ

ϗ͉ණྠٙ௰ɽ܄˒ʘಛධf͉ණྠʘ

ණʕڦ൲ࠬᎈ�ܲήਹࠇၑ�ԸІ࠰ಥ

�ɚཧɓʬϋjʕ਷�dЦ׵ɚཧɓɖϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʘ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛᐼᕘٙ

ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j׵�66.1%
33.6%)f

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate profile (Continued)

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general 
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates 
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax and 
accumulated losses by approximately HK$1,198,000 
(2016: approximately HK$559,000).

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined 
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred 
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to 
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial 
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis 
points increase or decrease represents management’s 
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates over the period until the end of the next annual 
reporting period.

Price risk
The Group did not have investments in equity securities for 
treasury purpose and therefore is not exposed to equity 
price risk. The management has a policy to monitor the 
Group’s exposure to price risk by maintaining a portfolio of 
investments with different risk and return profiles and will 
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arises.

Credit risk
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the 
counterparties provided by the Group is arising from the 
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial 
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 14.8% (As at 
31 December 2016: 33.6%) of trade receivables due from 
the Group’s largest customer of the Group. The Group’s 
concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is in 
Hong Kong (2016: PRC), which accounted for 66.1% (As 
at 31 December 2016: 33.6%) of total trade receivables as 
at 31 December 2017.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of 

the Group has reviewed the recoverable amount of each 

individual trade receivables, other receivables, promissory 

note, loan and loan interest receivables at the end of the 

reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses 

are made to irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the 

directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit 

risk is significantly reduced.

The Group deposited its cash and cash equivalents 

and invested its other financial assets investments with 

approved and reputable bank. Bankruptcy and insolvency 

of the bank may cause the Group’s right with respect to 

cash and cash equivalents held to be delayed or limited. 

Management of the Group monitors the credit rating of 

these banks on an ongoing basis, and considers that the 

Group’s exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2017 and 

31 December 2016 were minimal.

Further qualitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure 

to credit risk arising from trade receivables disclosed in 

Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and 

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 

flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining 

contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 

The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted 

cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 

on which the Group can be required to pay. The table 

includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the 

extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted 

amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the 

reporting period.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 

undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at 

the end of the reporting period.

Weighted Within More than More than Total

average 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More contractual Total

effective or on less than less than than undiscounted carrying

interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount

̋ᛆ̻ѩ 1年ʫא 1年˸ɪ 2年˸ɪ Υ͊ߒ൨ତ ሪࠦ࠽
ྼყлଟ 按ࠅӋ Ш2年˸ɨ Ш5年˸ɨ 5年˸ɪ ඎᐼᕘݴږ ᐼᕘ

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

% ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

At 31 December 2017 二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
Non-derivative financial liabilities වࠋፄږ͛ࠃڢ

Trade payables ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ – 537,769 – – – 537,769 539,769

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ – 38,770 – – – 38,770 38,770

Bank borrowings ვБ࠾ಛ 6.09% 123,255 – – – 123,255 119,800

699,794 – – – 699,794 698,339

At 31 December 2016 ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

Non-derivative financial liabilities වࠋፄږ͛ࠃڢ

Trade payables ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ – 30,353 – – – 30,353 30,353

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ – 59,101 – – – 59,101 59,101

Bank borrowings ვБ࠾ಛ 5.66% 58,270 – – – 58,270 55,897

147,724 – – – 147,724 145,351
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 ࠽ፄʈՈʘʮ̻ږ

ᔾ֛νɨj࠽වʘʮ̻ࠋፄږ
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ᔾ֛i
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ϜᇞආБ൨ତତݴږඎʱؓᔾ֛d

Ͼಂᛆ͛ࠃʈՈۆમ͜ಂᛆ֛ᄆ

ᅼόආБПࠇiʿ

• ৌਕዄڭΥߒʘʮ̻࠽л͜ಂᛆ

֛ᄆᅼόᔾ֛dϞᗫᅼόʕʘ˴ࠅ

৿ண̹ܲމఙڦ൲༟ࣘપᓙत֛

࿁˓˙༼ߒʘ̙ঐ׌ʿί༼ߒઋ

ᕘfږɨʘᑦฦر

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial liabilities are determined as 

follows:

• the fair value of financial liabilities with standard terms 

and conditions and traded in active liquid markets 

are determined with reference to quoted market bid 

prices and ask prices respectively;

• the fair value of financial l iabilities (excluding 

derivative instruments) is determined in accordance 

with generally accepted pricing models based on 

discounted cash flow analysis;

• the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated 

using quoted prices. Where such prices are not 

available, use is made of discounted cash flow 

analysis using the applicable yield curve for the 

duration of the instruments for non-optional 

derivatives, and option pricing models for optional 

derivatives; and

• the fair value of financial guarantee contracts is 

determined using option pricing models where the 

main assumptions are the probability of default 

by the specified counterparty extrapolated from 

market-based credit information and the amount of 

loss, given the default.
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ʮ̻࠽Пࠇ
ɨڌ౤Զڋ׵ӉᆽႩܲܝʮ̻ࠇ࠽ඎʘ

ᝈ࿀̙࠽ፄʈՈʘʱؓdɗ࣬ኽʮ̻ږ

೻ܓʱމୋɓॴ至ୋɧॴf

dୋɓॴeୋɚॴʿୋɧॴܓϋࡈՇ׵

ʘගԨೌ΂Оᔷᅡf

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The following table provides an analysis of financial 

instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 

recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 

based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

ୋ一ॴ ୋ二ॴ ୋɧॴ ᐼࠇ
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

31 December 2017 二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
Assets ༟ପ
Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss
ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘ 
ፄ༟ପږ – 59,900 – 59,900

Liabilities වࠋ
Contingent consideration  

payable
Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ

– – 30,000 30,000

31 December 2016 二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
Assets ༟ପ
Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss
ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘ 
ፄ༟ପږ – 48,631 – 48,631

Liabilities වࠋ
Contingent consideration  

payable
Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ

– – 44,350 44,350

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 in both 

years.
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ʮ̻࠽Пࠇ�ᚃ�
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION (Continued)

Some of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets 

and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the 

end of each reporting period. The following table gives 

information about how the fair values of these financial 

assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, 

the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

࠽ɨΐ˚ಂʘʮ̻׵

Valuation

Financial assets
and liabilities

31 December 31 December Fair value techniques and Significant

2017 2016 hierarchy key inputs unobservable inputs

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ П࠽Ҧஔʿ

වࠋፄ༟ପʿږ ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚ ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ ʮ̻࠽ᄴॴ ࠽፩ɝࠅ˴ ࠠɽʔ̙ᝈ࿀፩ɝ࠽

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Financial assets at  
fair value through  
profit or loss

59,900 48,631 Level 2 Quoted price for  
identical assets  
in market that  
are not active

Expected return of the investment  
by reference to similar products  
in the markets

ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦू 
ʘږፄ༟ପ

ୋɚॴ  ݺڢΝ༟ପί޴
ᚔ̹ఙٙజᄆ

຾ਞϽ̹ఙᗳЧପۜʘ 
ҳ༟ཫಂΫజ

Contingent  
consideration  
payable

(30,000) (44,350) Level 3 Discounted cash  
flow method

Derived using discounted  
cash flow approach at a rate of  
18.26%

Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ ୋɧॴ ൨ତତݴږඎج ܲ18.26%ʘˢଟમ͜൨ତ 
ତݴږඎج੻̈
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ୋɧॴʮ̻ࠇ࠽ඎʘ࿁ሪ 

7. ᐄุᕘ

ᐄุᕘܸ͉ණྠΣ̮௅܄˒̈ਯ஬אي

౤Զ؂ਕʘʊϗʿᏐϗಛධଋᕘd຾ϔ

ৰৗ஬eұϔʿቖਯ޴ᗫ೼ධf

͉ණྠϋʫᐄุᕘʱؓνɨj

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

RECONCILIATION OF LEVEL 3 FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Contingent

Consideration

Payable

Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆ

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ –

Acquisition of a subsidiary ϗᒅɓගڝ᙮ʮ̡ 38,321

Total loss in profit or loss ฦूʫʘᑦฦᐼᕘ 6,029

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017  二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚ʿ׵

˚二零一七年一˜一׵ 44,350

Settlements ૶Ꮅ (20,000)

Total loss in profit or loss ฦूʫʘᑦฦᐼᕘ 5,650

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 30,000

7. TURNOVER

Turnover represents the net amounts received and 

receivable for goods sold or services provided by the 

Group to outside customers, less returns and discounts 

and sales related taxes.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as 

follows:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Sale of telecommunication products  

and services

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ

1,097,916 2,429,088

Internet finance platform ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ 108,273 72,873

Others Չ˼ 8,583 11,884

1,214,772 2,513,845
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͉ණྠϋʫՉ˼ϗɝʿϗूʱؓνɨj

9. ʱᗳ༟ࣘ

ఱ༟๕ʱৣʿʱᗳڌତ൙ПϾΣ͉ʮ̡

໨ԫ �ึу˴ࠅ຾ᐄӔഄ٫�జѓʘ༟

ࣘdණʕא˹ʹה׵౤Զʘ஬ۜ؂אਕ

ʘᗳۨfϤ͵͉މණྠଡ଼ᔌʿ၍ଣʘਿ

๟f
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8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains for the 

years as follows:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Bank interest income ვБлࢹϗɝ 147 271

Gain on deregistration of a branch ՟ऊ೮াɓගʱʮ̡ϗू – 1,277

Government subsidy ൨ݵִ݁ 3,808 3,648

Written back of other payable ᅡΫՉ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධ – 10,080

Other interest income Չ˼лࢹϗɝ 13,036 3,841

Loss on early redemption of  

convertible notes

౤ϘᛙΫ̙౬ٰୃኽᑦฦ

– (54)

Recovery of debts from  

disposed subsidiaries

ϗΫʊ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 

ʘවਕ 11,516 –

Sundry income ᕏධϗɝ 369 810

28,876 19,873

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the 

Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for 

the purposes of resource allocation and assessment 

of segment performance focuses on types of goods or 

services delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon 

which the Group is organised and managed.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments 

under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

– Sale of telecommunication products and services

– Internet finance platform

The Group reportable segments are strategic business 

units that operate different activities. They are managed 

separately because each business has different markets 

and requires different marketing strategies.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover and 

results by reportable and operating segments:

Sale of telecommunication

products and services Internet finance platform Others Consolidated

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ Չ˼ ၝΥ

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Turnover ᐄุᕘ 1,097,916 2,429,088 108,273 72,873 8,583 11,884 1,214,772 2,513,845

Segment results 分ᗳุᐶ 34,343 91,125 29,482 43,934 (3,932) (1,028) 59,893 134,031

Interest income лࢹϗɝ 13,183 271

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗू 8,960 143,229

Recovery of debts  from disposed  
subsidiaries

ϗΫʊ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘ 
වਕ 11,516 –

Impairment loss recognised in respect of  
promissory note

ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘಯ࠽ᑦฦ

– (22,800)

Share of results of joint venture ᏐЦΥᐄΆุุᐶ (106) –

Unallocated corporate expenses ͊ʱৣʮ̡ක˕ (25,719) (23,543)

Unallocated finance costs ͊ʱৣፄ༟ϓ͉ – (8,222)

Profit before tax ৰ೼ۃ๐л 67,727 222,966

Income tax expense ˕੻೼කה (14,667) (20,779)

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 53,060 202,187

Note: Others represent other operating segments that are not 
reportable segments under HKFRS 8, which include logistics 
related business software development, and loan financing 
business.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue 

generated from external customers. There was no 

inter-segment sales in both years. The accounting policies 

of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s 

accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results 

represent the profit or loss from each segment without 

allocation of interest income, central administration costs, 

directors’ emoluments and finance costs. This is the 

measure reported to the chief operating decision maker 

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 

segment performance.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and 

liabilities by reportable segment:

Sale of telecommunication
products and services Internet finance platform Others Consolidated
ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ Չ˼ ၝΥ

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Segment assets ʱᗳ༟ପ 2,257,823 1,426,302 112,892 130,760 26,994 201,025 2,397,709 1,758,087
Unallocated corporate assets ͊ʱৣʮ̡༟ପ 107,755 94,713

Consolidated assets ၝΥ༟ପ 2,505,464 1,852,800

Segment liabilities ʱᗳࠋව 792,226 272,828 49,732 23,432 13,334 6,459 855,292 302,719
Unallocated corporate liabilities ͊ʱৣʮ̡ࠋව 3,430 2,574

Consolidated liabilities ၝΥࠋව 858,722 305,293

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and 

allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other 

than unallocated corporate assets (mainly comprising 

certain of prepayments, deposits and other 

receivables); and

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments 

other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly 

comprising receipts in advances, contingent 

consideration payable and other payables and 

accruals).
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9. ʱᗳ༟ �ࣘᚃ�

Չ˼分ᗳ༟ࣘ

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

ٙ༟͉ක˕ܼ̍ڭᎈ຾ߏ೐๫ٙ૴ໄʿ

ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධʱй1,568,000މߒಥʩ

ʿ41,099,000ಥʩf

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

ٙ༟͉ක˕ܼ̍ீཀุਕΥԻʘ༟ପϗ

ᒅ192,297,000މߒಥʩf
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Sale of telecommunication

products and services Internet finance platform Others Unallocated Consolidated

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ Չ˼ ͊分ৣ ၝΥ

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Amount included in the measure of  
segment results

 ܼ̍הඎʱᗳุᐶࠇ
ᕘږٙ

Capital expenditure ༟͉ක˕ 195,182 594,063 740 1,087 6,907 – 164 2,135 202,993 597,285

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ʿண௪ұᔚגeᅀุي 14,236 4,435 1,211 293 2,847 – 1,890 1,449 20,184 6,177

Amortisation of intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପᛅቖ 33,494 33,516 2,459 2,454 235 – – – 36,188 35,970

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධᛅቖ 616 – – – – – – – 616 –

Impairment loss recognised in respect of  
promissory note

ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ – – – – – – – 22,800 – 22,800

Impairment loss recognised in respect of  
trade receivables

ఱ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ 3,260 – – – – – – – 3,260 –

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 

2017 includes additions of an insurance brokerage license 

and prepaid lease payments amounting to approximately 

HK$1,568,000 and HK$41,099,000 respectively.

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 

2016 includes acquisition of assets through business 

combinations of approximately HK$192,297,000.

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision 

maker but not included in the measure of segment results 

or segment assets:

Sale of telecommunication

products and services Internet finance platform Others Unallocated Consolidated

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ Չ˼ ͊分ৣ ၝΥ

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Interest income лࢹϗɝ 10,660 185 27 49 2 9 2,494 28 13,183 271

Finance costs ፄ༟ϓ͉ 3,884 2,134 – – – – – 8,222 3,884 10,356

Income tax (expense)/credit еת੻೼�ක˕�Ŋה (5,834) (10,791) (8,871) (9,988) 38 – – – (14,667) (20,779)
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9. ʱᗳ༟ �ࣘᚃ�

Չ˼分ᗳ༟ �ࣘᚃ� 

ʘ༟ࣘ˒܄ࠅ˴

Ц͉ණྠᐼᐄุᕘ൴ཀ10%ܓᗫϋ޴׵

ٙԸІ˴܄ࠅ˒ʘᐄุᕘνɨj

1 ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ

˚࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵͟ 2

˟ϋܓ༈ഃ܄˒ԨڢЦ͉ණྠϗूٙ

ᚣ༈ഃמԨೌܓɪd݂͉ϋ˸א10%
ϗू༟ࣘfٙ˒܄

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵͟ 3

˚˟ϋܓ༈܄˒Ц͉ණྠϗूˇ׵

10%d݂ཀֻϋܓԨೌמᚣ༈܄˒ٙ
ϗू༟ࣘf

ήਜ༟ࣘ

͉ණྠʘุਕ˴ࠅЗ࠰׵ಥʿʕ਷f

͉ණྠԸІ̮௅܄˒ʘϗू༟ࣘɗܲ܄

ਗ༟ପʘ༟ݴڢஈʘήਜяΐdʿה˒

ࣘɗܲ༈༟ପהஈʘήਜяΐf

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Turnover from major customers of the corresponding year 

contributing over 10% of the total turnover of the Group 

are as follows:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

1, 3Customer A A˒܄3 ,1 134,184 –
1, 2Customer B B˒܄2 ,1 – 501,555
1, 2Customer C C˒܄2 ,1 – 753,587

134,184 1,255,142

1 Sale of telecommunication products and services

2 No information on revenue for current year is disclosed 
for these customers since none of them contributed 
10% or more to the Group’s revenue for the year ended 
31 December 2017.

3 No information on revenue for prior year is disclosed for this 
customer since this customer contributed less than 10% to 
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong 

and the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external 

customers is presented based on the geographical location 

of the customer, and non-current assets information is 

presented based on the geographical location of the 

assets.
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9. ʱᗳ༟ �ࣘᚃ�

Չ˼分ᗳ༟ �ࣘᚃ� 

ήਜ༟ �ࣘᚃ�

ܲήਜྌʱʘ͉ණྠԸІ̮௅܄˒ʘϗ

ूʿϞᗫՉݴڢਗ༟ପʘ༟ࣘ༉ࠑνɨj

* Ϟᗫ͉ණྠʘݴڢਗ༟ପ׵�ɓගᑌ

ᐄʮ̡ʿɓගΥᐄΆุʘᛆूৰ̮�ʘ

༟ࣘɗܲ༟ପʘήਜྌʱяΐf

10. ፄ༟ϓ͉

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers and 

information about its non-current assets by geographical 

location are detailed below:

Revenue from 
external customers Non-current assets*

ԸІ̮௅܄˒的ϗɝ *ਗ༟ପݴڢ

31 December 31 December

2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Name of the region ήਜΤ

Hong Kong ಥ࠰ 699,037 2,105,165 189,430 128,123

The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) ʕ਷�ʔܼ̍࠰ಥ� 515,735 343,922 1,000,589 798,736

South-east Asia ԭی؇ – 64,758 – –

1,214,772 2,513,845 1,190,019 926,859

* Information about the Group’s non-current assets, other 
than interests in an associate and a joint venture, is 
presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

10. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Effective interest charged on convertible  

notes

ఱ̙౬ٰୃኽϗ՟ʘ 

ྼყлࢹ – 2,799

Interest on other payables Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධлࢹ – 4,292

Interest on short-term loans ೵ಂ൲ಛлࢹ – 1,131

Bank loan interest expenses ვБ൲ಛлࢹක˕ 3,884 2,134

3,884 10,356
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˕੻೼කה .11

Ꮠሙ೼ࠇПٙܓϋࡈಥл੻೼ɗఱՇ࠰

๐лܲ೼ଟ16.5%ࠇၑf

࣬ኽʕ਷Άุה੻೼ج��Άุה੻೼
��ʿج Άุה੻೼ૢ݄ྼجԷdІɚཧ

ཧɞϋɓ˜ɓ˚ৎdʕ਷ڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘ೼

ଟ25މ%f

࣬ኽʕ਷޴ᗫجԷʿج஝d͉ʮ̡߰ʍ

৷อҦஔΆุdΥ༟މ᙮ʮ̡஗൙֛ڝ

ࣸԮϞ15%ٙᎴ౉Άุה੻೼೼ଟf

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Hong Kong Profits tax ಥл੻೼࠰

– Current tax Ñуಂ೼ධ 3,980 10,480

– Under provision for prior year Ñཀֻϋܓᅡ௪ʔԑ 331 –

4,311 10,480

PRC Enterprise Income tax ʕ਷Άุה੻೼

– Current tax Ñуಂ೼ධ 18,735 20,086

– Over provision for prior year Ñཀֻϋܓ൴ᕘᅡ௪ – (1,686)

18,735 18,400

Deferred tax (Note 34) ჈ַ೼ධڝ�ൗ34� (8,379) (8,101)

Total tax expense ೼ධක˕ᐼᕘ 14,667 20,779

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the 

estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the 
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, 

the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 

2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, 

certain subsidiaries of the Company, being qualified as 

a new and high technology enterprise, are eligible for a 

preferential Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15%.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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੻೼කה .11 �̞ᚃ�

ϋʫה੻೼ක˕ၾၝΥฦूʿՉ˼Όࠦ

ϗूڌʫৰ೼ۃᑦฦ࿁ሪνɨj

ᛆਜ຾ᐄجʔΝ̡ࡈε׵ණྠ͉׵ൗj͟ڝ

ุਕd೼ධ࿁ሪᏐ͜ʘ೼ଟܲఊࡈ೼

ਕ̡جᛆਜʘ̋ᛆ̻ѩ͉ή೼ଟࠇၑf

჈ַ೼ධʘ༉ઋ༱ڝ׵ൗ34f

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to 

the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Profit before tax ৰ೼ۃ๐л 67,727 222,966

Tax at domestic income tax  

rates applicable to profits in  

the respective jurisdiction (note)

ܲ΢І̡جᛆਜପ͛๐л 

ቇ͉ٙ͜ήה੻೼೼ଟ 

�ൗڝ�ၑٙ೼ධࠇ 8,478 35,852

Tax effect of share of results  

of joint venture

ᏐЦΥᐄΆุุᐶʘ 

೼ਕᅂᚤ (16) –

Tax effect of expense not deductible  

for tax purpose

ఱ೼ਕϾԊʔ̙ϔৰක˕ʘ 

೼ਕᅂᚤ 20,319 4,662

Tax effect of income not taxable for  

tax purpose

ఱ೼ਕϾԊˡ඲ሙ೼ϗɝʘ 

೼ਕᅂᚤ (18,622) (26,056)

Under/(Over) provision for prior year ཀֻϋܓᅡ௪ʔԑŊ 

�൴ᕘᅡ௪� 331 (1,686)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ͊ᆽႩ೼ධᑦฦʘ೼ਕᅂᚤ 4,249 7,852

Tax effect of deductible temporary  

differences not recognised

͊ᆽႩ̙ϔ೼ᅲࣛࢨᕘʘ 

೼ਕᅂᚤ (72) 155

Income tax expense for the year ϋʫה੻೼ක˕ 14,667 20,779

Note: As the Group operates in several different jurisdictions, 
the tax rate applied in the tax reconciliation represents the 
weighted average domestic tax rates of the individual tax 
jurisdiction.

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 34.
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12. ৰ೼ۃ๐л12. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Profit before tax has been arrived  

at after charging:

ৰ೼ۃ๐лʊϔৰ˸ɨ 

΢ධj

Staff costs, including directors’  

remuneration (Note 14)

 ږʈϓ͉dܼ̍໨ԫཇࡰ

�ൗ14ڝ�

– Salaries, wages and other benefits Ñᑚږeʈ༟ʿՉ˼၅л 36,476 38,034

–  Contributions to retirement  

benefits schemes

Ñৗ;၅лࠇྌԶಛ

3,122 2,756

Total staff costs ᐼࡰʈϓ͉ 39,598 40,790

Depreciation of property,  

plant and equipment

ʿண௪ұᔚגeᅀุي

20,184 6,177

Amortisation of intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପᛅቖ 36,188 35,970

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධᛅቖ 616 –

Impairment loss recognised  

in respect of promissory note

ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘ 

ಯ࠽ᑦฦ – 22,800

Impairment loss recognised in respect of  

trade receivables

ఱ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛᆽႩʘ 

ಯ࠽ᑦฦ 3,260 –

Exchange difference, net ිгࢨᕘdଋᕘ – (5)

Auditors’ remuneration ࣨᅰࢪཇږ

– audit service Ñᄲࣨ؂ਕ 1,160 1,080

– non-audit service Ñڢᄲࣨ؂ਕ 120 120

Minimum lease payments under operating  

lease in respect of rented premises

̈ॡุيʘ຾ᐄॡ༣ٙ 

௰Эॡږ˹ಛ 9,797 6,137

Cost of inventories recognised as expense ʊᆽႩމක˕ʘπ஬ϓ͉ 783,427 2,100,937
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13. ӊٰޮл

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦϋʫӊٰਿ͉ʿᛅᑛ

ޮлɗܲ˸ɨᅰኽࠇၑj

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓʘӊٰᛅᑛޮлࠇၑԨ

ೌ৿ண߰ʍᒅٰᛆᐏБԴdࡡΪމБԴ

ᄆ৷̻׵ѩ̹ఙٰᄆf

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company for the year is 
based on the following data:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Profit for the year attributable to  
owners of the Company and profit  
for the purpose of basic and diluted  
earnings per share

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦϋʫ 
๐лʿ͜ࠇ׵ၑӊٰ 
ਿ͉ʿᛅᑛޮлʘ๐л

40,905 192,009

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

’000 ’000

ɷٰ ɷٰ

Weighted average number of ordinary  
shares for the purpose of basic  
earnings per share

 ၑӊٰਿ͉ޮлʘࠇ׵͜
౷ஷٰ̋ᛆ̻ѩᅰ

9,528,844 9,528,844

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  
Share options

ᆑίᛅᑛ౷ஷٰʘᅂᚤj 
ᒅٰᛆ 7,196 37,057

Weighted average number of ordinary  
shares for the purpose of diluted  
earnings per share

 ၑӊٰᛅᑛޮлʘࠇ׵͜
౷ஷٰ̋ᛆ̻ѩᅰ

9,536,040 9,565,901

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years 
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 does not assume the 
exercise of certain share options since the exercise prices 
are higher than the average market share price.
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14. ໨ԫᑚཇ

ൗjڝ

(a) ׵ɚཧɓʬϋ̬˜ɓ˚ৗ΂
(b) ׵ɚཧɓʬϋɘ˜ɤʞ˚ᗘ΂
(c) ׵ɚཧɓʬϋ̬˜ɓ˚ৗ΂
(d) ׵ɚཧɓʬϋɘ˜ɚɤ˚ᐏ։΂
(e) ׵ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɚɤɚ˚ᐏ։΂
(f) ׵ɚཧɓɖϋʞ˜ɧɤɓ˚ᐏ։΂

ੵᑊइ΋͛͵ಀ͉މʮ̡Б݁ᐼ൒dɪ

࿚至ɚཧ׵ᚣʘՉᑚཇܼ̍Չמה˖

ɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟

ϋܓዄ΂Б݁ᐼ൒౤Զ؂ਕٙᑚཇf

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS
2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

Salaries, Contributions Salaries, Contributions

wages to retirement wages to retirement

and other benefits and other benefits

Fees benefits schemes Total Fees benefits schemes Total

Names of directors ໨ԫ֑Τ சږ
ᑚږeʈ༟ʿ
Չ˼၅л

ৗ;၅л
劃Զಛࠇ ᐼࠇ சږ

ᑚږeʈ༟ʿ

Չ˼၅л

ৗ;၅л

ྌԶಛࠇ ᐼࠇ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Executive directors: ੂБ໨ԫj
Mr. Zhang Xinyu ੵอρ΋͛ 60 1,085 36 1,181 60 900 30 990

Mr. Lian Xin (Note a) ᇖอ΋ �ൗaڝ͛� – – – – 6 – – 6

Mr. Cheung Sing Tai ੵᑊइ΋͛ 240 1,545 36 1,821 240 1,808 30 2,078

Mr. Xu Gang ੪΋͛ࢱ 120 244 10 374 120 270 6 396

Mr. Tao Wei (Note e) ௗ⑸΋ �ൗeڝ͛� 63 338 – 401 – – – –

Mr. Zhang Bo (Note e) ΋تੵ �ൗeڝ͛� 63 203 10 276 – – – –

Non-executive director: Б໨ԫjੂڢ
Dr. Lie Haiquan (Note f) ΐऎᛆ௹ɻڝ�ൗ f� – – – – – – – –

Independent non-executive  
directors:

ዹͭੂڢБ໨ԫj

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (Note b) ૑࢕ձ΋ �ൗbڝ͛� – – – – 153 – – 153

Ms. Xi Lina ɾɻࢆᘆࢃ 144 – – 144 138 – – 138

Mr. Chou Jianzhong (Note c) ʒ׀ܔ΋ �ൗcڝ͛� – – – – 42 – – 42

Mr. Huang Zhixiong රқඪ΋͛ 124 – – 124 120 – – 120

Mr. Zhang Zihua (Note d) ੵɿശ΋͛* 
(ZHANG Zihua)ڝ�ൗd� 172 – – 172 47 – – 47

986 3,415 92 4,493 926 2,978 66 3,970

Notes:

(a) Retired on 1 April 2016
(b) Resigned on 15 September 2016
(c) Retired on 1 April 2016
(d) Appointed on 20 September 2016
(e) Appointed on 22 June 2017
(f) Appointed on 31 May 2017

Mr. Cheung Sing Tai was also the chief executive officer of 
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include 
those for service rendered by him as the chief executive 
officer for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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14. ໨ԫᑚཇ�ᚃ�

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd

฿ೌ໨ԫ׳૝אΝจ׳૝΂Оཇږʘτ

ર�ɚཧɓʬϋjೌ�f

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd͉ණྠԨೌΣ͉ʮ̡

໨ԫ˕˹΂ОཇږdЪ̋މɝאί̋ɝ

͉ණྠࣛʘᆤᎸאЪމᕎᔖ໾Ꮅf

15. ௰৷ᑚཇࡈйɛɻ

͉ණྠʞΤ௰৷ᑚཇࡈйɛɻʫdՇΤ

�ɚཧɓʬϋjՇΤ͉މ�ʮ̡໨ԫd־

ഃʘᑚཇʊ׵ɪ˖מᚣfϋʫdՉቱɧ

Τ�ɚཧɓʬϋjɧΤ�௰৷ᑚཇࡈйɛ

ɻʘᑚཇνɨj

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS 

(Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director waived 

or agreed to waive any emoluments in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, 

no emoluments was paid by the Group to the directors of 

the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the 

Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 

EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the 

Group, two (2016: two) were directors of the Company 

whose emoluments are included in the disclosures above. 

The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) 

highest paid individuals during the year were as follows:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Salaries, wages and other benefits ᑚږeʈ༟ʿՉ˼၅л 2,301 3,307

Contributions to retirement  

benefits schemes

ৗ;၅лࠇྌԶಛ

44 74

2,345 3,381
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15. ௰৷ᑚཇࡈйɛɻ�ᚃ�

ՉቱɧΤ�ɚཧɓʬϋjɧΤ�௰৷ᑚཇ

ɨᇍఖʫj˸˷ޢйɛɻʘᑚཇࡈ

ϋʫd͉ණྠ฿ೌΣʞΤ௰৷ᑚཇࡈй

ɛɻ˕˹΂ОཇږdЪ̋މɝאί̋ɝ

͉ණྠࣛʘᆤᎸאЪމᕎᔖ໾Ꮅ�ɚཧ

ɓʬϋjೌ�f

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ʮ̡׵

໨ԫ࣬ኽ͉ʮ̡ᒅٰᛆࠇྌܵϞᒅٰᛆf

Ϟᗫᒅٰᛆʘ༉ઋɗ׵໨ԫึజѓ�ᒅ

ٰᛆࠇྌ�ɓݬʿڝൗ36ʕמᚣf

ࢹٰ .16

ᙄఱ࿚ܔd͉ʮ̡໨ԫܝజѓಂഐҼ׵

至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋݼܓ

೯͋ಂٰࢹӊٰ౷ஷٰ0.38ಥ �̀ɚཧ

ɓʬϋj0.38ಥ̀�dΥ΍36,184,000ಥ
ʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj36,210,000ಥʩ��຾
ɝሪൗቖІɚཧɓɞϋɚ˜ɓ˚至ɤ̬

˚ಂගᒅΫʘ6,660,000ٰ౷ஷٰ�dઓ
඲׵؇ٰܙуਗ਼ᑘБٰٙ؇ɽึɪҭࡘ

Ъྼf̙˙ܝ

జ׵Ԩೌࢹᙄʘ͋ಂٰܔܝజѓಂ͋׵

ѓಂ͋ᆽႩࠋމවf

˟˚࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵

ϋܓdʊҭࡘʿݼ˹Ϟᗫཀֻৌ݁ϋܓ

ʘ͋ಂٰࢹӊٰ౷ஷٰ0.38ಥ �̀ɚཧ

ɓʬϋjೌ�dᐼᕘ36,210,000މಥʩ
�ɚཧɓʬϋjೌ�f

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) 
highest paid individuals fell within the following bands:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Emolument bands ᑚཇᇍఖ

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ཧ至1,000,000ಥʩ 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001ಥʩ至 

2,000,000ಥʩ 1 2

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest 
paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining 
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil).

At 31 December 2017, the directors of the Company 
held share options under the Company’s share option 
schemes. Details of the share options are disclosed under 
the paragraph “Share option schemes” in the report of the 
directors and Note 36.

16. DIVIDENDS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final 
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 
2017 of 0.38 HK cent (2016: 0.38 HK cent) per ordinary 
share, in an aggregate amount of HK$36,184,000 (2016: 
HK$36,210,000) after accounting for the cancellation of 
6,660,000 ordinary shares repurchased during the period 
from 1 to 14 February 2018, has been proposed by the 
directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the 
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting 
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of 
the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, final dividend 
in respect of the previous financial year of 0.38 HK cent 
(2016: Nil) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of 
HK$36,210,000 (2016: Nil) was approved and paid.
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ʿண௪17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTגeᅀุي .17

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Office

equipment
Furniture

and fixtures
Motor

vehicles
Traffic

signboards

Data center 
and 

machinery
Construction 

in progress Total

ᅽρ ॡ༣ุيༀࡌ ፬ʮ܃ண௪ ௧ᩬʿༀໄ ӛԓ ʹஷܸͪ೐
ᅰኽʕːʿ

ዚኜ ίܔʈ೻ ᐼࠇ
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Cost ϓ͉
At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 20,669 1,365 15,987 10,268 1,165 23,290 – – 72,744

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ (3,615) (426) (2,221) (259) (296) (1,477) (2,923) (7,179) (18,396)

Additions ૴ໄ 70,501 10,750 6,160 846 8,237 – 89,302 219,082 404,878

Acquired on acquisition of  
subsidiaries (Note 37(c))

Ϊϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡Ͼᒅɝ 
�ൗ37(c)ڝ� – – 5,678 – – – – – 5,678

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(c))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗ38(c)ڝ̡�
– (62) (876) (6,324) – – – – (7,262)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017

 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵
ʿɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 87,555 11,627 24,728 4,531 9,106 21,813 86,379 211,903 457,642

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ 6,719 1,076 3,144 260 904 245 21,367 8,391 42,106

Additions ૴ໄ 7,238 6,237 5,713 255 5,276 – 30,909 104,698 160,326

Transfer from construction  
in progress

ᔷІίܔʈ೻

– 786 – – – – 212,991 (213,777) –

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(a) & (b))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
ൗ38(a)ʿڝ� (b)� – – (14,117) (506) (398) (22,058) – – (37,079)

At 31 December 2017 ˚ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 101,512 19,726 19,468 4,540 14,888 – 351,646 111,215 622,995

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment

ଢ଼ࠇұᔚʿಯ࠽

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 491 1,247 14,647 3,718 471 23,290 – – 43,864

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ (61) (182) (1,863) (60) (28) (1,477) – – (3,671)

Provided for the year ϋʫᅡ௪ 950 1,414 2,846 818 149 – – – 6,177

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(c))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗ38(c)ڝ̡�
– (62) (630) (2,698) – – – – (3,390)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017

 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵
ʿɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 1,380 2,417 15,000 1,778 592 21,813 – – 42,980

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ 351 303 2,334 95 181 245 326 – 3,835

Provided for the year ϋʫᅡ௪ 4,064 3,734 3,716 439 2,983 – 5,248 – 20,184

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(a) & (b))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
ൗ38(a)ʿڝ� (b)� – – (14,043) (505) (398) (22,058) – – (37,004)

At 31 December 2017 ˚ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 5,795 6,454 7,007 1,807 3,358 – 5,574 – 29,995

Carrying values ሪࠦ࠽
At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 95,717 13,272 12,461 2,733 11,530 – 346,072 111,215 593,000

At 31 December 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 86,175 9,210 9,728 2,753 8,514 – 86,379 211,903 414,662
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18. ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධ

ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධܸ׵ɚཧʬɖϋɓ˜Ցಂ

ʘ׵ʕ਷ʘ50ϋɺήԴ͜ᛆf༈ಛධ׵
ॡ༣ಂᆽႩމක˕f

ఱజѓϾԊʘʱؓj

ɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ʘᛆू׵ .19

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid lease payments represent 50-year land use rights 
in the PRC expiring on January 2067. This payment is 
recognised as an expense over the leasehold period.

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017

 ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ˚eɚཧɓʬϋ׵
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ –

Addition of prepaid lease payments ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධᄣ̋ 41,099

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  
(Note 12)

ཫ˹ॡ༣ಛධᛅቖ 
�ൗ12ڝ� (616)

Exchange alignment ිгሜ዆ 2,468

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 42,951

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ 42,129

Current assets included in prepayments, 
deposits and other receivables

 ʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධʘږɝཫ˹ಛධeܲࠇ
ਗ༟ପݴ 822

42,951

Medium-term lease ʕಂॡ༣ 42,951

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

Year ended
31 December

2017

Year ended
31 December

2016

࿚Ї
二零一七年

ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
˟年ܓ

࿚至

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Cost of investment in an associate
Unlisted

 ɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ʘҳ༟ϓ͉׵
�ɪ̹ڢ� – –

Share of post-acquisition loss and  
other comprehensive income

ᏐЦϗᒅܝᑦฦʿ 
Չ˼Όࠦϗू – –

– –
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ɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ʘᛆ׵ .19 �ूᚃ�

˜ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ׵

ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ׵˸ɨᑌᐄʮ̡ኹϞ

ᛆूj

ൗjڝ

i. ᑌᐄʮ̡׵࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜
ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ̈ܓਯfϞᗫ༉ઋdሗਞ
ቡڝൗ38(c)f

ii. ᄿ؇ईᆓᇲऎථࠇၑϞࠢʮ̡׵࿚至
ɚཧɓʞϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓൗ
̅ϓͭf࿚至͉జѓ˚ಂd͉ණྠ֠͊
ҁϓء༟dϞᗫ༟͉וዄʘږᕘʘ༉
ઋdሗਞቡڝൗ40f

Ϟᗫ͉ණྠᑌᐄʮ̡ৌਕ༟ࣘʘ฿ࠑ༱

ΐνɨj

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had interest in 
the following associate:

Name of entity

Class of

shares held

Country of

incorporation/

registration

Principal

Place of

operation

Nominal value

of paid up

issued

share capital

Proportion of

nominal value of

issued capital held

by the Group

Proportion of

voting power held Principal activities

ྼ᜗Τ၈ ܵϞٰ΅ᗳ別 ϓͭŊൗ̅਷࢕ ᐄุήᓃࠅ˴

ᖮԑʊ೯Б

࠽ٰ͉ࠦ

͉ණྠܵϞʊ೯Б 

ˢԷ࠽ࠦୃٰ͉ ܵϞҳୃᛆˢԷ ˴ᐄุਕ

2017 2016 2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

China Orient Space  

Communications  

Ltd (Note i)

Ordinary British Virgin  

Islands

Hong Kong USD100 – – – – Investment holding

China Orient Space  

Communications Ltd 

ൗڝ� i�

౷ஷٰ ࢥ᙮ஈɾ໊ߵ ಥ࠰ ʩߕ100 – ҳ༟છٰ

ᄿ؇ईᆓᇲऎථࠇၑ 

Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Note ii)

Ordinary PRC PRC – – – 40% 40% Applications of  

Cloud Computing  

and e-commerce  

business

ᄿ؇ईᆓᇲऎථࠇၑ 

Ϟࠢʮ ൗڝ̡� ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷ ʕ਷ ථࠇၑᏐ͜ʿཥɿਠਕ

Notes:

i. The associate was disposed of during the year ended 
31 December 2016. For details, please refer to Note 38(c).

ii. ᄿ؇ईᆓᇲऎථࠇၑϞࠢʮ̡ was incorporated during 
the year ended 31 December 2015. Up to the date of 
this report, the Group has not completed the capital 
contribution, for details, please refer to Note 40 for the 
amount of capital commitment.

The summarised financial information in respect of the 
Group’s associate is set out below:

Year ended
31 December

2017

Year ended
31 December

2016
࿚Ї二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

˟年ܓ

࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓ

HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Total assets ᐼ༟ପ – –
Total liabilities ᐼࠋව – –

Net liabilities වଋᕘࠋ – –

Group’s share of net assets of the associate ͉ණྠᏐЦᑌᐄʮ̡༟ପଋ࠽ – –
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ɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ʘᛆ׵ .19 �ूᚃ�

ɓගΥᐄΆุᛆू׵ .20

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Total revenue ᐼϗɝ – –

Total loss for the year ϋʫᐼᑦฦ – –

Total comprehensive loss Όࠦᑦฦᐼᕘ – –

Group’s share of loss and  
other comprehensive loss of  
associate for the year

ϋʫ͉ණྠᏐЦᑌᐄʮ̡ʘ 
ᑦฦʿՉ˼Όࠦᑦฦ

– –

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

The unrecognised share of  
loss of the associate

͊ᆽႩᏐЦᑌᐄʮ̡ᑦฦ

– –

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Cumulative share of loss of the associate ଢ଼ࠇᏐЦᑌᐄʮ̡ᑦฦ – –

20. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE

Year ended 
31 December 

2017

࿚Ї二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

˟年ܓ
HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Cost of investment in a joint venture unlisted ɓගΥᐄΆุʘҳ༟ϓ׵ �ɪ̹ڢ͉� 575

Share of post-acquisition loss and  
other comprehensive income

ᏐЦϗᒅܝᑦฦʿՉ˼Όࠦϗू

(106)

469
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ɓගΥᐄΆุᛆ׵ .20 �ूᚃ� 

జѓಂ͋d͉ණྠΥᐄΆุʘ༉ઋν׵

ɨj

ൗjڝ

i. ׵ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɤɘ˚dᄿ؇ᇲऎ

୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ᄿ؇ᇲऎ���Չ
ٰ͉ᛆू͉͟ʮ̡ீཀഐ࿴׌Υߒછ

Փ�ၾʕऎ߅ࢹڦذҦϞࠢʮ �̡�ʕ
ऎͭࠈ��ذΥᐄΆุΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄ
��ΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄ��f࣬ኽΥЪ࣪ݖ
՘ᙄdᄿ؇ᇲऎၾʕऎذΝจϓͭऎ

೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡d˸΍Νذ

ঐ๕Бุҳ༟೯࢝ᅰኽʕːุਕf׵

ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡׵ɚཧ

ɓɖϋɞ˜ɤɞ˚ൗ̅ϓͭf

ii. ͉ණྠܵϞऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞ

ࠢʮ �̡�ऎذ೯࢝��ʊ೯Бٰ͉ʘ
51%dԨʊ։΂ʞΤ໨ԫՉʕɧΤf್
Ͼd࣬ኽΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄd΂О໨ԫึӔ

ᙄࣩѩ඲຾ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢ

ʮٰ̡ٙ؇ڌܵהӔᛆٙɧʱʘɚஷ

ཀf໨ԫႩމdΥЪ࣪ݖ՘ᙄߒࠈ˙՘

֛ʱԮऎذ೯࢝ʘછՓᛆdуϞᗫऎ

ᗫุਕʘӔ֛ც຾̤ɓ˙Ν޴೯࢝ذ

จfΪϤd׵ऎذ೯࢝ʘҳ༟ʱᗳމΥ

ᐄΆุf

20. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 

(Continued)

Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the 

reporting period is as follows:

Name of entity
Class of 
shares held

Country of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Nominal 
value of 
paid up 
issued 
share 

capital

Proportion 
of ownership 
interest held 

by the Group

Proportion of 
voting power 

held
Principal 
activities

ྼ᜗Τ၈
ܵϞٰ΅
ᗳ別

ϓͭŊ
ൗ̅਷࢕

ࠅ˴
ᐄุήᓃ

ᖮԑʊ೯Б
࠽ٰ͉ࠦ

͉ණྠܵϞʘ
ኹϞᛆ

ᛆूˢԷ
ܵϞҳୃ
ᛆˢԷ ˴ᐄุਕ

2017 2017

二零一七年 二零一七年

ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽ 
ᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡ 
(Note i and ii)

Ordinary PRC PRC RMB
ɛ͏࿆

500,000

51% 51% Provision of  
IDC Services

ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽ 
Ϟࠢʮ ൗڝ̡� iʿ ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷ ʕ਷ ౤Զʝᑌၣᅰኽ 
ʕː؂ਕ

Notes:

i. On 19 June 2017, Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development 
Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Bluesea”), the equity interest of 
which is controlled by the Company through structured 
contracts, and China National Offshore Oil Information 
Technology Limited (“CNOOIT”) entered into a joint venture 
cooperation framework agreement (the “Cooperation 
Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation 
Framework Agreement, Guangdong Bluesea and CNOOIT 
agreed to establish ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡ for the 
joint investment in the development of data center business 
in the energy industry. ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡ was 
incorporated on 18 August 2017.

ii. The Group holds 51% of the issued share capital and has 
appointed 3 out of 5 directors of ऎذ೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽ
Ϟࠢʮ̡ (“ऎذ೯࢝“). However, under the Cooperation 
Framework Agreement, passing any board resolutions 
requires two-thirds of the votes from the directors of ऎذ
೯࢝ᇲऎɽᅰኽϞࠢʮ̡ . The Directors consider that the 
parties to the Cooperation Framework Agreement agree to 
share control over ऎذ೯࢝ , i.e. decision about activities of 
ऎذ೯࢝ requires consent from the other party. As such, 
the investment in ऎذ೯࢝ is classified as a joint venture.
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ɓගΥᐄΆุᛆ׵ .20 �ूᚃ� 

Ϟᗫ͉ණྠΥᐄΆุৌਕ༟ࣘʘ฿ࠑ༱

ΐνɨj

20. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 
(Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the 
Group’s joint venture is set out below:

Year ended 31 
December 2017

࿚Ї
二零一七年

ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚
˟年ܓ

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Total assets ᐼ༟ପ 436

Total liabilities ᐼࠋව (57)

Net Assets ༟ପଋᕘ 379

Group’s share of net assets of  
the joint venture ͉ණྠᏐЦΥᐄΆุ༟ପଋ࠽ 193

Total revenue ᐼϗɝ –

Total loss for the year ϋʫᐼᑦฦ 208

Total comprehensive loss Όࠦᑦฦᐼᕘ 208

Group’s share of loss and  
other comprehensive loss of  
joint venture for the year

ϋʫ͉ණྠᏐЦΥᐄΆุʘ 
ᑦฦʿՉ˼Όࠦϗɝᑦฦ

106
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21. ਠᚑ

ൗjڝ

(a) ࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟

ϋܓdΪϗᒅᄿψ༟ןପ͛ਠᚑߒ

79,801,000ಥʩfϞᗫ༉ઋdሗਞቡڝ
ൗ37(c)f

(b) ࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ

dΪ̈ਯHCH Investment LimitedϾܓ
՟ऊᆽႩਠᚑʘሪࠦ6,403,000ߒމ࠽
ಥʩfϞᗫ༉ઋdሗਞቡڝൗ38(c)f

(c) ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ

dΪ̈ਯEasy Ray LimitedϾ՟ऊᆽܓ
ႩਠᚑfϞᗫ༉ઋdሗਞቡڝൗ38(b)f

21. GOODWILL

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Cost ϓ͉

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 1,226,057

Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note a) Ϊϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡הପ �ൗaڝ͛� 79,801

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note b) ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗbڝ̡� (211,838)

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017  ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿ׵

ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 1,094,020

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note c) ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗcڝ̡� (711,429)

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 382,591

Accumulated impairment ଢ଼ࠇಯ࠽

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 1,104,316

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note b) ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗbڝ̡� (205,435)

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017  ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿ׵

ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 898,881

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note c) ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �ൗcڝ̡� (711,429)

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 187,452

Carrying values ሪࠦ࠽

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 195,139

At 31 December 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 195,139

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, goodwill 
amounted to approximately HK$79,801,000 was arisen 
from the acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop. For details, 
please refer to the Note 37(c).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2016, carrying amount 
of goodwill amounted to approximately HK$6,403,000 was 
derecognised upon the disposal of HCH Investment Limited. 
For details, please refer to the Note 38(c).

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2017, goodwill was 
derecognised upon disposal of Easy Ray Limited. For 
details, please refer to Note 38(b).
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22.ೌҖ༟ପ22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Wireless
network
platform

Contracted
and

uncontracted
customers

relationships

Lottery
software

development
system

Exclusive
rights on
purchase
and sale

of satellite
communication

equipment
and related 

services and 
trademarks

Computer
software

Technical
know how

technology License

Internet 
finance 

platform Total

ೌᇞၣഖ̨̻

ʊߒࠈʿ
ʘߒࠈ͊
ڷᗫ˒܄

੹ୃழ΁
ක೯ӻ୕

൯ር㠛݋ஷৃ
ண௪˸ʿ޴ᗫ
؂ਕʿਠᅺʘ

ዹ࢕બᛆ ཥ໘ழ΁ Ҧஔ ஢̙ᗇ ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ ᐼࠇ
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Cost ϓ͉
At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 22,119 357,697 955 58,967 31,370 71,617 7,662 23,885 574,272

Additions ૴ໄ – – – – – – – 110 110

Acquired on acquisition of  
a subsidiary (Note 37(c))

Ϊϗᒅɓගڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
Ͼᒅɝڝ�ൗ37(c)� – 178,399 – – – – 8,220 – 186,619

Disposal of subsidiaries 
 (Note 38(c))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
�ൗ38(c)ڝ� – – – (58,967) (31,527) – – – (90,494)

Exchange alignment ිгሜ዆ (1,402) – (61) – 157 (4,540) – (56) (5,902)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017

 ˜ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ׵
ɧɤɓ˚ʿ 
ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 20,717 536,096 894 – – 67,077 15,882 23,939 664,605

Additions ૴ໄ – – – – 9,022 – – – 9,022

Acquired on acquisition of  
a subsidiary (Note 37(a))

Ϊϗᒅɓගڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
Ͼᒅɝڝ�ൗ37(a)� – – – – – – 1,568 – 1,568

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(b))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
�ൗ38(b)ڝ� – (185,920) – – – (67,668) – – (253,588)

Exchange alignment ිгሜ዆ 1,484 – 64 – 562 591 – 63 2,764

At 31 December 2017  ɚཧɓɖϋ׵
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ 22,201 350,176 958 – 9,584 – 17,450 24,002 424,371

Accumulated amortization  
and impairment

ଢ଼ࠇᛅቖʿಯ࠽

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 22,119 225,314 955 49,895 7,168 71,617 575 1,763 379,406

Provided for the year ϋʫᅡ௪ – 27,378 – 3,707 1,049 – 1,382 2,454 35,970

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(c))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
�ൗ38(c)ڝ� – – – (53,602) (8,257) – – – (61,859)

Exchange alignment ිгሜ዆ (1,402) – (61) – 40 (4,540) – (7) (5,970)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017

 ɚཧɓʬϋ׵
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿ 
ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 20,717 252,692 894 – – 67,077 1,957 4,210 347,547

Provided for the year ϋʫᅡ௪ – 31,837 – – 69 – 1,823 2,459 36,188

Disposal of subsidiaries  
(Note 38(b))

̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ 
�ൗ38(b)ڝ� – (185,920) – – – (67,668) – – (253,588)

Exchange alignment ිгሜ዆ 1,484 – 64 – 4 591 – 22 2,165

At 31 December 2017  ɚཧɓɖϋ׵
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ 22,201 98,609 958 – 73 – 3,780 6,691 132,312

Carrying values ሪࠦ࠽
At 31 December 2017  二零一七年׵

ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚ – 251,567 – – 9,511 – 13,670 17,311 292,059

At 31 December 2016  ɚཧɓʬϋ׵
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ – 283,404 – – – – 13,925 19,729 317,058
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22.ೌҖ༟ପ�ᚃ�

˸ɪೌҖ༟ପʘ̙͜ϋಂϞࠢf༈ഃೌ

Җ༟ପɗ˸ٜᇞܲج˸ɨϋಂᛅቖj

ೌᇞၣഖ̨̻ 5ϋ

ʊߒࠈʿ͊ߒࠈʘ܄˒ᗫ10-4 ڷϋ

੹ୃழ΁ක೯୕ڷ 3ϋ

൯ር㠛݋ஷৃண௪˸ʿ 

 ᗫ؂ਕʿਠᅺʘ޴

ዹ࢕બᛆ

3.25ϋ

Ҧஔ 10ϋ

ཥ໘ழ΁ 3-5ϋ

஢̙ᗇ 5-10ϋ

ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ 5-10ϋ

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such 

intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over 

the following periods:

Wireless network platform 5 years

Contracted and uncontracted customers  

relationships

4-10 years

Lottery software development system 3 years

Exclusive rights on purchase and sale of  

satellite communication equipment and  

related services and trademarks

3.25 years

Technical know how technology 10 years

Computer software 3-5 years

License 5-10 years

Internet finance platform 5-10 years
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊

ఱಯ࠽಻༊ϾԊdڝൗ21ʿڝൗ22ה༱

ՈϞ̙ࠢԴ͜ϋಂٙਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʊ

ʱৣ至˸ɨତږପ͛ఊЗଡ଼йj

• ༨ద᜗ᄿѓ؂ਕÑ֝ڥණྠ

• ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕÑʕ਷ೌᇞ

̹۬ණྠ

• ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕÑ౽ࣦණྠ

• ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕÑᇲऎ୅ਗ

ණྠ

• ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕÑຬϓණྠ

• ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕÑᄿψ༟ן

• ʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕÑڛɭ༺ৌ

బ

ऎଣৌۃ؂ਕÑߏᎈ຾ڭ •

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and 

intangible assets with definite useful life set out in note 21 

and note 22 has been allocated to the following groups of 

cash-generating units:

• Transmedia advertising services – Ease Ray Group

• Sale of telecommunication products and services – 

China Wimetro Group

• Sale of telecommunication products and services – 

Smart Long Group

• Sale of telecommunication products and services – 

Bluesea Mobile Group

• Sale of telecommunication products and services – 

Million Ace Group

• Sale of telecommunication products and services – 

Guangzhou Nowtop

• Internet finance platform business – Avatar Wealth

• Insurance brokerage service – Qianhai Wealth
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊�ᚃ�

ਠᚑʘሪࠦ࠽�ϔৰଢ଼ࠇಯ࠽ᑦฦ�ɦ

ৣ至ɨΐఊЗj

࿚至ɚཧ׵ପ͛ఊЗږණྠʘତڥ֝ ൗjڝ
ɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋ̈ܓਯf

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated 

impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Transmedia advertising services ༨ద᜗ᄿѓ؂ਕ

– Ease Ray Group Ñ֝ڥණྠ – –

Sale of telecommunication products and  

services – China Wimetro Group

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

Ñʕ਷ೌᇞ̹۬ණྠ – –

Sale of telecommunication products and  

services – Smart Long Group

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

Ñ౽ࣦණྠ – –

Sale of telecommunication products and  

services – Bluesea Mobile Group

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

Ñᇲऎ୅ਗණྠ 36,246 36,246

Sale of telecommunication products and  

services – Million Ace Group

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

Ñຬϓණྠ 65,188 65,188

Internet finance platform – Avatar Wealth ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻ 

Ñڛɭ༺ৌబ 13,904 13,904

Sale of telecommunication products and  

services – Guangzhou Nowtop

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ 

Ñᄿψ༟ן 79,801 79,801

195,139 195,139

Note: The cash-generating unit of Ease Ray Group was disposed 
of during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊�ᚃ�

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ

ᇲऎ୅ਗ集團

ᇲऎ୅ਗණྠʘ̙ϗΫږᕘʊ࣬ኽԴ͜

ᄆࠇ࠽ၑجϾᔾ֛f༈ࠇၑ˙جɗ࣬ኽ

1�ᇲऎ୅ਗණྠ၍ଣᄴᇜႡʘʞϋಂ๐

лཫ಻dʿ2�ӊϋ16.6%�ɚཧɓʬϋj

16.6%�ٙ ұତଟ�Չˀ݈̹̈ఙ࿁຅ࣛ

஬࿆ࣛගᄆٙ࠽൙П˸ʿତږପ͛ఊЗ

ٙत֛ڦ൲ࠬᎈ�Ͼ֛f5ϋ˸ɪʘତږ

ɗԴ͜3%�ɚཧɓʬϋj3%�ٙݴ ᖢ֛

ᄣڗଟપᓙf༈ᄣڗଟɗ࣬ኽ޴ᗫପุ

ᄣڗཫ಻d˲Ԩೌ൴̈޴ᗫପุٙڗಂ

̻ѩᄣڗଟfԴ͜ᄆࠇ࠽ၑجʘՉ˼˴

Ϟᗫd̍ࠇП̈ݴɝŊݴږ৿ணၾତࠅ

ܼ̻ѩልΥᄣڗଟ7މ%�ɚཧɓʬϋj

3.7%�ٙ ཫၑቖਯᕘʿᖢ֛ٙˣлd༈

ПࠇɗԱኽ༈ତږପ͛ఊЗʘཀֻڌତ

ʿՉ၍ଣᄴఱ̹ఙ೯࢝ʘཫಂf၍ଣᄴ

d΂О༈ഃ৿ணɨʘ΂ОΥଣ̙ঐڦ޴

ᜊਗਗ਼ʔึኬߧᇲऎ୅ਗණྠʘᐼሪࠦ

൴ཀᇲऎ୅ਗණྠʘ̙ϗΫᐼᕘf࠽

࣬ኽʕ༐༺༟ପ൙࠽ᚥਪϞࠢʮ �̡�༟
ପ൙࠽ᚥਪ��̈ ՈٙП࠽జѓdᇲऎ୅

ਗණྠ̙ٙϗΫږᕘ൴ཀሪࠦ࠽d݂ೌ

ცЪ̈ಯ࠽˕ቖf

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Bluesea Mobile Group

The recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile Group has 

been determined based on value in use calculation. Such 

calculation is based on 1) profit forecast prepared by 

Bluesea Mobile Group’s management covering a five year 

period and 2) a discount rate of 16.6% (2016: 16.6%) 

per annum which reflects current market assessment of 

the time value of money and the credit risk specific to 

the cash-generating unit. The cash flows beyond 5-year 

period are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2016: 3%) 

growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant 

industry growth forecast and does not exceed the 

long-term average growth rate for the relevant industry. 

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations are 

related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which 

include budgeted sales with a compound average growth 

rate of 7% (2016: 3.7%) and stable gross margin, such 

estimation is based on the CGU’s past performance and its 

management’s expectations for the market development. 

The management believes that any reasonable possible 

change in any of these assumptions would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group to 

exceed aggregate recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile 

Group.

Based on the valuation report issued by Asset Appraisal 

Limited (“Asset Appraisal”), the recoverable amount 

exceeds the carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group and 

no impairment charge was necessary.
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊�ᚃ�

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ�ᚃ� 

ຬϓ集團

ຬϓණྠʘ̙ϗΫږᕘʊ࣬ኽԴ͜ᄆ࠽

ɗ࣬ኽ1�ຬج˙ၑࠇϾᔾ֛f༈جၑࠇ

ϓණྠ၍ଣᄴᇜႡʘʞϋಂ๐лཫ಻d

ʿ2�ӊϋ17.8%�ɚཧɓʬϋj15.7%�

ٙұତଟ�Չˀ݈̹̈ఙ࿁຅ࣛ஬࿆ࣛ

ගᄆٙ࠽൙П˸ʿତږପ͛ఊЗٙत֛

ɗԴݴږ൲ࠬᎈ�Ͼ֛f5ϋ˸ɪʘତڦ

͜3%�ɚཧɓʬϋj3%�ٙ ᖢ֛ᄣڗଟ

પᓙf༈ᄣڗଟɗ࣬ኽ޴ᗫପุᄣڗཫ

಻d˲Ԩೌ൴̈޴ᗫପุٙڗಂ̻ѩᄣ

৿ணࠅ˴˼ʘՉجၑࠇ࠽ଟfԴ͜ᄆڗ

ၾତݴږɝŊ̈ݴПࠇϞᗫdܼ̻̍ѩ

ልΥᄣڗଟ3މ%�ɚཧɓʬϋj3%�ٙ

ཫၑቖਯᕘʿᖢ֛ٙˣлଟd༈Пࠇɗ

Աኽ༈ତږପ͛ఊЗʘཀֻڌତʿՉ၍

ଣᄴఱ̹ఙ೯࢝ʘཫಂf၍ଣᄴڦ޴d

΂О༈ഃ৿ணɨʘ΂ОΥଣ̙ঐᜊਗਗ਼

ʔึኬߧຬϓණྠʘᐼሪࠦ࠽൴ཀຬϓ

ණྠʘ̙ϗΫᐼᕘf

࣬ኽ༟ପ൙࠽ᚥਪ̈ՈٙП࠽జѓdຬ

ϓණྠ̙ٙϗΫږᕘ൴ཀሪࠦ࠽d݂ೌ

ცЪ̈ಯ࠽˕ቖf

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (Continued)

Million Ace Group

The recoverable amount of Million Ace Group has been 

determined based on value in use calculation. Such 

calculation is based on 1) profit forecast prepared by 

Million Ace Group’s management covering a five year 

period and 2) a discount rate of 17.8% (2016: 15.7%) 

per annum which reflects current market assessment of 

the time value of money and the credit risk specific to 

the cash-generating unit. The cash flows beyond 5-year 

period are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2016: 3%) 

growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant 

industry growth forecast and does not exceed the long-

term average growth rate for the relevant industry. Other 

key assumptions for the value in use calculations are 

related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which 

include budgeted sales with a compound average growth 

rate of 3% (2016: 3%) and stable gross margin, such 

estimation is based on the CGU’s past performance and its 

management’s expectations for the market development. 

The management believes that any reasonable possible 

change in any of these assumptions would not cause the 

aggregate carrying amount of Million Ace Group to exceed 

aggregate recoverable amount of Million Ace Group.

Based on the valuation report issued by Asset Appraisal, 

the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount 

of Million Ace Group and no impairment charge was 

necessary.
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊�ᚃ�

ቖਯཥৃପۜʿ؂ਕ�ᚃ�

ᄿψ༟ן

ᄿψ༟ןʘ̙ϗΫږᕘʊ࣬ኽԴ͜ᄆ࠽

ɗ࣬ኽ1�ᄿج˙ၑࠇϾᔾ֛f༈جၑࠇ

ψ༟ן၍ଣᄴᇜႡʘʞϋಂ๐лཫ಻d

ʿ2�ӊϋ18.3%�ɚཧɓʬϋj18.2%�

ٙұତଟ�Չˀ݈̹̈ఙ࿁຅ࣛ஬࿆ࣛ

ගᄆٙ࠽൙П˸ʿତږପ͛ఊЗٙत֛

ɗԴݴږ൲ࠬᎈ�Ͼ֛f5ϋ˸ɪʘତڦ

͜3%�ɚཧɓʬϋj3%�ٙ ᖢ֛ᄣڗଟ

પᓙf༈ᄣڗଟɗ࣬ኽ޴ᗫପุᄣڗཫ

಻d˲Ԩೌ൴̈޴ᗫପุٙڗಂ̻ѩᄣ

৿ணࠅ˴˼ʘՉجၑࠇ࠽ଟfԴ͜ᄆڗ

ၾତݴږɝŊ̈ݴПࠇϞᗫdܼ̍ልΥ

ᄣڗଟ3މ%�ɚཧɓʬϋj5.2%�ٙ ཫ

ၑቖਯᕘʿᖢ֛ٙˣлଟd༈ПࠇɗԱ

ኽ༈ତږପ͛ఊЗʘཀֻڌତʿՉ၍ଣ

ᄴఱ̹ఙ೯࢝ʘཫಂЪ̈f၍ଣᄴڦ޴d

΂О༈ഃ৿ணɨʘ΂ОΥଣ̙ঐᜊਗਗ਼

ʔึኬߧᄿψ༟ןʘᐼሪࠦ࠽൴ཀᄿψ

༟ןʘ̙ϗΫᐼᕘf

࣬ኽ༟ପ൙࠽ᚥਪ̈ՈٙП࠽జѓdᄿ

ψ༟̙ٙןϗΫږᕘ൴ཀሪࠦ࠽d݂ೌ

ცЪ̈ಯ࠽˕ቖf

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

SALES OF TELECOMMUNICATION 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (Continued)

Guangzhou Nowtop

The recoverable amount of Guangzhou Nowtop has 

been determined based on value in use calculation. Such 

calculation is based on 1) profit forecast prepared by 

Guangzhou Nowtop’s management covering a five year 

period and 2) a discount rate of 18.3% (2016: 18.2%) 

per annum which reflects current market assessment of 

the time value of money and the credit risk specific to the 

cash-generating unit. The cash flows beyond 5-year period 

are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2016: 3%) growth rate. 

This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth 

forecast and does not exceed the long term average 

growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key assumptions 

for the value in use calculations related to the estimation 

of cash inflow/outflows which include budgeted sales with 

a compound growth rate of 3% (2016: 5.2%) and stable 

gross margin. Such estimation is based on the CGU’s past 

performance and its management’s expectations for the 

market development. The management believes that any 

reasonable possible change in any of these assumptions 

would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of 

Guangzhou Nowtop to exceed aggregate recoverable 

amount of Guangzhou Nowtop.

Based on the valuation report issued by Asset Appraisal, 

the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount 

of Guangzhou Nowtop and no impairment charge was 

necessary.
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23. ਠᚑʿೌҖ༟ପʘಯ࠽಻

༊�ᚃ�

ʝᑌၣږፄ̨̻

ɭ༺ৌబڛ

ᕘʊ࣬ኽԴ͜ږɭ༺ৌబʘ̙ϗΫڛ

ᄆࠇ࠽ၑجϾᔾ֛f༈ࠇၑ˙جɗ࣬ኽ

ɭ༺ৌబ၍ଣᄴᇜႡʘʞϋಂ๐ڛ�1

лཫ಻dʿ2�ӊϋ18%�ɚཧɓʬϋj

18.6%�ٙ ұତଟ�Չˀ݈̹̈ఙ࿁຅ࣛ

஬࿆ࣛගᄆٙ࠽൙П˸ʿତږପ͛ఊЗ

ٙत֛ڦ൲ࠬᎈ�Ͼ֛f5ϋ˸ɪʘତږ

ɗԴ͜3%�ɚཧɓʞϋj3%�ٙݴ ᖢ֛

ᄣڗଟપᓙf༈ᄣڗଟɗ࣬ኽ޴ᗫପุ

ᄣڗཫ಻d˲Ԩೌ൴̈޴ᗫପุٙڗಂ

̻ѩᄣڗଟfԴ͜ᄆࠇ࠽ၑجʘՉ˼˴

Ϟᗫd̍ࠇП̈ݴɝŊݴږ৿ணၾତࠅ

ܼ̻ѩልΥᄣڗଟ3މ%�ɚཧɓʬϋj

31.4%�ٙ ཫၑቖਯᕘʿᖢ֛ٙˣлଟd

༈ПࠇɗԱኽ༈ତږପ͛ఊЗʘཀֻڌ

ତʿՉ၍ଣᄴఱ̹ఙ೯࢝ʘཫಂf၍ଣ

ᄴڦ޴d΂О༈ഃ৿ணɨʘ΂ОΥଣ̙

ঐᜊਗਗ਼ʔึኬڛߧɭ༺ৌబʘᐼሪࠦ

ɭ༺ৌబʘ̙ϗΫᐼᕘfڛ൴ཀ࠽

࣬ኽ༟ପ൙࠽ᚥਪ̈ՈٙП࠽జѓdڛ

ɭ༺ৌబ̙ٙϗΫږᕘ൴ཀሪࠦ࠽d݂

ೌცЪ̈ಯ࠽˕ቖf

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

INTERNET FINANCE PLATFORM

Avatar Wealth

The recoverable amount of Avatar Wealth has been 

determined based on value in use calculation. Such 

calculation is based on 1) profit forecast prepared by 

Avatar Wealth’s management covering a five year period 

and 2) a discount rate of 18% (2016: 18.6%) per annum 

which reflects current market assessment of the time value 

of money and the credit risk specific to the cash-generating 

unit. The cash flows beyond 5-year period are extrapolated 

using a steady 3% (2015: 3%) growth rate. This growth 

rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and 

does not exceed the longterm average growth rate for the 

relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value in 

use calculations related to the estimation of cash inflows/

outflows which include budgeted sales with a compound 

average growth rate of 3% (2016: 31.4%) and stable 

gross margin, such estimation is based on the CGU’s past 

performance and its management’s expectations for the 

market development. The management believes that any 

reasonable possible change in any of these assumptions 

would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of Avatar 

Wealth to exceed aggregate recoverable amount of Avatar 

Wealth.

Based on the valuation report issued by Asset Appraisal, 

the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of 

Avatar Wealth and no impairment charge was necessary.
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24. Ꮠϗୃኽ

˟˚࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵

ϋܓd͉ʮ̡ၾɓΤዹͭୋɧ ᜫו�̇�
ɛͭࠈ��ᔷᜫ۰ኽ��ᔷᜫ۰ኽ��dኽ
Ϥd͉ʮ̡ΝจΣוᜫɛᔷᜫʿוᜫɛ

Νจટॶᔷᜫ͉ږᕘ88,000,000މಥʩ

ʘוгୃኽו��гୃኽ��ʿ ՉהϞᛆ

лʿлूd˾ᄆ71,883,000މಥʩ�ܼ̍

65,200,000ಥʩʿ࠽гୃኽʘ൨ତᄆו

ՉІᔷᜫ۰ኽ˚ಂৎࠇՇϋܲӊϋ5%

׵ᐼᕘ6,683,000ಥʩ�d඲ࢹၑٙлࠇ

ɚཧɓɘϋɧ˜ɚɤɞ˚אʘۃ˕˹f

Ϟᗫᔷᜫ۰ኽd̤ɓΤዹͭୋɧ �̇�ዄ
۰ڭաूɛʘዄމɛ��ᖦͭ˸͉ʮ̡ڭ
ኽdኽϤdዄڭɛΝจΣ͉ʮ̡ዄוڭ

ᜫɛѼഛʿࣛᄵБՉ׵ᔷᜫ۰ኽධɨʘ

ப΂f

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dᏐϗୃ׵

ኽʘሪࠦ67,692,000މ࠽ಥʩfᏐϗୃ

ኽɗમ͜ྼყлଟܲجʊᛅቖϓ͉ΐሪf

24. NOTE RECEIVABLE

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company 

entered into a Deed of Assignment (the “DoA”) with an 

independent third party (the “Assignee”) pursuant to 

which the Company agreed to assign, and the Assignee 

agreed to accept an assignment of a promissory note 

(the “Promissory Note”) with a principal amount of 

HK$88,000,000 and all rights and benefits derived thereon 

to the Assignee for a consideration of HK$71,883,000 

(comprising the discounted value of the Promissory Note 

of HK$65,200,000 and the interest at 5% per annum 

thereon of HK$6,683,000 in aggregate for two years from 

the date of the DoA), payable on or before 28 March 2019. 

In relation to the DoA, a Deed of Guarantee in favour of 

the Company was executed by another independent third 

party (the “Guarantor”) pursuant to which the Guarantor 

agreed to guarantee to the Company the due and timely 

performance of the Assignee’s obligations under the DoA.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of note 

receivable was HK$67,692,000. The note receivable 

is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method.
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25. π஬

˟˚࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵

ϋܓd͉ʮ̡໨ԫ࿁͉ණྠٙπ஬ආБ

ᏨীdШԨೌᆽႩ΂Оಯ࠽ᑦฦ�ɚཧ

ɓʬϋjೌ�f

26. ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ

25. INVENTORIES

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Finished goods Ⴁϓۜ 8,924 26,833

Less: Accumulated impairment ಯjଢ଼ࠇಯ࠽ (800) (800)

8,124 26,033

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the directors 

of the Company conducted a review of the Group’s 

inventories and no impairment loss has been recognised 

(2016: Nil).

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Trade receivables ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ 728,858 192,997

Less:  Accumulated allowance  

for doubtful debts

ಯjьሪଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪

(3,504) (41)

725,354 192,956
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26. ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ�ᚃ�

͉ණྠഗʚՉ൱܄׸˒̻ѩ90 �̊ɚཧ

ɓʬϋj90˚�ٙ జѓಂ͋࣬׵൲ಂfڦ

ኽ೯ୃ˚ಂהяΐʘ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ�຾

ϔৰьሪଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪�ʘሪᙧʱؓνɨf

͉ණྠ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛഐቱ̍ў׵జѓಂ

͋ሪࠦᐼ73,717,000މߒ࠽ಥʩ�ɚཧ

ɓʬϋj81,416,000ಥʩ�ٙ གྷಂᏐϗሪ

ಛd͉ණྠԨೌఱՉಯ࠽ᑦฦЪ̈ᅡ௪d

ɗ͟ڦ׵൲ሯ९Ԩೌࠠɽҷᜊd˲ഐቱ

ʥ஗ൖ̙މϗΫf͉ණྠԨೌఱ༈ഃഐ

ቱܵϞ΂Оۜץתf׵జѓಂഐҼܝd

ɽ௅΅൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛʊ૶Ꮅf

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days 

(2016: 90 days) to its trade customers. The following is an 

ageing analysis of trade receivables net of accumulated 

allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the 

invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Within 30 days 30˚ʫ 286,613 81,395

31 to 60 days 31至60˚ 203,718 27,574

61 to 90 days 61至90˚ 161,306 2,571

91 to 180 days 91至180˚ 56,573 75,892

Over 180 days ൴ཀ180˚ 17,144 5,524

725,354 192,956

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are 

debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately 

HK$73,717,000 (2016: HK$81,416,000) which are past 

due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group 

has not provided for impairment loss as there has not been 

a significant change in credit quality and the balances are 

still considered to be recoverable. The Group does not hold 

any collateral over these balances. Subsequent to the end 

of the reporting period, a large portion of trade receivables 

were settled.
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26. ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ�ᚃ�

ʊགྷಂШ͊ಯٙ࠽൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛʘሪᙧj

൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛʘьሪଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪ᜊਗj

Ꮠϗሪಛ݊щ̙ϗΫࣛd͉׸ᆽ֛൱׵

ණྠึϽᅇІ࠯ϣબ̈ڦ൲ʘ˚ৎ至జ

ѓಂ͋൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛʘڦ൲ሯ९ٙ΂О

ᜊਗf͟܄׵˒ਿᅰɽ˲ʔ޴ᗫdΪϤ

ණʕڦ൲ࠬᎈϞࠢf

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not 

impaired:

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Overdue by: གྷಂj

Within 90 days 90˚ʫ 56,573 75,892

Over 90 days ൴ཀ90˚ 17,144 5,524

73,717 81,416

Movements in the accumulated allowance for doubtful 

debts for trade receivables:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

At 1 January ˚ɓ˜ɓ׵ 41 41

Impairment loss recognised  

during the year

ϋʫʊᆽႩಯ࠽ᑦฦ

3,260 –

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ 203 –

At 31 December ˚ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 3,504 41

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the 

Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 

trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted 

up to the end of the report period. The concentration of 

credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large 

and unrelated.
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26. ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ�ᚃ�

˜ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ׵

ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠٙ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛьሪ

ଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪̍ўᐼഐቱʱй3,504,000ߒ

ಥʩʿ41,000ಥʩʘʊࡈйಯ࠽ʘ൱׸

Ꮠϗሪಛf͉ʮ̡໨ԫႩމd͟׵༈ഃ

වਕڗಂ͊Ꮅᒔགྷɓϋd͉ණྠ̙ঐೌ

ϗΫ༈ഃවਕf͉ණྠԨೌఱ༈ഃഐج

ቱܵϞ΂Оۜץתf

27. ཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼Ꮠϗ

ಛධ

ൗjڝ

ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d׵

Չ˼Ꮠϗಛධܼ̍ྦ˹ʚዹͭୋɧ˙ʘ߰ʍ

ಛධʿՉᏐϗлࢹf໨ԫႩމd༈ಛධ஗઄

ᅰϗΫdԨೌცϽᅇಯ࠽f

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group’s accumulated allowance for doubtful 

debts of trade receivables are individually impaired trade 

receivables with an aggregated balances of approximately 

HK$3,504,000 and HK$41,000 as at 31 December 2017 

and 2016 respectively. The directors of the Company 

considered that the Group was unlikely to recover these 

debts as they were long outstanding over one year. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 

OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ

Prepayment ཫ˹ಛධ 41,620 66,341

Deposits ږܲ 21,758 22,045

Other receivables (Note) Չ˼Ꮠϗಛධڝ�ൗ� 307,042 170,304

370,420 258,690

Less:  Accumulated allowance  

for other receivables

ಯjՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪

(13,259) (19,451)

357,161 239,239

Note:

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, other receivables include 
certain amounts advanced to independent third parties and the 
interest receivables thereof. In the opinion of the directors, this 
amount is fully recoverable and no impairment is considered 
necessary.
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27. ཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼Ꮠϗ

ಛධ�ᚃ�

ఱཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධٙь

ሪଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪ᜊਗj

ьሪଢ଼ࠇᅡ௪̍ўᐼഐቱ13,259,000މ

ಥʩ׵�ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j

19,451,000ಥʩ�ʊࡈйಯ࠽ʘᏐϗሪ

ಛd͉ʮ̡໨ԫႩމd͟׵༈ഃවਕڗ

ಂ͊Ꮅᒔd͉ණྠ̙ঐೌجϗΫ༈ഃව

ਕf͉ʮ̡໨ԫʊમ՟הϞΥଣણ �݄Է

νܛج೻ҏ�ϗΫ༈ഃ͊Ꮅᒔවਕf͉

ණྠԨೌఱ༈ഃഐቱܵϞ΂Оۜץתf

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Movements in the accumulated allowance for doubtful 

debts for prepayments, deposits and other receivables:

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

At 1 January ˚ɓ˜ɓ׵ 19,451 26,309

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ 3,264 (1,036)

Disposal of subsidiaries ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ (9,456) (5,822)

At 31 December ˚ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ 13,259 19,451

Included in the accumulated allowance for doubtful debts 

are individually impaired receivables with an aggregated 

balances of HK$13,259,000 (As at 31 December 2016: 

HK$19,451,000) in which the directors of the Company 

consider that the Group is unlikely to recover these 

debts as they are long outstanding. The directors of the 

Company have been taking all reasonable steps such as 

legal procedures, to recover those outstanding debts. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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28. Ꮠϗ൲ಛ

Ꮠϗ൲ಛʘྼყϋлଟʧ˷5 % 至

12%f࣬ኽՑಂ˚ʘᏐϗ൲ಛ�ϔৰʊ

ᆽႩಯ࠽ᑦฦ�νϞ׵��ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʘՑಂઋرνɨj

ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d߰ʍ൲׵

ಛ75,000,000ߒಥʩɗ˸ࡈɛዄڭʿʔ

ࠢ˚ಂٰ΅ץাЪץתf

ᆽ֛Ꮠϗ൲ಛ݊щ̙ϗΫࣛd͉ණྠ׵

ึϽᅇІ࠯ϣબ̈ڦ൲ʘ˚ৎ至జѓ˚

ಂᏐϗ൲ಛʘڦ൲ሯ९ٙ΂Оᜊਗf͟

൲ڦᗫdΪϤණʕ޴ਿᅰɽ˲ʔ˒܄׵

ࠬᎈϞࠢf

28. LOAN RECEIVABLES

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Short-term loans ೵ಂ൲ಛ

– Secured ÑϞץת – 75,000

– Unsecured Ñೌץת – 90,000

– 165,000

The loan receivables carry effective interest ranging from 

5% to 12% per annum. A maturity profile of the loan 

receivables (net of impairment loss recognised, if any) 

at 31 December 2016, based on the maturity date is as 

follows:

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ
Within one year ɓϋʫ – 165,000

At 31 December 2016, certain loans amounted to 

approximately HK$75,000,000 are secured by personal 

guarantees and undated share charges.

In determining the recoverability of the loan receivables, the 

Group considers any change in the credit quality of the loan 

receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to 

the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited 

due to the customer base being large and unrelated.
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29. ܲʮ̻ࠇ࠽ɝฦूʘږፄ

༟ପ

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ׵

ʘՉ˼ږፄ༟ପމʕ਷ٙ߰ʍਠุვБ

೯Б͉ٙږᕘމɛ͏࿆50,000,000ʩ޴�

ഃ59,900,000׵ಥʩ��ɚཧɓʬϋjɛ

͏࿆43,500,000ʩ�ٙ ೵ಂଣৌପۜdཫ

ಂ�ШԨڭڢᗇ�ϋϗूଟ4.80މ%�ɚ

ཧɓʬϋj1.23%至2.80%�fଣৌପۜ

ɝฦूࠇ࠽ʮ̻ܲމᆽႩܸ֛ࣛ֐ڋ׵

ɝሪʘږፄ༟ପԨ׵జѓಂ͋ܲʮ̻࠽

ࠠอࠇඎfΌ௅ଣৌପۜʊ׵జѓ˚ܝ

ᛙΫf

30. ତږʿତږഃᄆي

ତږʿତږഃᄆܼ̍ي˓᎘ʿვБഐቱf

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dვБഐ׵

ቱ̹ܲఙϋлଟʧ˷0.001%至0.3%׵�

ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j0.001%至

fࢹࠇ�0.35%

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s other financial 

assets represents short term wealth management products 

with principal amount of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent 

to HK$59,900,000) (2016: RMB43,500,000) issued by 

certain commercial banks in the PRC, with expected but 

not guaranteed yield rates of 4.80% (2016: 1.23% to 

2.80%) per annum. The wealth management products are 

designated as financial assets at FVTPL at initial recognition 

and remeasured at fair value at the end of the reporting 

period. The entire wealth management products have been 

redeemed subsequent to the date of reporting period.

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Cash in hand and at bank ˓᎘ʿვБତږ
HKD ಥʩ 13,772 90,956

RMB ɛ͏࿆ 133,862 97,720

USD ʩߕ 16,803 206

164,437 188,882

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and 

balance with banks.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranged from 

0.001% to 0.3% (As at 31 December 2016: 0.001% to 

0.35%) per annum as at 31 December 2017.
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30. ତږʿତږഃᄆي�ᚃ�

ɛ͏࿆ʔ੻І͟г౬މՉ˼஬࿆d್Ͼd

࣬ኽʕ਷ʫή̮ٙි၍ଣૢԷʿഐිe

ਯිʿ˹ි၍ଣ஝֛d͉ʮ̡ᐏீࡘཀ

બᛆආБ̮ිุਕٙვБਗ਼ɛ͏࿆г౬

Չ˼஬࿆fމ

31. ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ

˹Ꮠ׸జѓಂ͋ܲ೯ୃ˚ಂяΐٙ൱׵

ሪಛٙሪᙧʱؓνɨj

ᒅ൯஬̻ۜٙѩڦ൲ಂ90މ ɚཧ׵̊�

ɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚j90˚�f͉ණྠ

ʊՓ֛ৌਕࠬᎈ၍ଣ݁ഄdᆽڦ׵ڭ൲

ಂࠢʫഐ૶הϞᏐ˹ಛධf

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies; 

however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 

Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and 

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Company 

is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through 

authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange business.

31. TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables 

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 

reporting period:

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Within 30 days 30˚ʫ 258,720 22,066

31 to 60 days 31至60˚ 141,832 1,354

61 to 90 days 61至90˚ 135,547 194

Over 90 days ൴ཀ90˚ 1,670 6,739

537,769 30,353

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 

days (As at 31 December 2016: 90 days). The Group has 

financial risk management policies in place to ensure that 

all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
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32. Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ

˼ɝՉࠇ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵

Ꮠ˹ಛධٙމԸІɓΤዹͭୋɧ˙ʘ೵

ಂ൲ಛ27,320,000ߒಥʩd˸މϗᒅڝ

᙮ʮ̡౤Զ༟ږf

33. ვБ࠾ಛ

࠾ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dვБ׵

ಛ119,800,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬϋj

55,897,000ಥʩ�˸ ɛ͏࿆࠽ࠇdܲʕ਷

൲ಛਿ๟лଟʘϋлଟ̋40%ࢹࠇdԨ

ਗ਼׵జѓಂ͋ܝɓϋʫᎵᒔf

͉ණྠʘვБፄ༟119,800,000ߒಥʩ

�ɚཧɓʬϋj55,897,000ಥʩ�d׵జ

ѓಂ͋ʊਗ͜119,800,000ߒಥʩ�ɚཧ

ɓʬϋj55,897,000ಥʩ�d͉ණྠʘვ

Бፄ༟ɗ˸͉ʮ̡ʘੂڢБ໨ԫʿ˴ࠅ

ٰ؇ΐ௹ɻྼሯኹϞʘɓගʮ̡ʘ߰ʍ

fڭዄץתЪุي

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Other payables Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධ 29,534 58,311

Accruals Ꮠࠇಛධ 9,236 790

38,770 59,101

Included in other payables as at 31 December 2016 

was a short term loan from an independent third party of 

approximately HK$27,320,000 to finance the acquisition of 

subsidiaries.

33. BANK BORROWINGS

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Bank borrowings repayable: ᏐᎵᒔვБ࠾ಛj

Within one year or on demand ɓϋʫࠅ׵אӋࣛᎵᒔ 119,800 55,897

At 31 December 2017, the bank borrowings of 

approximately HK$119,800,000 (2016: HK$55,897,000) 

are denominated in RMB and carry interest at PRC Loan 

Prime Rate plus 40% thereof per annum and are repayable 

within one year from the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s banking facilities amounting to approximately 

HK$119,800,000 (2016: HK$55,897,000), of which 

approximately HK$119,800,000 (2016: HK$55,897,000) 

had been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, are 

secured by the pledge of certain properties of a company 

substantially owned by Dr. Lie, a non-executive director 

and substantial shareholder of the Company.
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34. ჈ַ೼ධࠋව

ϋʫʊᆽႩ჈ַ೼ධࠋවʿՉᜊਗ༉ઋ

νɨj

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Detail of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and 

movements thereon during the year is as follow:

Fair value 

adjustments 

on business 

combination

ุਕΥԻ的
ʮ̻࠽ሜ዆

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 36,737

Disposal of HCH Investment Limited (Note 38(c)) ̈ਯHCH Investment Limited 

�ൗ38(c)ڝ� (1,341)

Acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop (Note 37(c)) ϗᒅᄿψ༟ڝ�ןൗ37(c)� 46,655

Credited to consolidated statement of profit or  

loss and other comprehensive income (Note 11)

 ڌɝၝΥฦूʿՉ˼Όࠦϗूࠇ

�ൗ11ڝ� (8,101)

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017  ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿ׵

ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 73,950

Acquisition of Qianhai Wealth (Note 37(a)) ϗᒅۃऎଣৌڝ�ൗ37(a)� 259

Credited to consolidated statement of profit or  

loss and other comprehensive income (Note 11)

 ڌɝၝΥฦूʿՉ˼Όࠦϗूࠇ

�ൗ11ڝ� (8,379)

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 65,830

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
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34. ჈ַ೼ධࠋව�ᚃ�

జѓಂ͋d͉ණྠٙ͊ਗ͜೼ධᑦฦ׵

ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ׵�245,101,000ಥʩߒ

˜ɧɤɓ˚j223,580,000ಥʩ�̙ ׵͜

ᗭ˸ཫݴԸ๐л͊׵ቖ͊Ը๐лf͟ת

಻d݂ԨೌᆽႩ჈ַ೼ධ༟ପf೼ධᑦ

ฦࠢೌ̙אಂഐᔷf

˜ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ׵

ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ฿ೌ΂О̙ϔಯᅲࣛ

ᕘ̙ࢨʔ̙ঐϞ̙ϔಯᅲࣛ׵ᕘf͟ࢨ

ԶתቖᏐሙ೼๐лd݂Ԩೌఱ༈ഃ̙ϔ

ಯᅲࣛࢨᕘᆽႩ჈ַ೼ධ༟ପf

࣬ኽʕ਷Άุה੻೼جdʕ਷ڝ᙮ʮ̡

඲Іɚཧཧɞϋɓ˜ɓ˚ৎఱՉᒃ՟ٙ

лᆗࢹٰٙݼ܁הᖮॶཫϔ೼f͉͟׵

ණྠঐ੄છՓᅲࣛࢨ׌ᕘٙᅡΫࣛගd

݂ԨೌఱၝΥৌਕజڌʫϞᗫʕ਷ڝ᙮

ʮ̡ᒃ՟ٙлᆗᏐЦᅲࣛࢨ׌ᕘЪ̈჈

ַ೼ධᅡ௪dϾᅲࣛࢨ׌ᕘ̙ঐʔึί

̙Ԉ͊ԸᅡΫf

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused 

tax losses of approximately HK$245,101,000 (As at 

31 December 2016: HK$223,580,000) available for offset 

against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 

recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit 

streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group did not have 

any deductible temporary differences. No deferred tax 

asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible 

temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed 

on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the 

PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred 

taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated 

financial statement in respect of temporary difference 

attributable to the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries 

as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal at the 

temporary difference and it is probable that will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future.
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35. ٰ͉

36. ᒅٰᛆࠇྌ

͉ʮ̡׵ɚཧɓɚϋɤɚ˜ɤɘ˚ᑘБ

ٰ؇඄ϋɽึஷཀɓධӔᙄࣩdኽϤd

͉ʮ̡મॶɓධอᒅٰᛆࠇྌ��อᒅ
ٰᛆࠇ劃��f

͉ʮ̡ʘٙۃᒅٰᛆࠇྌ��ᔚᒅٰᛆ
֣˚ɚཧɓɚϋɖ˜ɚɤɓ׵��劃ࠇ
တdՉܝ฿ೌ࣬ኽᔚᒅٰᛆࠇྌආɓӉ

બ̈ᒅٰᛆf࣬ኽᔚᒅٰᛆࠇྌʘૢಛd

࣬ኽᔚᒅٰᛆࠇྌબ̈ʘהϞ͊БԴᒅ

ٰᛆʥ֠͊БԴٜ至̰ࣖf

35. SHARE CAPITAL

Par value 
per share

Number of 
shares Amount

ӊٰࠦ࠽ ٰ΅ᅰͦ ᕘږ
HK$ HK$’000

ಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Authorised: j֛ج

At 1 January 2016,  
31 December 2016, 1 January  
2017 and 31 December 2017

 二零一ʬ年一˜一˚e׵
二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ 
ɧɤ一˚e二零一七年 
一˜一˚ʿ二零一七年 
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚ 0.1 20,000,000,000 2,000,000

Issued and fully paid: ʊ೯Бʿᖮԑj

At 1 January 2016,  
31 December 2016, 1 January  
2017 and 31 December 2017

 二零一ʬ年一˜一˚e׵
二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ 
ɧɤ一˚e二零一七年 
一˜一˚ʿ二零一七年 
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚ 0.1 9,528,844,345 952,884

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to a resolution passed at a annual general 

meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2012, 

a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option 

Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.

The previous share option scheme of the Company (the 
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 21 July 

2012, no further options can be granted under the Old 

Share Option Scheme thereafter. All outstanding share 

options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme 

remained outstanding until they lapsed in accordance with 

the terms of the Old Share Option Scheme.
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36. ᒅٰᛆࠇྌ�ᚃ�

͉ʮ̡ੂБอᒅٰᛆࠇྌϙί࿁͉ණྠ

຾ᐄϓ̌Ъ্̈ᘠʘΥ༟ࣸਞၾ٫ഗʚ

ᆤᎸʿΫజfอᒅٰᛆࠇྌʘΥ༟ࣸਞ

ၾ٫ܼ͉̍ʮ̡ʘ໨ԫ�ܼ̍ዹͭੂڢ

Б໨ԫ�e͉ණྠʘՉ˼྇ࡰd˸ʿ͉ණ

ྠ஬ۜ؂אਕʘԶᏐਠf

ྌ̙ʚબ̈ʘ͊Бࠇኽอᒅٰᛆ࣬ۃͦ

Դᒅٰᛆ௰৷ᅰͦ޴ഃ׵�νᐏБԴ�

͉ʮ̡΂Оࣛගʊ೯Бٰ΅10%fอᒅ

ٰᛆࠇྌ΢Υ༟ࣸਞၾ٫ί΂О12ࡈ˜

ಂගʫБԴᒅٰᛆ̙ᐏ೯Бʘ௰৷ٰ΅

ᅰͦʔ੻൴གྷ͉ʮ̡΂Оࣛගʊ೯Бٰ

΅1%fආɓӉબ̈΂О൴གྷ༈ɪࠢʘ

ᒅٰᛆdѩ඲ᐏٰ؇ίٰ؇ɽึɪҭࡘf

બ̈ᒅٰᛆܔᙄ̙ίܔᙄ˚ಂৎ28ࠇ˚

ʫટॶdוબɛίટॶᒅٰᛆࣛ඲˕˹

Υ΍1ಥʩΤ່˾ᄆfʊબ̈ᒅٰᛆʘБ

Դಂ͟໨ԫᔾ֛dԨί߰ʍᓥ᙮ಂܝৎ

אᙄબ̈ᒅٰᛆ˚ಂৎ10ϋʫܔd至ࠇ

อᒅٰᛆࠇྌՑಂ �̊ν᙮༰΋೯͛٫�

˟f

ᒅٰᛆʘБԴᄆ͟໨ԫᔾ֛dઓʔ੻ˇ

ᙄબܔ׵΅ɨΐ༰৷٫j(i)͉ʮٰ̡׵

̈ᒅٰᛆ˚ಂίᑌʹההజʘϗ̹ᄆi(ii)

͉ʮٰ̡΅׵ၡટܔᙄ˚ಂۃʞ׸ʹࡈ

˚ίᑌʹההజʘ̻ѩϗ̹ᄆiʿ (iii)ٰ

f࠽ࠦ΅

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The Company operates the New Share Option Scheme 

for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 

eligible participants who contribute to the success of the 

Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the New Share 

Option Scheme include the Company’s directors (including 

independent non-executive directors), other employees 

of the Group, and suppliers of goods or services to the 

Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options 

currently permitted to be granted under the New Share 

Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their 

exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at 

any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under 

share options to each eligible participant in the New Share 

Option Scheme within any 12 month period is limited to 

1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. 

Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is 

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted 

within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of 

a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. 

The exercise period of the share options granted is 

determinable by the directors, and commences after 

a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is 

not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the 

share options or the expiry date of the New Share Option 

Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by 

the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the 

Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on 

the date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average 

Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s share for 

five trading days immediately preceding the date of the 

offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
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36. ᒅٰᛆࠇྌ�ᚃ�

ᒅٰᛆԨʔረʚՉܵϞɛϗ՟ٰ׵אࢹ

ٰ؇ɽึɪҳୃʘᛆлfϋʫd͉ʮ̡

࣬ኽ༈ࠇྌ೯Бʘᒅٰᛆ༉ઋמᚣ׵ɨ

jڌ

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to 

dividends or to vote at shareholder’s meeting. The following 

table discloses details of the Company’s share option in 

issue under the Scheme during the year:

Number of share 
options

ᒅٰᛆᅰͦ

Name of category
of participant Date of grant Exercise period

Exercise
price per

share
(note)

At 1 January 2016, 
31 December  2016,
1 January 2017 and 
31 December 2017

ਞၾ٫ᗳ別Τ၈ બ̈˚ಂ БԴಂ
ӊٰБԴᄆ
�ൗڝ�

二零一ʬ年׵
一˜一˚e
二零一ʬ年

ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚e
二零一七年一˜一˚

ʿ二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

Directors
໨ԫ

3.4.2013
ɚཧɓɧϋ̬˜ɧ˚

3.4.2013 to 2.4.2018
ɚཧɓɧϋ̬˜ɧ˚至 
ɚཧɓɞϋ̬˜ɚ˚

0.275 45,600,000

45,600,000

Employee and others 8.4.2011 8.4.2011 to 7.4.2021 0.469 6,840,000

僱ࡰʿՉ˼ ɚཧɓɓϋ̬˜ɞ˚ ɚཧɓɓϋ̬˜ɞ˚至 
ɚཧɚɓϋ̬˜ɖ˚

3.4.2013 3.4.2013 to 2.4.2018 0.275 68,400,000

ɚཧɓɧϋ̬˜ɧ˚ ɚཧɓɧϋ̬˜ɧ˚至 
ɚཧɓɞϋ̬˜ɚ˚

75,240,000

Total
ᐼࠇ

120,840,000

Weighted average  
exercise price (HK$)
̋ᛆ̻ѩБԴᄆ�ಥʩ�

0.286
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36. ᒅٰᛆࠇྌ�ᚃ�

࿚至ɚཧɓɧϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓd

࣬ኽอᒅٰᛆࠇྌબ̈ʘᒅٰᛆ׵બ̈

˚ಂࠇඎʘʮ̻30,490,000މߒ࠽ಥʩf

˸ɨɗ˸ɚධόಂᛆ֛ᄆᅼόપ֛ʮ̻

৿ணjࠅમ͜ʘࠠࣛ࠽

ɚཧɓɧϋ

ʞ˜ɤʬ˚

ɚཧɓɧϋ

̬˜ɧ˚

ᒅٰᛆᐼᅰ 20,000,000 94,000,000

ᒅٰᛆᄆ࠽ 0.2045ಥʩ 0.2809ಥʩ

ᒅٰᛆϋಂ 5ϋ 5ϋ

ཫಂϋಂ 5ϋ 5ϋ

БԴᄆ 0.628ಥʩ 0.628ಥʩ

 બ̈˚ʘ׵

ٰᄆ 0.460ಥʩ 0.600ಥʩ

ཫಂتష 87.11% 88.00%

ೌࠬᎈлଟ 0.427% 0.525%

ཫಂتషɗਞ๫ు௹༟ৃࠇၑ̙༟ˢ༰

ʮ̡ʿ͉ʮٰ̡ᄆӊ඄Ϋజ̋ᛆ̻ѩዝ

બ̈ᒅٰ׵ష੻̈fೌࠬᎈлଟܸت̦

ᛆ˚ಂՑಂʘ࠰ಥ̮ිਿୃږኽʘՑಂ

ϗूଟfί၍ଣᄴฐࠠПၑɨdᅼόʕ

ʘཫಂϋಂʊΪᏐᒅٰᛆʘʔ̙ᔷᜫ׌e

БԴࠢՓʿБމഃϽᅇΪ९ʘᅂᚤϾϞ

ሜ዆fה

฿ೌᒅٰᛆ׵࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋʿɚཧ

ɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓᐏБԴf

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The fair values of options granted under the New Share 

Option Scheme measured at the date of grant during 

the year ended 31 December 2013 was approximately 

HK$30,490,000. The following significant assumptions 

were used to derived the fair value using the Binomial 

Option Pricing Model:

16 May

2013

3 April

2013

Total number of share option 20,000,000 94,000,000

Option value HK$0.2045 HK$0.2809

Option life 5 years 5 years

Expected Tenor 5 years 5 years

Exercise price HK$0.628 HK$0.628

Stock price at the date  

of grant HK$0.460 HK$0.600

Expected volatility 87.11% 88.00%

Risk-free rate 0.427% 0.525%

Expected volatility was reference to Bloomberg calculated 

from the weighted average historical volatility of weekly 

return of share price of comparable companies and the 

Company. Risk-free rate represents the yields to maturity 

of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note with respective 

terms to maturity as at the share options granted date. 

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, 

based on management’s best estimate, for the effects 

of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral 

considers.

No share options were exercised during the years ended 

31 December 2017 and 2016.
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡

࿚Ї二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ

(a) ϗᒅ༟ପ

ɚཧɓɖϋ̬˜ɤɘ˚d͉ණ׵

ྠІɓΤ͉ʮ̡ዹͭୋɧ˙ࡈɛ

ϗᒅۃऎଣৌϞࠢʮ ऎଣۃ�̡�

ৌ��ʘ100%ٰ͉ᛆूd˾ᄆߒމ

1,491,000ಥʩfۃऎଣৌ˴ࠅ੽

ԫ౤Զڭᎈ຾؂ߏਕfϗᒅʘͦٙ

ɗ͉މණྠ͊ԸΥЪ೯࢝ڭᎈ຾

ਕdΪϤdϗᒅɝሪΐЪϗᒅุߏ

ਕfϗᒅԫධุڢ೐๫Ͼߏᎈ຾ڭ

ʊ׵ɚཧɓɖϋ̬˜ɤɘ˚ҁϓf

νɨj࠽වʘʮ̻ࠋϗᒅ༟ପʿה

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017

(a) Acquisition of assets

On 19 April 2017, the Group acquired 100% of 

the equity interest of Qianhai Wealth Management 

Limited (“Qianhai Wealth”) from an individual, which 

is an independent third party of the Company, at 

a consideration of approximately HK$1,491,000. 

Qianhai Wealth is principally engaged in the provision 

of insurance brokerage services. The purpose of 

the acquisition is for the Group to collaborate on 

the development of insurance brokerage business 

in the future and as such, the acquisition has been 

accounted for as acquisition of insurance brokerage 

license rather than business. The acquisition was 

completed on 19 April 2017.

The value of assets and liabilities acquired are as 

follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Intangible asset on acquisition (Note 22) ϗᒅʘೌҖ༟ପڝ�ൗ22� 1,568

Prepayments and other receivables ཫ˹ಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ 76

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 112

Other payables Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධ (6)

Deferred taxation ჈ַ೼ධ (259)

1,491

Total consideration satisfied by: ˸ɨΐ˙ό˕˹ʘᐼ˾ᄆj

Cash consideration ତږ˾ᄆ 1,491

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: ϗᒅପ͛ʘତ̈ݴږଋᕘj

Cash consideration ତږ˾ᄆ 1,491

Cash and cash equivalents acquired يഃᄆږʿତږϗᒅତה (112)

1,379
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ� 

࿚Ї二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(b) ׵႓໶ʘה有ᛆᛆूᜊਗ

ϋ ʫd͉ ණ ྠ ˸ ˾ ᄆ ɛ ͏ ࿆

1,350,000ʩ޴�ഃ1,584,000ߒ׵

ಥʩ�ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡ڢછٰٰ؇ʘ

15%ٰᛆfϗᒅ࿁͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐ

Цٰᛆʘᅂᚤνɨj

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 

(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017 (Continued)

(b) Change in ownership interests in Bee

During the year, the Group acquired 15% equity 

interests from a non-controlling shareholder of a 

subsidiary at a consideration of RMB1,350,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$1,584,000). The 

effect of the acquisition on the equity attributable to 

the owners of the Company is as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Carrying amount of non-controlling  

interests acquired

࠽છٰᛆूʘሪࠦڢϗᒅה

4,186

Consideration paid for non-controlling  

interests

ʊఱڢછٰᛆू˕˹ʘ˾ᄆ

(1,584)

2,602
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ� 

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ

(c) ϗᒅᄿψ༟ן

ɚཧɓʬϋɧ˜̬˚d͉ʮ̡ீ׵

ཀഐ࿴׌ΥߒගટΌ༟ኹϞʘڝ

᙮ʮ̡ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ

�̡�ᇲऎ୅ਗ��ၾˮտ��ር˙��

ɓධ՘ᙄ��༈՘ᙄ��dኽϤdͭࠈ

ር˙Ϟૢ΁ΝจΣᇲऎ୅ਗ̈ਯ

ʘ60%ٰ͉ᛆूfᄿψןᄿψ༟׵

༟׵ࠅ˴ןʕ਷੽ԫ౤Զʝᑌၣ

ᅰኽʕ �ː�IDC��؂ਕʘุਕf༈

ධϗᒅʊ׵ɚཧɓʬϋɧ˜̬˚

ҁϓf

ʿ࠽ϗᒅ̙ᗆйଋ༟ପʘʮ̻ה

ପ͛ʘਠᚑνɨj

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 

(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016

(c) Acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop

On 4 March 2016, ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ

̡ (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development 

Company Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”), an indirect 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company through 

structured contracts, entered into an agreement 

(the “Agreement”) with ˮտ (Wang Kun*) (the 
“Vendor”) pursuant to which the Vendor conditionally 

agreed to sell Bluesea Mobile 60% of equity interest 

in Guangzhou Nowtop. Guangzhou Nowtop is 

principally engaged in providing Internet Data Center 

(“IDC”) services in the PRC. The acquisition was 

completed on 4 March 2016.

The fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired 

and the goodwill arising are as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 5,678

Intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପ 186,619

Trade receivable ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ 26,733

Prepayments and other receivables ཫ˹ಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ 1,891

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 7,437

Trade payable ൱׸Ꮠ˹ሪಛ (27,770)

Accruals and other payables ᏐࠇಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධ (3,323)

Tax liabilities ೼ධࠋව (77)

Deferred taxation ჈ַ೼ධ (46,655)

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ (60,213)

Total identifiable net assets acquired ϗᒅ̙ᗆйଋ༟ପᐼᕘה 90,320

Goodwill on acquisition ϗᒅପ͛ʘਠᚑ 79,801

170,121

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ� 

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(c) ϗᒅᄿψ༟ן�ᚃ� 

છٰᛆूɗڢϗᒅ˚ಂᆽႩʘ׵

ਞϽ׵ϗᒅ˚ಂהЦᄿψ༟ן

ଋ༟ପʘʮ̻࠽ʘˢԷࠇඎdމ

60,213,000ಥʩfΪމϗᒅϓ͉̍

ܼછՓᛆ๐ᄆd݂ɪࠑϗᒅԫධପ

͛ਠᚑfϤ̮dʊ˹ϗᒅ˾ᄆྼყ

ɪܼ̍Ϟᗫཫಂ՘ΝࣖᏐeϗɝᄣ

዆ٙןe͊Ը̹ఙ೯࢝ʿᄿψ༟ڗ

Υ௶ɢה੭Ըлूٙږᕘf༈ഃл

ूʔၾਠᚑʱකᆽႩdࡡΪ݊ՉԨ

ʔୌΥ̙ᗆйೌҖ༟ପٙᆽႩᅺ

๟f

ཫಂϤධϗᒅהପ͛ٙਠᚑఱ೼

ਕͦٙϾԊʔ̙ϔಯf

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 

(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(c) Acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop 
(Continued)

The non-controlling interests recognised at the 

acquisition date were measured by reference to the 

proportionate share of fair values of Guangzhou 

Nowtop’s net assets at the acquisition date and 

amounted to HK$60,213,000. Goodwill arose 

in the above acquisition because the cost of 

acquisition included a control premium, in addition, 

the consideration paid for the acquisition effectively 

included amounts in relation to the benefit of 

expected synergies, revenue growth, future market 

development and the assembled workforce of 

Guangzhou Nowtop. These benefits are not 

recognised separately from goodwill because they 

do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable 

intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is 

expected to be deductible for tax purpose.
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ� 

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(c) ϗᒅᄿψ༟ן�ᚃ� 

ϗᒅ˾ᄆɗ˸ʔε180,000,000׵
ಥʩʘତږ˕˹f

ൗjڝ

࣬ኽ༈՘ᙄdር˙Σᇲऎ୅ਗڭᗇ࿚
至ɚཧɓʬϋʿɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜
ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓʘ຾ᄲࣨৰ೼ܝଋ
лᆗʱйʔˇ25,000,000׵ಥʩ��二
零一ʬڭᗇлᆗ��ʿ 40,000,000ಥʩ
��二零一七ڭᗇлᆗ��fࡊ༺ϓɚཧ
ɓʬڭᗇлᆗʿɚཧɓɖڭᗇлᆗd
ʱй඲Σር˙˕˹20,000,000ಥʩۆ
ʿ30,000,000ಥʩʘତږfᏐ˹ಛධ
38,321,000ಥʩ׵ϗᒅ˚ಂʘʮ̻࠽
ܲ൨ତଟ18.10%˸൨ତତݴږඎجП
࿚ןʘ༟ࡘf຾ਞϽᐏ͉ʮ̡໨ԫҭࠇ
至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ
ʘ຾ᄲࣨৌਕజڌd˾ᄆ20,000,000ಥ
ʩʊ׵࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ
˚˟ϋܓ˕˹ʚር˙f

˟˚࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵
ϋܓd຾ਞϽ༟ପ൙࠽ᚥਪ̈ՈٙП
࠽ᄆʘʮ̻˾್א˹జѓdʊఱᏐ࠽
ᜊਗ׵ฦूᆽႩᑦฦ5,650,000ಥʩ�ɚ
ཧɓʬϋj6,029,000ಥʩ�f͉ණྠП
30,000,000ಥʩdઓ඲މᏐ˹˾ᄆਗ਼ࠇ
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓן༟ܙ
˚˟ϋܓʘৌਕజڌʘᄲࣨϾ֛f

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 
(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(c) Acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop 
(Continued)

The consideration of the acquisition is satisfied by 
cash of no more than HK$180,000,000.

Fair value

ʮ̻࠽
HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Consideration satisfied by: ˸ɨΐ˙ό˕˹ʘ˾ᄆj

Cash ତږ 131,800

Contingent consideration payable (Note) Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆڝ�ൗ� 38,321

170,121

Net Cash outflow arising on the acquisition: ϗᒅପ͛ʘତ̈ݴږଋᕘj

Consideration paid in cash ʊ˹ତږ˾ᄆ (131,800)

Less:  Cash and cash equivalent balances  
acquired

ಯjהϗᒅତږʿତږഃᄆيഐቱ

7,437

(124,363)

Note:

According to the Agreement, the Vendor has guaranteed 
to Bluesea Mobile that the audited net profit after tax 
for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 will 
not be less than HK$25,000,000 (“2016 Guaranteed 
Profit”) and HK$40,000,000 (“2017 Guaranteed Profit”) 
respectively. Cash of HK$20,000,000 and HK$30,000,000 
shall be payable to the Vendor provided that the 2016 
Guaranteed Profit and 2017 Guaranteed Profit have been 
met, respectively. The fair value of the amount payable of 
HK$38,321,000 at the date of acquisition was estimated by 
applying the discounted cash flow approach at a discount 
rate of 18.10%. With reference to the audited financial 
statement of Nowtop for the year ended 31 December 2016 
approved by the directors of the Company, a consideration 
of HK$20,000,000 was paid to the Vendor during the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a loss of 
HK$5,650,000 (2016: HK$6,029,000) was recognised in the 
profit or loss for the changes in fair values of the contingent 
consideration payable, with reference to the valuation 
report issued by Asset Appraisal. The Group estimates the 
consideration payable to be HK$30,000,000, subject to 
the audit of the financial statement of Nowtop for the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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37. ϗᒅڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ� 

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(c) ϗᒅᄿψ༟ן�ᚃ� 

�ൗj�ᚃڝ

ϗᒅ޴ᗫϓ͉ԨʔࠠɽdʊІϗᒅϓ

͉ʕ࡜ৰdԨٜટᆽႩމಂʫක˕ʿ

˚ɝ࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓࠇ

˟ϋܓʘၝΥฦूڌʘ�Б݁ʿՉ˼

ක˕�ʫf

Іϗᒅ˸Ըdᄿψ༟ןʊ͉މණྠ࿚

至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

ʘϗɝʿ๐л্ᘠʱй121,448,000ߒ
ಥʩʿ12,324,000ಥʩf

ʊආБd͉ණڋϋ׵ןϗᒅᄿψ༟ࡊ

ྠ࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟

ϋܓʘϗɝᐼᕘਗ਼2,544,957,000މಥ
ʩdϾϋʫ๐лۆਗ਼202,337,000މಥ
ʩf௪Ͻ༟ࣘසԶႭ͜׼௄d͊̀ͪڌ

ɨ͉ණྠرҁϓઋڋϋ׵ϗᒅԫධࡊ

ุਕྼყਗ਼༺Ցٙϗɝʿุᐶd͵ʔ

ϙίЪ͊މԸุᐶٙཫ಻f

ر஗ϗᒅઋڋϋ׵ןᄿψ༟ࡊᔾ֛׵

ɨ͉ණྠ �ٙ௪Ͻ�ϗɝʿ๐лࣛd໨

ԫɗ࣬ኽᅀגʿண௪׵ϗᒅ˚ಂٙʊ

ᆽႩږᕘࠇၑᅀגʿண௪ٙұᔚʿᛅ

ቖf

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 

(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(c) Acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop 
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Acquisition related costs were insignificant and have 
been excluded from the cost of acquisition and have 
been recognised directly as an expense in the period and 
included in the “administrative and other expenses” line item 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

Since the acquisition, Guangzhou Nowtop has contributed 
approximately HK$121,448,000 and HK$12,324,000 to the 
Group’s revenue and profit, respectively, for the year ended 
31 December 2016.

Had the acquisition of Guangzhou Nowtop been effected 
at the beginning of the year, the total amount of revenue 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 would 
have been HK$2,544,957,000, and the amount of the 
profit for the year would have been HK$202,337,000. The 
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and 
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of 
operations of the Group that actually would have been 
achieved had the acquisition been completed at the 
beginning of the year, nor is it intended to be a projection of 
future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the 
Group had Guangzhou Nowtop been acquired at the 
beginning of the year, the directors calculated depreciation 
and amortisation of plant and equipment based on the 
recognised amounts of plant and equipment at the date of 
the acquisition.
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡

࿚Ї二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ

(a) ̈ਯᇲऎᑌඉ 

ɚཧɓɖϋɚ˜ɚɤɞ˚dᄿ׵

؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ᇲऎ
୅ਗ��ၾɓΤዹͭୋɧ �̇�൯˙
Aͭࠈ��൯ር՘ᙄdኽϤdᇲऎ୅

ਗΝจΣ൯˙Äਯ׵ᄿ؇ᇲऎᑌ

ඉϞࠢʮ �̡�ᇲऎᑌඉ��ʘΌ௅
ٰ͉ᛆूd˾ᄆމɛ͏࿆1,000,000

ʩ޴�຅1,128,000ߒ׵ಥʩ�fᇲ

ऎᑌඉʿՉڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕၈�ᇲऎ
ᑌඉණྠ��ʘ˴ุࠅਕމ຾ᐄ༨
ྤཥɿਠਕุਕf

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017

(a) DISPOSAL OF BLUESEA UNION 
POST

On 28 February 2017, ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ 

(Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company 

Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”) entered into a sale 

and purchase agreement with an independent third 

party (the “Purchaser A”) pursuant to which Bluesea 

Mobile agreed to sell the entire equity interest in ᄿ؇

ᇲऎᑌඉϞࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong Bluesea Union Post 

Limited*) (“Bluesea Union Post”) to the Purchaser 

A at a consideration of RMB1,000,000, equivalent to 

approximately HK$1,128,000. The principal activity 

of Bluesea Union Post and its subsidiary (collectively 

referred to as “Bluesea Union Post Group”) is the 

operation of cross-border e-commerce business.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(a) ̈ਯᇲऎᑌඉ 
�ᚃ�

༈̈ਯԫධʊ׵ɚཧɓɖϋɚ˜

ɚɤɞ˚ҁϓfᇲऎᑌඉණྠ̈׵

ਯ˚ಂʘ༟ପଋ࠽νɨj

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017 (Continued)

(a) DISPOSAL OF BLUESEA UNION 
POST (Continued)

The disposal was completed on 28 February 2017. 

Net assets of Bluesea Union Post Group at the date 

of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 54

Inventories π஬ 29

Prepayments and other receivables ཫ˹ಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ 216

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 24

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ (215)

108

Less: Non-controlling interests ಯjڢછٰᛆू (48)

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה 60

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗूj

Cash consideration received ʊϗତږ˾ᄆ 1,128

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה (60)

Release of cumulative exchange difference  

on translation of foreign operations

༆ৰΪ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘ 

ଢ଼ිࠇгࢨᕘ (25)

1,043

Net cash inflow arising from disposal: ̈ਯପ͛ʘତݴږɝଋᕘj

Cash consideration ତږ˾ᄆ 1,128

Cash and cash equivalent disposed of يഃᄆږʿତږਯତ̈ה (24)

1,104
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(b) ̈ਯ֝ڥ
ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɚɤɘ˚d͉ʮ׵

̡ၾɓΤዹͭୋɧ �̇�൯˙B��

ɓධ൯ር՘ᙄdኽϤd͉ʮ̡ͭࠈ

ΝจΣ൯˙B̈ਯڥ֝׵Ϟࠢʮ

˾��ʘΌ௅ٰ͉ᛆूdڥ֝�̡�
ᄆ1މಥʩf֝ڥʿՉڝ᙮ʮ �̡୕

၈ڥ֝�މණྠ��ʘ˴ุࠅਕމ
౤Զ༨ద᜗ᄿѓ؂ਕf

༈̈ਯԫධʊ׵ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜

ɧɤ˚ҁϓf֝ڥණྠ̈׵ਯ˚ಂ

ʘࠋවଋ࠽νɨj

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017 (Continued)

(b) DISPOSAL OF EASE RAY

On 29 June 2017, the Company entered into a sale 

and purchase agreement with an independent third 

party, (the “Purchaser B”) pursuant to which the 

Company agreed to sell the entire equity interest in 

Ease Ray Limited (“Ease Ray”) to the Purchaser B 

at a consideration of HK$1. The principal activity of 

Ease Ray and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 

as “Ease Ray Group”) is the provision of transmedia 

advertising services.

The disposal was completed on 30 June 2017. Net 

liabilities of Ease Ray Group at the date of disposal 

were as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 21

Trade receivables ൱׸Ꮠϗሪಛ 41

Deposit, prepayments and other receivables eཫ˹ಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධږܲ 2,019

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 23

Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ (2,278)

(174)

Less: Non-controlling interests ಯjڢછٰᛆू (5,443)

Net liabilities disposed of ࠽වଋࠋਯ̈ה (5,617)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗूj

Cash consideration received ʊϗତږ˾ᄆ –

Net liabilities disposed of ࠽වଋࠋਯ̈ה 5,617

Release of cumulative exchange difference  
on translation of foreign operations

༆ৰΪ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘ 
ଢ଼ිࠇгࢨᕘ 2,300

7,917

Net cash outflow arising from disposal: ̈ਯପ͛ʘତ̈ݴږଋᕘj

Cash consideration ତږ˾ᄆ –

Cash and cash equivalent disposed of يഃᄆږʿତږਯତ̈ה (23)

(23)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

209Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ

(c) ̈ਯHCH INVESTMENTS 
LIMITED

ɚཧɓʬϋɚ˜ɤɘ˚d͉ʮ׵

̡ၾOAF (BJ) Limited�Ъމ�൯
˙��ʿ ᄎ֚၅΋ �͛Ъމ�ዄڭ
ɛͭࠈ��ɓධ൯ር՘ᙄdኽϤd͉
ʮ̡Ϟૢ΁ΝจΣ൯˙̈ਯHCH 

Investments LimitedΌ௅ٰ͉ᛆ

ूd˾ᄆ156,000,000މಥʩfHCH 

Investments LimitedʿՉڝ᙮ʮ̡

�୕၈̈�މਯණྠ��ʘ˴ุࠅਕ
Ҧڦஷ݋೯࢝ʝᑌၣҦஔʿሊމ

ஔʿሊ݋ஷڦӻ୕ண௪ʘ൱׸f

൯˙ʘ௰୞ྼूኹϞɛ�Νࣛމዄ

HCH Investments Limitedމ�ɛڭ

࿩ɨɓගڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘ໨ԫd݂͉މ

ʮ̡ڝ׵᙮ʮ̡ᄴࠦʘᗫஹɛɻf

ΪϤd࣬ኽGEMɪ̹஝ۆd༈̈ਯ

ԫධ࿴ϓ͉ʮ̡ʘᗫஹʹ׸f

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016

(c) DISPOSAL OF HCH INVESTMENTS 
LIMITED

On 19 February 2016, the Company entered into a 

sale and purchase agreement with OAF (BJ) Limited 

(as the “Purchaser”) and Mr. Chong Hock (Charles) 

Lau (as the “Guarantor”) pursuant to which the 

Company conditionally agreed to sell the entire 

equity interest of HCH Investments Limited at a 

consideration of HK$156,000,000 to the Purchaser. 

The principal activities of HCH Investments Limited 

and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Disposal Group”) are engaged in the development 

of Internet technology and satellite communication 

technology as well as the trading of satellite 

communication system devices.

The ultimate beneficial owner of the Purchaser who 

is also the Guarantor is a director of a subsidiary 

of HCH Investments Limited, and therefore was a 

connected person of the Company at subsidiary level. 

Accordingly, the disposal constituted a connected 

transaction of the Company under GEM Listing 

Rules.
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(c) ̈ਯHCH INVESTMENTS 
LIMITED�ᚃ�

༈̈ਯԫධʊ׵ɚཧɓʬϋɧ˜

ɤ̬˚ҁϓf̈ਯණྠ̈׵ਯ˚ಂ

ʘ༟ପଋ࠽νɨj

e̙ᔷᜫԨࢹࠇʔމгୃኽו ൗjڝ
ʫՑ˜ࡈʬࠇҁϓ˚ಂৎ׵
ಂf

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(c) DISPOSAL OF HCH INVESTMENTS 
LIMITED (Continued)

The disposal was completed on 14 March 2016. Net 
assets of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal 
were as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 3,872

Intangible assets ೌҖ༟ପ 28,635

Goodwill ਠᚑ 6,403

Inventory π஬ 231

Accounts receivables Ꮠϗሪಛ 410

Prepayments and other receivables ཫ˹ಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠϗಛධ 8,539

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 10,549

Accounts payable Ꮠ˹ሪಛ (20,461)

Accruals and other payable ᏐࠇಛධʿՉ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධ (28,119)

Deferred taxation ჈ַ೼ධ (1,341)

8,718

Less: Non-controlling interests ಯjڢછٰᛆू 4,155

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה 12,873

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗूj

Cash consideration received ʊϗତږ˾ᄆ 68,000

Promissory note (Note) �ൗڝ�гୃኽו 88,000

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה (12,873)

Release of cumulative exchange difference  
on translation of foreign operations

༆ৰΪ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘ 
ଢ଼ිࠇгࢨᕘ (58)

143,069

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: ̈ਯପ͛ʘତݴږɝଋᕘj

Cash consideration ତږ˾ᄆ 68,000

Cash and cash equivalent disposed of يഃᄆږʿତږਯତ̈ה (10,549)

57,451

Note: The promissory note is non-interest bearing, 
transferable and with a 6-month maturity from the 
date of completion.
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(d) ၾ˂一ږၣ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡
��˂一ږၣ��༆ৰഐ࿴
ߒΥ׌
ɚཧɓʬϋɚ˜ɤɖ˚d͉ණ׵

ྠၾ˂ɓږၣ�ᒄဧೌᇞ�Іɚཧ

ɓ̬ϋɓ˜ɓ˚ৎʔΎԻɝ͉ණ

ྠٙၝΥৌਕజڌ�ʘٜટછٰʮ

̡ʿ͉ʮ̡ீཀഐ࿴׌Υߒ��ഐ
࿴׌Υߒ��ʘڝ᙮ʮ̡�e˂ɓږ
ၣٰٙ؇ʿՇΤዹͭୋɧ �̇�൯
˸��՘ᙄ��༆ৰ՘ᙄͭࠈ��˙ ༆

ৰഐ࿴׌Υߒf࣬ኽ༆ৰ՘ᙄd�Չ

ʕܼ̍�1)͉ණྠᐏ੻࿁ᒄဧೌᇞ

ٙછՓᛆהԱኽٙഐ࿴׌Υߒਗ਼

ᐏ༆ৰiʿ2�˂ ɓږၣٰٙ؇ਗ਼Չ

ၣٙΌ௅ᛆू̈ਯʚ൯ږɓ˂׵

˙f

Ϥ̮d׵༆ৰഐ࿴׌Υܝߒd͉ණ

ྠਗ਼ʔึఱܛجൡதପ͛ආɓӉ

ٙ൬͜dϾ˲ܛجࡊൡதഐ؈лλ

ᒄဧೌᇞd˂ɓږၣʊוፕਗ਼Σ͉

ණྠᎵᒔՉᏐЦᒄဧೌᇞהϗ՟

΂О॰ሦಛධʘ௅΅f

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(d) UNWINDING OF STRUCTURED 
CONTRACT WITH ˂一ږၣ߅ҦϞࠢ
ʮ̡ (“A1 NET”)

On 17 February 2016, the Group entered into 

agreements (the “Unwinding Agreements”) with A1 

Net, the immediate holding company of CERNET 

Wifi, which has been de-consolidated from the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group from 

1 January 2014, and a subsidiary of the Company 

by way of structured contracts (the “Structured 

Contracts”), the shareholders of A1 Net and two 

independent third parties (the “Purchasers”) to 

unwind the Structured Contracts. Pursuant to 

the Unwinding Agreements, among others, 1) 

the Structured Contracts under which the Group 

had obtained control over CERNET Wifi would 

be unwound; and 2) the shareholders of A1 Net 

disposed of their entire interests in A1 Net to the 

Purchasers.

In addition, upon the unwinding of the Structured 

Contracts, while the Group will not incur further 

costs in relation to the legal proceedings, A1 Net 

has undertaken to repay the Group its share of any 

claimed amount received by CERNET Wifi if the 

outcome of the legal proceedings is in favour of 

CERNET Wifi.
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38. ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

࿚Ї二零一ʬ年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一
˚˟年ܓ�ᚃ�

(d) ၾ˂一ږၣ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡
��˂一ږၣ��༆ৰഐ࿴
��ᚃߒΥ׌
ɚཧɓʬϋɚ˜ɤɖ˚༆ৰഐ׵

࿴׌Υܝߒd׵˂ɓږၣʘٰᛆʊ

ᐏ̈ਯdʿ˂ɓږၣ׵༆ৰ˚ಂʘ

༟ପଋ࠽νɨj

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2016 (Continued)

(d) UNWINDING OF STRUCTURED 
CONTRACT WITH ˂一ږၣ߅ҦϞࠢ
ʮ̡ (“A1 NET”) (Continued)

Upon the unwinding of the Structured Contracts on 

17 February 2016, the entity interest in A1 Net was 

disposed of, and the net assets of A1 Net at the date 

of unwinding were as follows:

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 166

Prepayments ཫ˹ಛධ 324

Other receivables Չ˼Ꮠϗಛධ 1,761

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה 2,251

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗूj

Net assets disposed of ࠽ਯ༟ପଋ̈ה (2,251)

Release of cumulative exchange difference  

on translation of foreign operations

༆ৰΪ౬ၑऎุ̮ਕପ͛ʘ 

ଢ଼ිࠇгࢨᕘ 2,411

160

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: ̈ਯପ͛ʘତ̈ݴږଋᕘj

Cash and cash equivalent disposed of يഃᄆږʿତږਯତ̈ה (166)
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39. ຾ᐄॡ༣

͉ණྠЪוމॡɛ
ϋʫ࣬ኽ፬ʮุي܃຾ᐄॡ༣ʊ˹ٙ

௰Эॡ9,797,000މߒږಥʩ�ɚཧɓʬ

ϋj6,137,000ಥʩ�f

຾ᐄॡ༣ಛධܸ͉ණྠఱՉ߰ʍ፬ʮ

࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋ׵fږᏐ˹ٙॡุي܃

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓdॡ༣ٙ՘֛ॡ

ಂ2މϋ�ɚཧɓʬϋj2ϋ�dॡږո

֛f฿ೌॡ್אܼ̍ߒॡږʿᚃૢࠈಛ

ʊ׵ॡߒʕᔾ֛f

ɨ˚ಂՑ˸׵జѓಂ͋d͉ණྠ࣬ኽ׵

ಂٙʔ̙࿞ቖ຾ᐄॡߒఱ͊Ը௰Эॡږ

Ъ̈וዄj

39. OPERATING LEASES

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases in 

respect of office premises during the year amounting to 

approximately HK$9,797,000 (2016: HK$6,137,000).

Operating lease payments represent rentals payables by 

the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are 

negotiated for a term of 2 years (2016: 2 years) with a fixed 

rentals during the year ended 31 December 2017. None of 

the leases included contingent rentals and terms of renewal 

were established in the leases.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 

commitments for future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Within one year ɓϋʫ 12,761 7,885

In the second to fifth years inclusive ୋɚ至ୋʞϋ 

�Շϋ҈࠯ܼ̍� 5,048 8,001

17,809 15,886
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40. ༟͉וዄ

ൗjڝ

i. ׵ɚཧɓʞϋ̬˜ɚɤ̬˚dᄿ؇ᇲऎ

Ҧ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ߅ �̡�ᄿ؇ᇲऎ߅Ҧ�d
͉ʮ̡ʘΌ༟ڝ᙮ʮ̡�ၾʆ؇ईᆓථ

ऎථࠇၑପุҳ༟Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ईᆓථ
Υ༟՘ᙄ��Υ༟՘ᙄ��dͭࠈ��ၑࠇ
ኽϤdᄿ؇ᇲऎ߅ҦʿईᆓථࠇၑΝ

จϓͭɓගΥ༟ʮ �̡�Υ༟ʮ̡��d
ၑᏐ͜ʿཥɿਠਕุਕfࠇ੽ԫථࠅ˴

࣬ኽΥ༟՘ᙄdΥ༟ʮ̡ʘൗٰ͉̅

ਗ਼މɛ͏࿆20,000,000ʩdՉʕईᆓ
ථࠇၑਗ਼Ⴉᖮɛ͏࿆12,000,000ʩʿ
ᄿ؇ᇲऎ߅Ҧਗ਼Ⴉᖮɛ͏࿆8,000,000
ʩfߒࠈ˙ҁϓء༟ܝdΥ༟ʮ̡ਗ਼͟

ईᆓථࠇၑʿᄿ؇ᇲऎ߅ҦʱйኹϞ

60%ʿ40%dԨɝሪΐЪ͉ණྠʘᑌ
ᐄʮ̡f

ii. ׵ɚཧɓɖϋʬ˜ɤɘ˚dᄿ؇ᇲऎ

୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ᄿ؇ᇲऎ���͉
ʮ̡ீཀഐ࿴׌ΥܵߒϞՉᛆू�ၾ

ʕऎ߅ࢹڦذҦϞࠢʮ �̡�ऎڦذ
əɓ΅Υ༟՘ᙄ��Υ༟՘ͭࠈ��߅
ᙄ��f࣬ኽΥ༟՘ᙄdΥ༟ʮ �̡�Υ
༟ʮ̡��ʘൗٰ͉̅ਗ਼މɛ͏࿆
50,000,000ʩdՉʕऎ߅ڦذਗ਼Ⴉᖮ
ɛ͏࿆24,500,000ʩʿᄿ؇ᇲऎਗ਼Ⴉ
ᖮɛ͏࿆25,500,000ʩf׵ɚཧɓɖϋ
ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚dᄿ؇ᇲऎʊΣΥ༟

ʮ̡̈༟ɛ͏࿆500,000ʩf

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Commitments contracted for but not  

provided in the consolidated financial  

statements in respect of

Ϟᗫ˸ɨ΢ධ׵ၝΥ 

ৌਕజڌʘʊߒࠈ 

Ш͊ᅡ௪ٙוዄ

–  Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي– 25,605 32,451

–  Capital contribution to an associate  

(Note i)

–Σɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ء༟ 

ൗڝ� i� 9,584 8,943

–  Capital contribution to a joint venture  

(Note ii)

– ΣɓගΥᐄΆุء༟ 

ൗڝ� ii� 29,950 –

Note:

i. On 24 April 2015, ᄿ؇ᇲऎ߅Ҧ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Guangdong 
Bluesea Technology Development Company Limited)* 
(“Guangdong Bluesea Technology”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture 
agreement (the “JV agreement”) with ʆ؇ईᆓථऎථࠇ
ၑପุҳ༟Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Shandong Inspur Cloud Computing 
Industry Investment Company Limited) (“Inspur Cloud 
Computing”) pursuant to which Guangdong Bluesea 
Technology and Inspur Cloud Computing agreed to 
establish a joint venture (the “JV Company”) to mainly 
engage in the applications of cloud computing and 
e-commerce businesses. Pursuant to the JV agreement, the 
amount of registered share capital of the JV Company shall 
be RMB20,000,000 while Inspur Cloud Computing shall 
account for a capital contribution of RMB12,000,000 and 
Guangdong Bluesea Technology shall account for a capital 
contribution of RMB8,000,000. Upon the completion of the 
capital contribution of the parties, the JV Company shall be 
owned as to 60% by Inspur Cloud Computing and 40% by 
Guangdong Bluesea Technology and is accounted for as an 
associate to the Group.

ii. On 19 June 2017, Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development 
Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Bluesea”), the equity interest of 
which is controlled by the Company through structured 
contracts, and China National Offshore Oil Information 
Technology Limited (“CNOOIT”) entered into a joint venture 
agreement (the “JV Agreement”). Pursuant to the JV 
Agreement, the amount of registered share capital of the 
joint venture (“JV Company”) shall be RMB50,000,000 
while CNOOIT shall account for a capital contribution of 
RMB24,500,000 and Guangdong Bluesea shall account 
for a capital contribution of RMB25,500,000.As at 
31 December 2017, Guangdong Bluesea has contributed 
RMB500,000 to the JV company.

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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׸ʹږତڢࠅ˴ .41

͉ණྠ׵࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ

˚˟ϋܓʫϞ˸ɨ˴ڢࠅତ׸ʹږj

༐νڝൗ22ה༱dೌҖ༟ପཥ໘ழ΁ߒ

9,022,000ಥʩɗ͉͟ණྠʘڢછٰᛆ

᙮ʮ̡ʊ೯БٰڝႩᒅՉމ༟dЪءू

͉ٙ௅΅˾ᄆf

͉ණྠ׵࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ

˚˟ϋܓʫϞ˸ɨ˴ڢࠅତ׸ʹږj

༐ ν ڝ ൗ 3 8 ( c ) ה ༱d̈ ਯ H C H 

Investments LimitedᏐϗʘ௅΅˾ᄆʊ

ீཀ͉ږᕘ88,000,000މಥʩʘוгୃ

ኽഐ˹f

41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

The Group had the following major non-cash transaction 

during the year ended 31 December 2017:

As set out in note 22, the intangible assets of computer 

software of approximately HK$9,022,000 was contributed 

by the non-controlling interests of the Group as part of 

consideration for the subscription of issued share capital of 

its subsidiary.

The Group had the following major non-cash transactions 

during the year ended 31 December 2016:

As set out in note 38(c), part of the consideration 

receivable from the disposal of HCH Investments Limited 

was satisfied by a promissory note with principal amount of 

HK$88,000,000.
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᙮ʮ̡ڝ .42

˜ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ׵᙮ʮ̡ڝࠅ˴

ɧɤɓ˚ʘ༉୚༟ࣘνɨj

42. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 

2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Class of
shares held

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Nominal value of
authorised

share capital

Nominal value of
paid up issued

share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities

᙮ʮ̡Τ၈ڝ ᗳ別΅ٰܵה
ൗ̅ϓͭŊൗ̅ʿ
ᐄุήᓃ ࠽ٰ͉֛ࠦج

ʊᖮԑ的
ʊ೯Бٰ͉ࠦ࠽

͉ʮ̡ᏐЦ
ᛆूϵ分ˢ ਕุࠅ˴

Directly Indirectly

ٜટ ගટ

ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡  
(Note ii)

Ordinary PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 – 100% Operation of commercial WIFI 
platform, provision of value-added 
telecommunication services

ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ 
ൗڝ� ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆50,000,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆50,000,000ʩ – 100% ᐄ༶ਠุWIFĮ̻ʿ౤Զᄣ࠽ཥৃ
؂ਕ

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣ 
Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Note ii)

Ordinary PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB100,000,000 RMB10,000,000 – 70% Operation of Internet finance platform 
business

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣ 
Ϟࠢʮ ൗڝ̡� ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆100,000,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆10,000,000ʩ – 70% ᐄ༶ʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕ

ʕණݴيༀ௪Ϟࠢʮ̡  
(Note ii)

Ordinary PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB50,000,000 RMB3,000,000 – 43% Design, manufacture and sale of 
logistics equipment

ʕණݴيༀ௪Ϟࠢʮ̡ 
ൗڝ� ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆50,000,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆3,000,000ʩ – 43% eႡிʿቖਯࠇண௪ٙணݴي

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂

ਕϞࠢʮ̡ (Note iii)
Ordinary PRC, limited liability 

company
RMB30,000,000 RMB9,500,000 – 60% Operation of Internet finance platform 

business

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂

ਕϞࠢʮ ൗڝ̡� iii�
౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆30,000,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆9,500,000ʩ – 60% ᐄ༶ʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕ

ᄿψ̹છڦ༟ପ၍ଣϞࠢப΂

ʮ̡ (Note iii)
Ordinary PRC, limited liability 

company
RMB500,000 RMB150,000 – 60% Operation of Internet finance platform 

business

ᄿψ̹છڦ༟ପ၍ଣϞࠢப΂

ʮ ൗڝ̡� iii�
౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆500,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆150,000ʩ – 60% ᐄ༶ʝᑌၣږፄุ̨̻ਕ

KSZ Technology (HK) Limited Ordinary Hong Kong N/A HK$300,000 – 100% Trading of mobile phones and tablets

KSZ Technology (HK) Limited ౷ஷٰ ಥ࠰ ʔቇ͜ 300,000ಥʩ – 100% ˓ዚʿ̻ؐཥ໘൱׸

Million Ace Trading (International) 
Limited

Ordinary Hong Kong N/A HK$1 – 100% Trading of mobile phones

Million Ace Trading (International) 
Limited

౷ஷٰ ಥ࠰ ʔቇ͜ 1ಥʩ – 100% ˓ዚ൱׸

ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡  
(Note i, ii)

Ordinary PRC, limited liability 
company

RMB10,000,000 RMB2,500,000 – 60% Provision of IDC Services

ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ 
ൗڝ� i, ii�

౷ஷٰ ʕ਷dϞࠢப΂ʮ̡ ɛ͏࿆10,000,000ʩ ɛ͏࿆2,500,000ʩ – 60% ౤Զ IDC؂ਕ
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᙮ʮڝ .42 �̡ᚃ�

ɪڌ༱ΐ͉ʮ̡ʘڝ᙮ʮ̡d໨ԫႩމ

༈ഃڝ᙮ʮ̡࿁͉ණྠ͉ಂගʘุᐶପ

˴ʘ࠽ଡ଼ϓ͉ණྠ༟ପଋאᅂᚤࠅ˴͛

᙮ʮڝ˼dν༱ΐՉމ௅΅f໨ԫႩࠅ

̡ʘ༉ઋਗ਼˿ᇐషཀ׵ʯڗf

ൗjڝ

i. ׵࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟
ϋܓϗᒅאϓͭʘڝ᙮ʮ̡fϞᗫϗ
ᒅڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘආɓӉ༉ઋ༱ڝ׵ൗ
37f

ii. ீ׵ཀ߰ʍഐ࿴׌τર��ഐ࿴׌τ
ર��છՓʘڝ᙮ʮ̡dϞᗫഐ࿴׌τ
રʘ༉ઋdሗਞቡڝൗ43f

iii. ׵࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟
ϋܓᔷᜫ至͉ණྠʘڝ᙮ʮ̡ᛆूf
ϞᗫኹϞᛆᜊਗʘආɓӉ༉ઋ༱ڝ׵
ൗ37f

ኹϞࠠɽڢછٰᛆू͉ٙණྠڢΌ༟ڝ

᙮ʮ̡ٙ༉ઋ

ɨڌ༱ΐኹϞࠠɽڢછٰᛆू͉ٙණྠ

᙮ʮ̡ٙ༉ઋjڝΌ༟ڢ

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company 
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected 
the results for the period or formed a substantial portion 
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

Note:

i. Subsidiaries acquired or set up during the year ended 
31 December 2016. Further details of acquisitions of 
subsidiaries are included in note 37.

ii. Subsidiar ies control led through certain structured 
arrangements (“Structured Arrangements”), for details of 
the Structured Arrangements, please refer to note 43.

iii. Subsidiary interests transferred to the Group during the year 
ended 31 December 2017. Further details of change of 
ownership interest are included in note 37.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that 
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling 
interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
Incorporation
and principal
place of business

Proportion ownership interests
and voting rights held by
non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive
loss/(income) allocated to
non-controlling interests

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

᙮ʮ̡Τ၈ڝ ൗ̅ϓͭήᓃ
ʿ˴ࠅᐄุήᓃ

છٰᛆूܵϞʘڢ
ኹϞᛆᛆूʿҳୃᛆϵ分ˢ

分ৣЇڢછٰᛆूʘ
ΌࠦᑦฦŊ�ϗू�ᐼᕘ ଢ଼ڢࠇછٰᛆू

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ 二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ 
and its subsidiaries
ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ 
ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ̡

PRC

ʕ਷

30% 30% 686 (5,705) 29,888 24,578

ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ 
and its subsidiaries
ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ̡

PRC

ʕ਷

40% 40% 12,164 (3,932) 84,007 64,264

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣ 
ፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡and its subsidiariesږ

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣ 
᙮ʮ̡ڝፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉږ

PRC

ʕ਷

40% 55% 10,382 4,542 16,547 8,881

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with  
non-controlling interests
ኹϞڢછٰᛆूʘࡈйࠠڢɽڝ᙮ʮ̡ 5,845 7,378

136,287 105,101
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ኹϞࠠɽڢછٰᛆू͉ٙණྠ΢ڝ᙮ʮ

̡ٙৌਕ༟ࣘ฿ࠅ༱ΐνɨf˸ɨٙৌ

ਕ༟ࣘ฿ܸࠅණྠʫʮ̡ග࿁ቖږٙۃ

ᕘf

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉ
᙮ʮ̡ڝ

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of 

the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling 

interests is set out below. The summarised financial 

information below represents amounts before intragroup 

eliminations.

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ and its subsidiaries

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ 96,041 87,055

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ 34,238 33,753

Current liabilities වࠋਗݴ (31,552) (23,463)

Non-current liabilities වࠋਗݴڢ (4,179) (4,756)

Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦᛆू

64,660 68,011

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 29,888 24,578
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ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉ
᙮ʮڝ �̡ᚃ�

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ and its subsidiaries 

(Continued)

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Revenue ϗू 16,204 39,539

Expenses ක˕ (15,742) (15,954)

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 462 23,585

Profit attributable to owners of the Company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐л 2,527 16,516

(Loss)/profit attributable to the non-controlling  

interests

 છٰᛆूᏐЦ�ᑦฦ�Ŋڢ

๐л (2,065) 7,069

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 462 23,585

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 

attributable to owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦՉ˼ 

Όࠦ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ� 4,474 (3,182)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

attributable to the non-controlling interests

 ˼છٰᛆूᏐЦՉڢ

Όࠦ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ� 2,751 (1,364)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

for the year

ϋʫՉ˼Όࠦ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ�

7,225 (4,546)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ
For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

220 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

᙮ʮڝ .42 �̡ᚃ�
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ᄿ؇ڛɭ༺ৌబҳ༟၍ଣϞࠢʮ̡ and its subsidiaries 

(Continued)

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦΌࠦ 

ϗूᐼᕘ 7,001 13,334

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

non-controlling interests

 છٰᛆूᏐЦΌࠦڢ

ϗूᐼᕘ 686 5,705

Total comprehensive income for the year ϋʫΌࠦϗूᐼᕘ 7,687 19,039

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from  

operating activities

ԸІ຾ᐄุਕʘତږ 

ɝଋᕘݴ�Ŋ̈ݴ� (24,637) 50,890

Net cash outflow from investing activities ԸІҳ༟ݺਗʘତ̈ݴږଋᕘ (6,468) (28,564)

Net cash inflow from financing activities ԸІፄ༟ݺਗʘତݴږɝଋᕘ 10,100 12,595

Net cash (outflow)/inflow ତ̈ݴ�ږ�Ŋݴɝଋᕘ (21,005) 34,921
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ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ̡

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ and its subsidiaries

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ 147,787 81,453

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ 176,850 180,513

Current liabilities වࠋਗݴ (86,887) (57,897)

Non-current liabilities වࠋਗݴڢ (38,490) (43,156)

Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦᛆू

115,253 96,649

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 84,007 64,264

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Revenue ϗɝ 210,302 122,421

Expenses ක˕ (197,062) (111,247)

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 13,240 11,174

Profit attributable to owners of the Company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐л 3,210 6,672

Profit attributable to the non-controlling  

interests

છٰᛆूᏐЦ๐лڢ

10,030 4,502

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 13,240 11,174
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ᄿψ̹༟߅ןҦϞࠢʮ̡ and its subsidiaries 

(Continued)

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

attributable to owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦՉ˼Όࠦ 

ϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 1,882 (875)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

attributable to the non-controlling interests

 છٰᛆूᏐЦՉ˼Όࠦڢ

ϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 2,134 (574)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

for the year

ϋʫՉ˼ΌࠦϗूŊ�ᑦฦ�

4,016 (1,449)

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦΌࠦ 

ϗूᐼᕘ 5,092 5,797

Total comprehensive income attributable to  

non-controlling interests

 છٰᛆूᏐЦΌࠦڢ

ϗूᐼᕘ 12,164 3,928

Total comprehensive income for the year ϋʫΌࠦϗूᐼᕘ 17,256 9,725

Net cash inflow from operating activities ԸІ຾ᐄุਕʘତݴږ 

ɝଋᕘ 17,378 2,306

Net cash outflow from investing activities ԸІҳ༟ݺਗʘତݴږ 

̈ଋᕘ (22,026) (5,018)

Net cash inflow from financing activities ԸІፄ༟ݺਗʘତݴږ 

ɝଋᕘ 22,590 1,017

Net cash inflow/(outflow) ତݴږɝŊ̈ݴ��ଋᕘ 17,942 (1,695)
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ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ
̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ̡

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ and its 

subsidiaries

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ 68,272 21,416

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ 2,061 1,777

Current liabilities වࠋਗݴ (27,087) (5,858)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦᛆू 26,699 8,455

Non-controlling interests છٰᛆूڢ 16,547 8,880

Revenue ϗू 98,871 33,681

Expenses ක˕ (78,414) (24,435)

Profit for the year ϋʫ๐л 20,457 9,246

Profit attributable to owners of the company ͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦ๐л 10,876 4,161

Profit attributable to the non-controlling  

interests

છٰᛆूᏐЦ๐лڢ

9,581 5,085

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

attributable to owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦՉ˼ 

ΌࠦϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 2,079 (477)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

attributable to the non-controlling interests

 ˼છٰᛆूᏐЦՉڢ

ΌࠦϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 1,370 (543)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

for the year

ϋʫՉ˼Όࠦ 

ϗूŊ�ᑦฦ� 3,449 (1,020)
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ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ
̡ʿՉڝ᙮ʮ �̡ᚃ�

31 December

2017

31 December

2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Total comprehensive income attributable  

to owners of the Company

͉ʮ̡ኹϞɛᏐЦΌࠦ 

ϗूᐼᕘ 12,955 3,684

Total comprehensive income attributable  

to non-controlling interests

 છٰᛆूᏐЦΌࠦϗूڢ

ᐼᕘ 10,951 4,542

Total comprehensive income for the year ϋʫΌࠦϗूᐼᕘ 23,906 8,226

Net cash outflow from operating activities ԸІ຾ᐄุਕʘତږ 

ଋᕘ̈ݴ (1,658) (5,770)

Net cash outflow from investing activities ԸІҳ༟ݺਗʘତږ 

ଋᕘ̈ݴ (165) (669)

Net cash inflow from financing activities ԸІፄ༟ݺਗʘତږ 

ɝଋᕘݴ 1,974 –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) ତݴږɝŊ̈ݴ��ଋᕘ 151 (6,439)

42. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ଉέ̹႓໶؂ږʝᑌၣږፄ؂ਕϞࠢʮ̡ and its 

subsidiaries (Continued)
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43. ഐ࿴׌τર

͉ණྠϞ߰ʍ຾ᐄྼ᜗ɗீཀΥߒτર

છՓ׵;౶ʕ਷ණྠeᒄဧೌᇞණྠʿ

ᇲऎ୅ਗණ �ྠ୕၈�༈ഃΥߒτર��f

;౶ʕ਷ණྠ

຾ᐄྼ᜗ٙ༉ઋʿ˴ᐄุਕ 

̏ԯʕሊිஷၣഖӻ୕ҦஔϞࠢʮ̡

��̏ԯිஷމ��ɓග࣬ኽʕ਷ܛجϓ
ͭʘϞࠢப΂ʮ̡dԨ͟ɧΤɛɻdу

ϡ߱ਃ΋͛ (79%)eݳϓ༸΋͛ (15%)ʿ

ᄎ೰΋͛ (6%)�˸ɨ୕၈�̏ԯිஷٰ
؇��ኹϞf̏ԯිஷ͉މණྠீཀ;౶
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ஷʘഐ࿴׌Υߒ��HCHഐ࿴׌Υߒ��
ٙ˙όછՓf̏ԯිஷ˴ࠅ੽ԫVSATஷ

ਕfุڦ

HCHഐ࿴׌Υߒʘ˴ૢࠅಛ 

a) וгୃኽ

ɚཧɓཧϋɧ˜ʞ˚d̏ԯි׵

ஷٰ؇Σʕ਷ිஷછٰϞࠢʮ̡

��ʕ਷ිஷ��೯Бɧ΅ᐼږᕘމ

гୃኽdՉʘוʩʘߕ1,400,000

ᐏᔷᜫʚ;౶ිஷછܝ �ٰʕ਷�

Ϟࠢʮ �̡;౶ၣഖʕ਷ʘٜટછ

ٰʮ̡�f༈ഃוгୃኽމཧୃࢹ
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b) બᛆ˖΁

̏ԯිஷٰ؇ᖦ໇ɓ΅ʔ̙࿞Ϋ

ʘબᛆՌdՉ˿;౶ၣഖʕ਷БԴ

̏ԯිஷٰ؇ʘהϞᛆɢf

43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has several operating entities controlled 

through contractual arrangements in Hughes China Group, 

CERNET Wifi Group and Bluesea Mobile Group (collectively, 

the “Contractual Arrangements”).

HUGHES CHINA GROUP

Particulars and main business of the 
operating entity

̏ԯʕሊිஷၣഖӻ୕ҦஔϞࠢʮ̡ (Beijing China 

Satcom Unified Network Systems Technology Co., Ltd) 

(“BUN”) is a limited liability company established under the 

laws of the PRC and is owned by three individuals namely 

Mr. ZHU Mao Wei�ϡ߱ਃ�(79%), Mr. HONG Cheng Dao

 ϓ༸�(15%) and Mr. LIU Wan�ᄎ೰�(6%) (hereinafterݳ�

collectively referred to as the “BUN Shareholders”). BUN is 

controlled by the Group through HughesNet China Co., Ltd 

(“HNC”) by way of certain structured contracts in relation 

to controlling the BUN by HNC (the “HCH Structured 

Contracts”). BUN is principally engaged in the business of 

VSAT communications.

Major terms of the HCH Structured 
Contracts

a) Promissory notes

On 5 March 2010, the BUN Shareholders issued 

three promissory notes with a total amount of 

USD1,400,000 to China UnifiedNet Holdings Limited 

(“China UnifiedNet”) which were then assigned 

to Hughes UnifiedNet Holding (China) Company 

Limited, the immediate holding company of HNC. 

The promissory notes are zero coupon notes with a 

nominal interest rate of 5% per annum and a term of 

10 years.

b) Power of attorney

The BUN Shareholders executed an irrevocable 

power of attorney which enables HNC to exercise all 

the powers of the shareholders of BUN.
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e) ٰᛆሯץ՘ᙄ
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

HUGHES CHINA GROUP (Continued)

Major terms of the HCH Structured 
Contracts (Continued)

c) Exclusive call option agreement

The BUN Shareholders irrevocably and without 

any additional conditions grant an exclusive option 

to HNC under which HNC shall have the right to 

require the BUN Shareholders to transfer the BUN 

Shareholders’ equity interest in BUN on demand to 

HNC or its designated entity or individual.

d) Exclusive consulting, technical services and 
equipment supply agreement

HNC shall serve as the exclusive provider of 

service to BUN, to provide a variety of consulting 

and technical support services to BUN for its 

business, including in the areas of business strategy, 

management, marketing, operations, technology, 

procurement, contracting, back office support, 

and technical support. HNC shall also serve as the 

exclusive provider of satellite communications system 

equipment, customer premises equipment and other 

equipment to BUN and customers of BUN.

In return for the provision of various exclusive 

consulting and technical services, as well as the 

satellite communications system equipment, BUN 

shall pay HNC a monthly service fee equivalent to 

the monthly gross revenue of BUN less any VAT or 

service taxes payable.

e) Equity pledge agreement

The BUN Shareholders agreed to pledge all equity 

interests in BUN to HNC as a security for the BUN 

Shareholders’ and BUN’s performance of their 

obligations under the aforesaid agreements.
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

HUGHES CHINA GROUP (Continued)

Significance of business of BUN to the 
Group

The HCH Structured Contracts enabled the Group to enter 

into the broadband satellite communication business and 

enhance the Group’s development in the value-added 

telecommunication services.

CERNET WIFI GROUP

Particulars and main business of the 
operating entities

A1 Net Company

̏ԯ˂ɓږၣ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ (A1 Net Technology Company 

Limited*) (“A1 Net Company”) is a limited liability company 

established under the laws of the PRC and is owned by 

Mr. Lian Xin�ᇖอ�(2%) and Mr. Zhang Xiaosong�ੵወ

҂�(98%) (hereinafter collectively referred to as “A1 Net 

Shareholders”). A1 Net Company is controlled by ʕอᒄ

ဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖஷڦҦஔϞࠢʮ̡ (“Zhongxin”) by way 

of certain structured contracts (the “CERNET Structured 

Contracts”). A1 Net Company is principally engaged in 

investment holding.

* for identification purpose only
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

CERNET WIFI GROUP (Continued)

Particulars and main business of the 
operating entities (Continued)

CERNET Wifi

ᒄဧೌᇞၣഖ߅Ҧ�̏ԯ�Ϟࠢʮ̡ (CERNET W if i 

Technology (Beijing) Company Limited*) (“CERNET Wifi”) 

is a limited liability company established under the laws 

of the PRC. CERNET Wifi is owned as to 75% by A1 

Net Company and 25% by ᒄဧҳ༟Ϟࠢʮ̡ (CERNET 

Investment Company Limited*) (“CERNET Investment”) 

respectively. CERNET Wifi is principally engaged in 

computer, software and associated equipment sales, 

technology development, transfer, consultancy and 

computer system services. CERNET Wifi has entered 

into asset leasehold and cooperation contracts with 

CERNET pursuant to which CERNET Wifi is entitled to 

the economic benefits generated by the assets owned 

by CERNET in relation to the personal broadband access 

services connecting the higher educational institutions of 

the PRC and the related internet content and value-added 

telecommunication services (the “Personal Broadband 

Access Services”). CERNET Wifi has obtained an Internet 

service provider license which enables it to be an Internet 

service provider in the PRC.

Major terms of the CERNET Structured 
Contracts

a) Voting agreement

The A1 Net Shareholders irrevocably agree to 

authorise individuals as designated by Zhongxin to 

exercise rights of shareholders of A1 Net Company 

including voting rights, nomination and appointment 

rights in legal representative, chairman of the board, 

general manager and other senior management of A1 

Net Company.

* for identification purpose only
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

CERNET WIFI GROUP (Continued)

Major terms of the CERNET Structured 
Contracts (Continued)

b) Exclusive call option agreement

The A1 Net Shareholders irrevocably grant an 

exclusive option to Zhongxin under which Zhongxin 

or its designated entity or individual shall have 

the right to acquire the equity interest of A1 Net 

Company.

c) Exclusive business operating agreement

Zhongxin shall serve as the exclusive provider of 

service to A1 Net Company, to provide a variety of 

consulting and technical support services to A1 Net 

Company for its business, including in the areas 

of business strategy, management, computer and 

information technology, website maintenance, staff 

training, customer services, and technical support.

In return for the provision of various exclusive 

consulting and technical services, A1 Net Company 

shall pay Zhongxin a service fee as determined by 

Zhongxin.

d) Equity pledge agreement (Continued)

The A1 Net Shareholders agreed to pledge all 

equity interests in A1 Net Company to Zhongxin as 

a security for the A1 Net Shareholders’ and A1 Net 

Company’s performance of their obligations under 

the aforesaid agreements.

Significance of business of CERNET Wifi to the 
Group

The CERNET Structured Contracts enabled the 

Group to enter into the business in the Personal 

Broadband Access Services connecting the higher 

educational institutions of the PRC and the related 

internet content and value-added telecommunication 

services.
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP

Particulars and main business of the 
operating entities

ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (Bluesea Mobile Development 

Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”) is a limited liability company 

established under the laws of the PRC and is owned by 

Ms. Ye Weiping�໢ਃ̻�(95%) and Mr. Xu Gangࢱ�੪�

(5%) (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Bluesea Mobile 

Shareholders”). Bluesea Mobile is controlled by ʕอᒄ

ဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ by way of certain structured 

contracts (the “Bluesea Mobile Structured Contracts”). 

Bluesea Mobile is principally engaged in provision of 

value-added telecommunication services. Bluesea Mobile 

has obtained an Internet content provider license which 

enables it to be an Internet content provider in the PRC.

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile 
Structured Contracts

a) Equity and Voting agreement

The Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall irrevocably 

grant to the ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ or 

the person as designated by the ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�

ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ an exclusive option to purchase, 

subject to and as permitted by PRC laws, their entire 

equity interest in Bluesea CMobile by way of one 

or more times of exercise of the option at any time, 

at an option price which is nil or nominal, or the 

minimum price permitted by PRC laws. In addition, 

the Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall in attending to 

the management of and exercising his shareholder’s 

right in Bluesea Mobile, seek and follow the 

instructions of the ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ

̡ .

* for identification purpose only * සԶᗆй
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued)

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile 
Structured Contracts (Continued)

b) Exclusive service agreement

Bluesea Mobile shall engage the ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣ

ഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ as its exclusive service provider. The 

ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ shall provide to 

Bluesea Mobile technology support, business support 

and relevant consultancy services that relate to the 

business of Bluesea Mobile including but not limited 

to (i) license to Bluesea Mobile the right to use the 

intellectual property rights (including but not limited 

to patent, trade mark and copyright) owned by the 

ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ according to 

the business needs of Bluesea Mobile; (ii) develop, 

maintain and update the relevant software required 

by the business of Bluesea Mobile; (iii) purchase and 

rent or obtain the right to use on behalf of Bluesea 

Mobile machinery equipment, storage space, related 

software and other software facilities required by the 

business of Bluesea Mobile; (iv) provide to Bluesea 

Mobile professional technical personnel and provide 

training to them on behalf of Bluesea Mobile; (v) assist 

Bluesea Mobile to collect and research technology 

that is relevant to the business of Bluesea Mobile; (vi) 

advise on matters relating to the business operations 

of Bluesea Mobile raised by Bluesea Mobile, and 

provide to Bluesea Mobile business promotion and 

market sales services; and (vii) according to the 

request of Bluesea Mobile and with the consent of 

the ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ , provide to 

Bluesea Mobile other recommendations and services 

relating to the business of Bluesea Mobile.
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43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued)

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile 
Structured Contracts (Continued)

c) Equity pledge agreement

Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall pledge all their 

equity interest in Bluesea Mobile to ʕอᒄဧ�ଉέ�

ၣഖ߅ҦϞࠢʮ̡ to guarantee, the performance 

of all the obligations of (i) Bluesea Mobile under the 

Exclusive Service Agreement, (ii) Bluesea Mobile 

Shareholders and Bluesea Mobile under the Equity & 

Voting Agreement.

REVENUE AND ASSETS SUBJECT TO 
THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The revenue and total assets subject to the Contractual 

Arrangements, in aggregate, are set out below:

Year ended 31 December

࿚Їɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚˟年ܓ

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Revenue ϗू 416,497 308,809

Net Profit ॱл 21,899 44,223

As at 31 December

˚ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵

2017 2016

二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Total assets ᐼ༟ପ 1,579,065 1,199,623



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ

For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

233Annual Report 2017 ɚཧɓɖϋϋజ

43. ഐ࿴׌τર�ᚃ� 

મ͜ΥߒτરʘࡡΪʿ޴ᗫ
ࠬᎈ 

࣬ኽʕ਷ତБجܛج஝d̮ਠʮ̡׵ʕ

਷੽ԫ౤Զᄣ࠽ཥ؂ڦਕʿႡிሊ݋ཥ

ӻ୕ண௪ุਕաՑࠢՓfΪϤd͉ʮڦ

̡Ա፠̏ԯිஷeᒄဧೌᇞʿᇲऎ୅ਗ

��༈ഃOPCOʮ̡�ʿ ΢Іމ�OPCO

ʮ̡��˸ ʕ਷੽ԫ͉ණྠ௅΅त֛׵

ุਕf͉ʮ̡ீཀ༈ഃΥߒτરணجၪ

ܵ࿁༈ഃOPCOʮ̡ʘৌਕʿᐄ༶݁

ഄϞࣖٙછՓd༈ഃഐ࿴׌Υߒਗ਼༈ഃ

OPCOʮ̡ʘ຾᏶лूʿ޴ᗫࠬᎈϞ

ࣖήᔷ୅ʿᔷ෴ʚ͉ʮ̡dΪϤd༈ഃ

OPCOʮ̡ʊЪ͉މණྠʘڝ᙮ʮ̡ၝ

Υɝሪf໨ԫึᔫϤ੶ሜ͉ණྠԱ፠ഐ

࿴׌ΥߒછՓԨ੽༈ഃOPCOʮ̡՟੻

຾᏶лूdϾϤί౤Զᐄ༶છՓᛆ˙ࠦ

͊̀νٜટኹϞᛆɓᅵϞࣖf͉ʮ̡̙

ঐʔ੻ʔԱ፠ʕ਷ܛج᜗ӻ˸ੂБΥߒ

τરdՉሦᎵ̙ঐึʔνՉ˼೯༺̡ج

၍ᒍਜϞࣖf΂О༈ഃOPCOʮ̡ᛆू

ٙ೮াܵϞɛၾ͉ණྠʘගʘлूላ߉

ʷ̙ঐ࿁͉ණྠʘ዆᜗ุਕᐄెڷᗫא

༶ிϓࠠɽʔлᅂᚤf༈ഃΥߒτરɨ

֛ٙᄆτર̙ঐᐏʕ਷೼ਕዚᗫሯဲf

τરධɨʘ΢ߒΥ׵ණྠ፯኿БԴ͉ࡊ

Іᒅ൯ᛆ՘ᙄʘ፯኿ᛆ˸ϗᒅ΂О༈ഃ

OPCOʮ̡ʘΌ௅א௅΅ٰ͉ᛆूd͟

ϞᗫOPCOʮ̡ʘ೮াܵϞɛᔷ୅Չኹ

Ϟᛆʚ͉ʮ̡ኹϞᛆूʘڝ᙮ʮ̡̙ঐ

ც̶ࠅᕘ൬͜ʿ޴຅εٙࣛගfԨೌڭ

ᗇ͉ʮ̡ʘʕ਷ܛجᚥਪ࿁Υߒτરٙ

༆ᙑၾʕ਷ִ݁௅ٙژ༆ᙑ޴ୌd͵Ԩ

τરਗ਼ʔ஗༈ഃʕ਷݁ߒᗇ༈ഃΥڭೌ

43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND 
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Under the prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC, 

companies with foreign ownership are restr icted 

f rom engaging in the prov is ion of va lue-added 

telecommunication services and manufacturing of 

telecommunication system equipment for satellites 

business in the PRC. As such, the Company relies on 

BUN, CERNET Wifi and Bluesea Mobile (“OPCOs” 

and each an “OPCO”) to conduct certain parts of the 

Group’s businesses in the PRC. The Company manages 

to maintain an effective control over the financial and 

operational policies of the OPCOs through the Contractual 

Arrangements which effectively transfer the economic 

benefits and pass the risks associated therewith of the 

OPCO to the Company, and as a result, the OPCOs 

have been consolidated as subsidiaries of the Group. 

The Board wishes to emphasise that the Group relies 

on the Contractual Arrangements to control and obtain 

the economic benefits from the OPCOs, which may not 

be as effective in providing operational control as direct 

ownership. The Company may have to rely on the PRC 

legal system to enforce the Contractual Arrangements, 

which remedies may be less effective than those in 

other developed jurisdictions. Any conflicts of interest or 

deterioration of the relationship between the registered 

holders of the equity interest in the OPCOs and our Group 

may materially and adversely affect the overall business 

operations of the Group. The pricing arrangement under 

the Contractual Arrangements may be challenged by the 

PRC tax authority. If the Group chooses to exercise the 

option to acquire all or part of the equity interests in any of 

the OPCOs under the respective option agreements under 

the Contractual Arrangements, substantial amount of costs 

and time may be involved in transferring the ownership of 

the relevant OPCO held by its registered holder(s) to the 

subsidiaries equity-owned by the Company. There can 

be no assurance that the interpretation of the Contractual 

Arrangements by the PRC legal advisers to the Company 

is in line with the interpretation of the PRC governmental 
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ִ௅ژʿج৫Ⴉމ༼ˀʕ਷ܛجf̤̮d

ʕ਷ִ݁௅̙ژঐ׵ਗ਼Ը༆ᙑא཯бج

τર஗ߒ༈ഃΥߧ஝ʿ݁ഄdኬجeܛ

ൖމ༼ˀ຅ࣛତБʕ਷ܛجfኋ၍Ϟɪ

ᚥਪѓٝdܛجdኽ͉ʮ̡ʕ਷ࠑה˖

༈ഃΥߒτર፭๫ତࣛʕ਷ܛجԨաՉ

္၍d˲̙࣬ኽତБʕ਷ܛج੶ՓੂБf

͉ʮ̡ਗ਼ᗫءϞᗫ༈ഃΥߒτરʘʕ਷

ᚐڭણ݄ࠅ஝Ԩ˲ਗ਼મ՟ɓʲ̀جܛج

͉ʮ̡׵༈ഃOPCOʮ̡ʘᛆूf

ࠠɽᜊʷ
ৰɪ˖מהᚣ٫̮d͉׵జѓ˚ಂdԨ

ೌ༈ഃΥߒτરʿŊאમ͜༈ഃΥߒτ

રٙઋٙر΂Оࠠɽᜊਗf

༆ৰഐ࿴׌τર 

ৰڝൗ38מהᚣ٫̮d࿚至͉జѓ˚ಂd

༈ഃഐ࿴׌τર฿ೌ஗༆ৰאίኬߧમ

ॶ༈ഃഐ࿴׌τરٙࠢՓ஗୅ৰٙઋر

ɨ͊ঐ༆ৰ༈ഃഐ࿴׌τરf

authorities and that the Contractual Arrangements will not 

be considered by such PRC governmental authorities and 

courts to be in violation of the PRC laws. In addition, the 

PRC governmental authorities may in the future interpret 

or issue laws, regulations or policies that result in the 

Contractual Arrangements being deemed to be in violation 

of the then prevailing PRC laws. Despite the above, as 

advised by the PRC legal advisers to the Company, the 

Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with and, to 

the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in force, are 

enforceable under, the current PRC laws. The Company 

will monitor the relevant PRC laws and regulations relevant 

to the Contractual Arrangements and will take all necessary 

actions to protect the Company’s interest in the OPCOs.

MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, 

there has not been any material change in the Contractual 

Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they 

were adopted.

UNWINDING OF THE STRUCTURED 
ARRANGEMENTS

Other than that disclosed in note 38, up to the date of this 

report, there has not been any unwinding of any Structured 

Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind 

any Structured Arrangements when the restrictions that 

led to the adoption of the Structured Arrangements are 

removed.

43. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND 
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(Continued)

43. ഐ࿴׌τર�ᚃ� 

મ͜ΥߒτરʘࡡΪʿ޴ᗫ
ࠬᎈ�ᚃ� 
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44. ৌਕًڌر

ৌਕజ׵ڌɚཧɓɞϋɧ˜ɚɤɖ˚ᐏ

໨ԫึҭࡘʿબᛆ̊೯dԨ͟ɨΐ໨ԫ

ᖦ໇jڌ˾

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

二零一七年
ɤ二˜ɧɤ一˚

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ
Property, plant and equipment ʿண௪גeᅀุي 280 337

Investment in subsidiaries ᙮ʮ̡ʘҳ༟ڝ׵ – 22,177

Note receivable Ꮠϗୃኽ 67,692 –

67,972 22,514

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ཫ˹ಛධeܲږʿՉ˼Ꮠ 

ϗಛධ 639 618

Promissory note гୃኽו – 65,200

Amounts due from subsidiaries Ꮠϗڝ᙮ʮ̡ಛධ 1,256,034 1,311,691

Cash and cash equivalents ତږʿତږഃᄆي 8,107 2,025

1,264,780 1,379,534

Current liabilities වࠋਗݴ
Other payables and accruals Չ˼Ꮠ˹ಛධʿᏐࠇಛධ 3,515 2,574

Amounts due to subsidiaries Ꮠ˹ڝ᙮ʮ̡ಛධ 1,723 1,063

5,238 3,637

Net current assets ࠽ਗ༟ପଋݴ 1,259,542 1,375,897

Net assets ༟ପଋ࠽ 1,327,514 1,398,411

Capital and reserves ༟͉ʿᎷ௪
Share capital ٰ͉ 952,884 952,884

Reserves (Note) Ꮇ௪ڝ�ൗ� 374,630 445,527

Total equity ᛆूᐼᕘ 1,327,514 1,398,411

The financial statements were approved and authorized 
for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2018 and 
signed on behalf by:

CHEUNG Sing Tai ZHANG Xinyu

ੵᑊइ ੵอρ
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

໨ԫ ໨ԫ
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44. ৌਕًڌر�ᚃ� 

ൗjڝ

Ꮇ௪ᜊਗઋرνɨj

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Continued)

Note:

The movements of the reserves are as follows:

Share premium

Share options 

reserve

Convertible 

notes reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

ٰ΅๐ᄆ ᒅٰᛆᎷ௪
̙౬ٰୃኽ

Ꮇ௪ ଢ଼ࠇᑦฦ ᐼࠇ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

At 1 January 2016 ˚ɚཧɓʬϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 1,832,493 15,040 7,131 (1,436,610) 418,054

Total comprehensive income for the year ϋʫΌࠦϗɝᐼᕘ – – – 27,473 27,473

Early redemption of convertible notes ౤ϘᛙΫ̙౬ٰୃኽ – – (713) 713 –

Release of reserve upon maturity of  

convertible notes

 ౬ٰୃኽՑಂ̙ࣛ׵

༆ৰᎷ௪ – – (6,418) 6,418 –

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017  ɚཧɓʬϋ׵

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ʿ 

ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ˚ 1,832,493 15,040 – (1,402,006) 445,527

Total comprehensive loss for the year ϋʫΌࠦᑦฦᐼᕘ – – – (34,687) (34,687)

Final dividend for 2016 ɚཧɓʬϋ͋ಂٰࢹ (36,210) – – – (36,210)

At 31 December 2017  ɚཧɓɖϋ׵

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚ 1,796,283 15,040 – (1,436,693) 374,630
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45. ᗫஹʹ׸ʿᗫஹɛɻʹ׸ 

ৰၝΥৌਕజٙڌՉ˼ή˙מהᚣ٫̮d

͉ණྠ׵࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋʿɚཧɓɖϋ

ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋͭࠈܓ˸ɨࠠɽᗫ

ஹʿᗫஹɛɻʹ׸f

(a) ˴ࠅ၍ଣᄴɛࡰʘᑚཇ 

໨ԫʿ˴ࠅБ݁ɛࡰʘᑚཇ༱׵

ൗ14ʿ15dϞᗫᑚཇ͟ᑚཇ։ڝ

ତʿ̹ఙᒈැڌɛࡈ຾Ͻᅇึࡰ

ᔾ֛fܝ

(b) ፔ༔؂ਕ
࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚

˟ϋܓd͉ණྠʊၾ͉ʮ̡ੂБ໨

ԫੵᑊइ΋͛ʘৣਅኹϞʘɓග

ʮ̡ͭࠈፔ༔؂ਕ՘ᙄdԨʊ˕˹

ፔ༔؂ਕ൬644,000ߒಥʩf

(c) ϗᒅุيeᅀגʿண௪ 

ɚཧɓʬϋ̬˜ɞ˚d͉ʮ̡׵

Ό༟ڝ᙮ʮ̡ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝

Ϟࠢʮ �̡�൯˙A��ၾНʆ๕ऎ

೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ �̡�ር˙يͭࠈ��
ุᒅໄ՘ᙄdኽϤd൯˙Νจᒅ൯

ʿር˙Νจ̈ਯɤࡈ፬ʮఊЗd

уѬໝ׵ʕ਷Нʆᐥ۬ਜ౽ᅆ

༩1໮౽ᅆอ۬3ಊୋ1403܃eୋ

eୋ܃eୋ1502܃eୋ1501܃1404

eୋ܃eୋ1601܃eୋ1504܃1503

d܃ʿୋ1604܃eୋ1603܃1602

ᐼ˾ᄆމɛ͏࿆62,020,620ʩ޴�

ഃ74,424,744ߒ׵ಥʩ�f˾ᄆ

ɛ͏࿆62,020,620ʩ޴�ഃߒ׵

74,424,744ಥʩ�ʊ˹ʚር˙ʿ༈

ϗᒅʊ׵࿚至ɚཧɓʬϋɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓҁϓf

45. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 

TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group entered into the following material 

transaction with connected and related parties during the 

years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017.

(a) COMPENSATION OF KEY 
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The remuneration of directors and key executives 

was stated in Notes 14 and 15, which is determined 

by the remuneration committee having regard to the 

performance of individual and market trends.

(b)  CONSULTANCY SERVICE 

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the 

Group had entered into a consultancy service 

agreement with a company owned by the spouse 

of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, an executive Director of 

the Company and paid consultancy service fee of 

approximately HK$644,000.

(c) ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ᄿ؇ᇲऎ୅ਗ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (the “Purchaser A”), 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 

Нʆ๕ऎ೯࢝Ϟࠢʮ̡ (the “Vendor”) entered 

into the property acquisition agreements on 8 April 

2016, pursuant to which the Purchaser had agreed 

to purchase and the Vendor had agreed to sell the 

ten office units, namely room 1403, room 1404, 

room 1501, room 1502, room 1503, room 1504, 

room 1601, room 1602, room 1603 and room 

1604 of Block 3, located at Smart City, No. 1 Zhi 

Hui Road, Chan Cheng District, Foshan, the PRC 

at the aggregate consideration of RMB62,020,620 

(equivalent to approximately HK$74,424,744). The 

consideration of RMB62,020,620 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$74,424,744) were paid to the 

Vendor and the acquisition was completed during the 

year ended 31 December 2016.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
ၝΥৌਕజڝڌൗ
For the year ended 31 December 2017 ࿚至ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚˟ϋܓ

238 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

46. ፄ༟ݺਗהପ͛ʘࠋව࿁
ሪ

ɨ͉މڌණྠፄ༟ݺਗהପ͛ʘࠋවᜊ

ਗ༉ઋdܼ̍ତږʿڢତږᜊਗfፄ༟

ਗ਼Ըאඎݴږତމවɗࠋପ͛ʘהਗݺ

ତݴږඎ͉׵ණྠၝΥତݴږඎڌʱᗳ

වfࠋඎʘݴږਗତݺԸІፄ༟މ

වࠋ್א .47

ɚཧɓɖϋɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ˚d͉ණྠ׵

Ԩೌ΂Оࠠɽࠋ್אවf

48. ҭࡘၝΥৌਕజڌ 

ၝΥৌਕజڌɗ͟໨ԫึ׵ɚཧɓɞϋ

ɧ˜ɚɤɖ˚ҭࡘʿબᛆ̊೯f

46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flow as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Bank 
borrowings 

(Note 33)

ვБ࠾ಛ
�ൗ33ڝ�

HK$’000

ɷಥʩ

At 1 January 2017 ˚ɚཧɓɖϋɓ˜ɓ׵ 55,897

Changes from financing cash flows ፄ༟ତݴږඎᜊਗ

Bank borrowings raised ᘪණʘვБ࠾ಛ 152,780

Repayment of bank borrowings ᎵᒔვБ࠾ಛ (96,390)

Interest paid ʊ˹лࢹ (3,884)

Total changes from financing cash flows ፄ༟ତݴږඎᜊਗᐼᕘ 52,506

Finance costs (Note 10) ፄ༟ϓ �ൗ10ڝ͉� 3,884

Exchange realignment ිгሜ዆ 7,513

At 31 December 2017 ˚二零一七年ɤ二˜ɧɤ一׵ 119,800

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities 
as at 31 December 2017.

48. APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 
2018.
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˸ɨ͉މණྠʊ̊೯ʘၝΥุᐶe༟ପʿࠋ

ව฿ࠅj

ุᐶ

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results 
and of the assets and liabilities of the Group:

RESULTS
12 months 

ended 
31 December 

2017

12 months 
ended 

31 December 
2016

12 months 
ended 

31 December 
2015

12 months 
ended 

31 December 
2014

18 months 
ended 

31 December 
2013

࿚Ї
二零一七年

ɤ二˜
ɧɤ一˚

˟ɤ二ࡈ˜

࿚至

ɚཧɓʬϋ

ɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚

˟ɤɚࡈ˜

࿚至

ɚཧɓʞϋ

ɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚

˟ɤɚࡈ˜

࿚至

ɚཧɓ̬ϋ

ɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚

˟ɤɚࡈ˜

࿚至

ɚཧɓɧϋ

ɤɚ˜

ɧɤɓ˚

˟ɤɞࡈ˜

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Turnover ᐄุᕘ 1,214,772 2,513,845 1,914,902 34,550 61,067
Cost of sales ቖਯϓ͉ (981,079) (2,290,382) (1,813,983) (23,628) (29,900)

Gross profit ˣл 233,693 223,463 100,919 10,922 31,167
Other income and gains Չ˼ϗɝʿϗू 28,876 19,873 537 755 20,528
Selling and marketing costs ቖਯʿ̹ఙપᄿϓ͉ (29,631) (15,540) (18,775) (2,718) (5,270)
Administrative and other expenses Б݁ʿՉ˼൬͜ (161,271) (108,874) (87,695) (118,345) (124,706)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ̈ਯڝ᙮ʮ̡ʘϗू 8,960 143,229 – – –
Impairment loss recognised in  

respect of goodwill
ఱਠᚑᆽႩʘಯ࠽ᑦฦ

– – – (254,966) (301,997)
Net loss on de-consolidation of  

a subsidiary
՟ऊၝΥɝሪɓග 
᙮ʮ̡ʘᑦฦଋᕘڝ – – – (174,024) –

Changes in fair value of contingent 
consideration payable

Ꮠ˹್א˾ᄆʘ 
ʮ̻࠽ᜊਗ (5,650) (6,029) – – 93,587

Impairment loss recognised  
in respect of intangible asset

ఱೌҖ༟ପᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ – – (6,378) (84,802) (23,769)

Impairment loss recognised in  
respect of promissory note

ఱוгୃኽᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ – (22,800) –  – –

Impairment loss recognised in  
respect of trade receivables

ఱ൱׸ᏐϗሪಛᆽႩʘ 
ಯ࠽ᑦฦ (3,260) – – – –

Change in fair value of derivative  
financial assets

 ፄ༟ପʘږ͛ࠃ
ʮ̻࠽ᜊਗ – – – (711) (5,495)

Share of loss of an associate ᏐЦɓගᑌᐄʮ̡ᑦฦ – – – – (335)
Share of results of joint venture ᏐЦɓගΥᐄΆุุᐶ (106) – – – –

Profit/(loss) from operation ຾ᐄุਕ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ� 71,611 233,322 (11,392) (623,889) (316,290)
Finance costs ፄ༟ϓ͉ (3,884) (10,356) (24,541) (23,373) (11,986)

Profit/(loss) before taxation ৰ೼ۃ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ� 67,727 222,966 (35,933) (647,262) (328,276)
Income tax (expense)/credit еת੻೼�ක˕�Ŋה (14,667) (20,779) (8,322) 14,770 2,758

Net profit/(loss) for the year/period ϋʫŊಂʫ๐лŊ�ᑦฦ� 
ଋᕘ 53,060 202,187 (44,255) (632,492) (325,518)
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240 Neo Telemedia Limited 中國新電信集團有限公司

At 31 December At 30 June
˚ɤɚ˜ɧɤɓ׵ ˚ʬ˜ɧɤ׵

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
二零一七年 ɚཧɓʬϋ ɚཧɓʞϋ ɚཧɓ̬ϋ ɚཧɓɧϋ

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ ɷಥʩ

Non-current assets ਗ༟ପݴڢ 1,190,488 926,859 345,487 99,259 628,598

Current assets ਗ༟ପݴ 1,314,976 925,941 1,384,081 48,516 114,890
Current liabilities වࠋਗݴ (792,892) (206,993) (373,971) (95,272) (58,318)

Net current assets/(liabilities) ව�ଋᕘࠋ�ਗ༟ପŊݴ 522,084 718,948 1,010,110 (46,756) 56,572
Non-current liabilities වࠋਗݴڢ (65,830) (98,300) (36,737) (155,572) (183,606)

Net assets/(liabilities) ༟ପŊࠋ�ව�ଋᕘ 1,646,742 1,547,507 1,318,860 (103,069) 501,564
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